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31 December 2016, were identified and considered material. 
Accordingly, the results for both these prior periods have been 
restated. Further detail on the restatements are disclosed under 
note 32.

Forward-looking statements
The report contains forward-looking statements that, unless 
otherwise indicated, reflect the company’s expectations as at 
30 June 2017. Actual results may differ materially from the 
company’s expectations if known and unknown risks or 
uncertainties affect its business, or if estimates or assumptions 
prove inaccurate. The company cannot guarantee that any 
forward-looking statement will materialise and, accordingly, 
readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements. The company disclaims any 
intention and assumes no obligation to update or revise any 
forward-looking statement even if new information becomes 
available as a result of future events or for any other reason, 
save as required to do so by legislation and/or regulation. The 
group’s external auditors and/or assurance providers have not 
assured these statements.

Responsibility statement and review
The audit and risk committee and the board acknowledge their 
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this report. It has been 
reviewed by the audit and risk committee, the board, company 
secretary, sponsor and investor relations consultants. The 
financial statements included in this integrated annual report 
have been audited by the external auditors. The board has 
authorised the report for release on 15 December 2017.

A hard copy of this integrated annual report is available on 
request and is also posted online at www.rolfesza.com. For 
additional contact details please see the inside back cover.

Signed as duly authorised by the board

 

MS Teke Richard Buttle
Chairman of the board Chief executive officer

This integrated annual report presents the financial results and 
the environmental, social and governance performance of the 
group for the year 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017. Content 
encompasses all divisions and subsidiaries of the company, 
across all regions of operation in South Africa, Botswana and 
Romania. The group reports in five divisions, namely 
Agricultural, Chemicals, Colour, Food Ingredients and Water. 

This report is primarily targeted at current stakeholders and 
potential investors. Rolfes strives to communicate content that 
is useful and relevant in an open and balanced manner. The 
report therefore comprises an honest, measured account of the 
group’s approach to sustainability that takes account of all 
resources employed in its business activities and all resources 
and groups on which Rolfes has an impact. This should enable 
stakeholders to accurately evaluate the group’s ability to create 
and sustain value over the short, medium and long term. 

Reporting approach
The board realises the importance of an integrated annual 
report that is meaningful and contains accurate measurable 
data as well as its responsibility and need to have controls to 
enable it to verify and safeguard the integrity of the report and 
also having the report independently assured. The board 
ensured the integrity of the integrated annual report. 

The group strives for full compliance to related standards and is 
in the process of positioning itself to present a fully integrated 
annual report in the future. Independent assurance for the 2017 
integrated annual report was not obtained due to the current 
size of the group and the extensive processes involved with 
publishing a full integrated annual report.

In compiling the report we were guided by international and 
South African reporting guidelines and best practice, and South 
African legislation including the Companies Act, JSE Listings 
Requirements, IFRS, SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, King IV and the 
International Integrated Reporting Framework issued in 
December 2013. The sustainability information has been 
compiled with reference to the GRI G4 guidelines.

During the finalisation of the results for the year ended 
30 June 2017, certain accounting errors and understatement 
of impairments relating to the prior periods, namely the year 
ended 30 June 2016 and the six months ended 

For more information please visit our 
website.

www.rolfesza.com

SCOPE AND 
BOUNDARY

page 1 Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017

 



We will aggressively pursue our agenda of delivering 
growth through our strategy of organic growth and 
being acquisitive in this competitive industry. We 
relentlessly search for acquisition opportunities that 
will be similar game changers, such as Bragan. 

Having mentioned the ANC leadership conference 
taking place in December, transformation continues to 
be part of our lives and we are committed to delivering 
on all the facets of broad-based black economic 
empowerment.

The difficulties we faced during the previous financial 
year around financial reporting resulted in us making 
tough decisions and I am encouraged that there is new 
leadership at the helm of this great business. 

Our board changed with the departure of 
Mr Johan Ferreira, our financial director, 
Mr Erhard van der Merwe, non-executive director 
and recently, Ms Lizette Lynch, the chief executive 
officer. Mr Christopher Seabrooke joined our board 
as non-executive director, Mr Richard Buttle as chief 
executive officer and Andre Broodryk as chief 
financial officer.

The best lesson for our business after a difficult 2017 is 
to focus on delivering consistent growth, as I strongly 
believe Rolfes has the capability and capacity to achieve 
this. The board and the executive team are committed 
to doing so and ensuring we deliver success.

While we focused on building a resilient business, 2018 
is the year to rebuild our reputation and integrity and 
the new leadership team under Richard Buttle is ready.

I wish to thank all our shareholders and 
stakeholders for their unwavering support 

even during the most difficult of times. 

We have a great business with a bright 
future.

Mike Teke
Chairman

15 December 2017

Beyond Resilience. Our business experienced operational 
challenges which I believe are now behind us. We navigated 
through several difficulties related to our financial and 
accounting reporting and change of leadership and I am 
pleased to report this is resolved. While it was 
disappointing, we are now focusing into the future.

In 2016 we experienced several headwinds related 
to fickle global markets, unpredictable political 
developments and the challenge of leadership. This 
current year will be no different as we as a country are 
preoccupied with the December conference of the 
ruling African National Congress (“ANC”). There are 
many debates surrounding the outcome of this 
conference and I would prefer that our business focuses 
on what we do best, which is leading and managing our 
businesses in the interests of growth and development 
in our country. Our beloved country needs us as the 
business community and our positive contribution is 
important.

Rolfes is operating in areas of the economy that provide 
for critical needs including food security, innovative 
water solutions and specialised industrial products. 
I believe we have a great business and this is 
manifested by our ability to survive in a difficult trading 
environment and competitive chemicals sector. We are 
still committed to being a consistent dividend paying 
business and we also plan to embark on a share 
buyback programme, which is a great 
step forward in building 
confidence and believing in 
our story.

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER 
TO SHAREHOLDERS

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017 page 2

 



ROLFES IN
A SNAPSHOT

Financial highlights

Operational highlights

Sustainability highlights 
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RATIOS – FIVE-YEAR 
HISTORY
% 

‘13 ‘14 ‘15 Continuing 
‘16

Continuing 
‘17

11,0

20,8
22,4

6,5 7,1

22,2

10,0

21,6 20,8

9,6

GP%

OP%

16 865
TONNES  
OF PRODUCT SOLD 
(ROLFES CHEMICALS)

18 
NEW PRODUCT 
REGISTRATIONS 
(ROLFES AGRI)

ROLFES WATER EMPLOYS TWO OF THE 

TOP WATER EXPERTS  
IN MIDDLE EAST AFRICA 
REGION

10 004 248 
LITRES/KILOS  
OF FINISHED PRODUCTS SOLD (ROLFES AGRI)

VOLUMES OF 

41 844MT 
(FY16: 36 400MT) AT FOOD

1 094 
ACTIVE CUSTOMERS 

(FY16: 865) IN FOOD

ROLFES WATER SIGNED 

TECHNOLOGY AGREEMENT 
WITH SOLENIS

PRODUCED 

15 986 927
LITRES 
OF CHEMICALS

AND DISTRIBUTED 

12 728
TONNES 
(ROLFES CHEMICALS)

78 days 
INJURY FREE 
AT FOOD

AT YEAR-END ROLFES 
CHEMICALS WAS 

16 months 
INJURY FREE

ROLFES AGRI 

Level 5 BEE 
ON AGRICULTURAL CODES

FOOD PASSED 

All customer food 
and safety audits 
INCLUDING TIGER BRANDS 
ACHIEVEMENT OF 100%
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We are a black empowered platform speciality chemical 
group focusing on the distribution and manufacturing of 
lower‑volume higher‑margin speciality products.

WHO 
WE ARE

Agriculture Food Industrial (Chemicals and Colour) Water
Develops, manufactures and distributes products that promote 
plant, root and foliar health, soil nutrition, disease prevention and 
control and various other agricultural remedies including a natural 
defence against prolonged drought conditions.

Distributes imported and locally manufactured speciality food 
ingredient products. 

Imports, manufactures and distributes industrial chemicals including 
various organic and inorganic products.

Provides specialised water treatment solutions and products and 
manufactures pure beneficiated silica.

Products
•  Fruit, nuts and vegetables (foliar feeds, soil health, adjuvant and 

nutritional products) – 71% product range
•  Maize and wheat (herbicides and pesticides)

Products
•  Products applied in food, beverage, bakery, dairy,  

pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries

Products
•  Additives, in-plant and point-of-sale dispersions, leather 

chemicals and solutions, solvents, lacquer thinners, pigments, 
surfactants, cleaning solvents, water treatment products, 
creosotes and waxes

Products
•  Products for industrial, mining, home and personal care markets
•  Pure beneficiated silica for the mining, metallurgical, fertiliser, 

water filtration and construction industries

MD
•  Gerrit Badenhorst

MD
•  Nathan Bevis

MD
•  Clive Govender

MD
•  Wouter Badenhorst

MD
•  Andre Opperman

Revenue  
contribution (2017)

19%

Revenue  
contribution (2017)

47%

Revenue 
contribution (2017)

22%

Revenue 
contribution (2017)

6%

Revenue  
contribution (2017)

3%

                      
           100%                 100%                 100%                                      100%

                                   
100%                                                     100%

Silica, now discontinued, accounted for 3% of revenue 
contribution in the prior year.Investment case        

• High barriers to 
entry specialist 
chemical business

•  Strong local and 
foreign currency 
earning business

•  Strong customer 
base with leading 
positions in niche 
markets

•  Competitive 
products, solutions 
and distribution 
network key across 
market

•  Diversified revenue 
streams across 
domestic and 
export markets

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017 page 4

 



Targeting the global need for security, clean water and manufacturing 
demand, we manufacture and distribute a wide range of market‑leading 
high‑quality chemical and organic products to various industries through our 
Agricultural, Food, Industrial and Water divisional platforms. 

Our international footprint and customer base extends to Asia, the rest of Africa, eastern and 
western Europe, with operations in Botswana, Zambia and Romania.

Agriculture Food Industrial (Chemicals and Colour) Water
Develops, manufactures and distributes products that promote 
plant, root and foliar health, soil nutrition, disease prevention and 
control and various other agricultural remedies including a natural 
defence against prolonged drought conditions.

Distributes imported and locally manufactured speciality food 
ingredient products. 

Imports, manufactures and distributes industrial chemicals including 
various organic and inorganic products.

Provides specialised water treatment solutions and products and 
manufactures pure beneficiated silica.

Products
•  Fruit, nuts and vegetables (foliar feeds, soil health, adjuvant and 

nutritional products) – 71% product range
•  Maize and wheat (herbicides and pesticides)

Products
•  Products applied in food, beverage, bakery, dairy,  

pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries

Products
•  Additives, in-plant and point-of-sale dispersions, leather 

chemicals and solutions, solvents, lacquer thinners, pigments, 
surfactants, cleaning solvents, water treatment products, 
creosotes and waxes

Products
•  Products for industrial, mining, home and personal care markets
•  Pure beneficiated silica for the mining, metallurgical, fertiliser, 

water filtration and construction industries

MD
•  Gerrit Badenhorst

MD
•  Nathan Bevis

MD
•  Clive Govender

MD
•  Wouter Badenhorst

MD
•  Andre Opperman

Revenue  
contribution (2017)

19%

Revenue  
contribution (2017)

47%

Revenue 
contribution (2017)

22%

Revenue 
contribution (2017)

6%

Revenue  
contribution (2017)

3%

                      
           100%                 100%                 100%                                      100%

                                   
100%                                                     100%

Silica, now discontinued, accounted for 3% of revenue 
contribution in the prior year.

• Diversification 
across four 
operating divisions 
and markets

•  Well-defined 
growth strategy

•  BBBEE ownership 
in excess of 
51% black 
shareholding

•  Manageable debt 
profile and gearing

•  Experienced 
management team 
with track record of 
success
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WHERE WE 
OPERATE

The group’s international footprint 
and customer base extends to 
Asia, the rest of Africa, and 
eastern and western Europe, with 
operations currently in Botswana, 
Zambia and Romania.

AFRICA

Group export countries

5
1

1

10

124

38

12

26

■  Rest of Africa
■  Botswana
■  France
■  Israel 
■  Malawi

■  Mozambique
■  Swaziland
■  USA
■  Zambia
■  Zimbabwe

Group export countries

5
1

1

10

124

38

12

26

■  Rest of Africa
■  Botswana
■  France
■  Israel 
■  Malawi

■  Mozambique
■  Swaziland
■  USA
■  Zambia
■  Zimbabwe

  Export destinations
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• Improved shareholder 
value – company 
growth and dividends

• Government taxes
• Employment
• Skills development
• Community 

upliftment

• Food security – 
support to farming 
sector and food 
manufacturers

• Clean water

• Support for various 
industries – 
manufacturers of 
consumer goods and 
other industrial 
products, farming, 
mining and 
petrochemicals

• Manufacturing 
and distribution of 
agricultural products 
that promote general 
health for plant, roots, 
foliage and soil

• Source and distribute 
food ingredients to 
food manufacturers

• Colour pigments 
mainly for coatings, 
inks and masterbatch

• Industrial commodity 
chemicals (mainly 
coatings)

• Specialised solutions 
for water treatment 
used in boilers and 
cooling systems across 
industries, as well as 
treatment of raw and 
polluted water

• Funding from 
shareholders 
and bankers

• Employees’ skills 
and know-how

• Water
• Intellectual property
• Research and 

development

• Relationships with 
customers, suppliers, 
community

• Energy – electricity 
and fuel

• Raw materials

What 
we use

What 
we produce

Our impact 
and how 

we create 
value

OUR
BUSINESS MODEL
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OUR 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

A strategic review is currently underway following a change in 
management during the year. Notwithstanding this our core strategic 
objectives outlined below still remain in place. We will continue to focus 
on stabilising the existing businesses as well as seek additional 
opportunities where appropriate such as cross‑selling across the group 
and introducing additional product lines.

Drive 
profitability 
and HEPS

Optimise 
cash 

generation

Acquisitions –  
target high barrier 

to entry 
specialist chemical 

businesses

Build reputation 
as platform niche 
chemical company

Focus on 
export growth

Balance and 
strengthen current 

business

Extend 
commodity 
positions

Expand core 
specialist chemical 

product ranges

Maximising full 
potential of 
operational 

restructuring

Strategic 
objective

Our acquisition strategy

• High barrier to 
entry specialist 
chemical 
businesses

• Strong local and 
foreign currency 
earning 
businesses or 
potential to earn 
foreign currency • EBIT of 

R50 million plus

• Complementary 
to an existing 
division to 
accelerate 
organic growth

• Focus within 
existing four 
divisions with a 
possible fifth 
pillar in future

2
1 3

4
5
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MILESTONES

November 2011
• Acquisition of AgChem Holdings

• Acquisition of Amazon Colours

• Listing on the main board of 
the JSE

May 2007
 •  Black ownership 

reaches 25,1%

 • Listing on AltX

December 2007
 • Acquisition of Leather-Chem

April 2013
• Acquisition of Tetralon 

Chemical Consultancy and 
PWM Group of Companies

June 2013
• Acquisition of Rolfes 

PWM Anticor

December 2001
  •  Acquisition of New  

Heights 390

  June 2012

•  Annual revenue  
surpasses R600 million

 April 2016
 •  Cessation of production of 

lead chrome pigments  
and closure of plant

1970
• Production of organic 

pigment commences

 1938
  •  Rolfes family starts 

manufacturing lead 
chrome pigments

January 2014
 •  Acquisition of 

AgChem Property

 June 2014
 •  Annual revenue  

surpasses R1 billion

June 2005
• Annual revenue of 

R100 million

July 2005
• Acquisition of ChemPoint 

Chemicals

August 2005
• Acquisition of Eggo Sand 

(later renamed Rolfes Silica)

July 2015
• The group disposes 

of interest in Acacia Speciality 
Chemicals and Introlab 
Chemicals and takes up the 
remaining shares in AgChem 
Holdings

September 2015
• Black ownership surpasses 50%

• Acquisition of Bragan Chemicals
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LONG-TERM 
REVIEW
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2017
R’000

2017
%

2016
R’000

2016
%

Revenue  1 485 036  1 365 429 
Cost of material and services  (1 251 869)  (1 078 387)

Value added by operations  233 167 97,91  287 042 99,55
Interest income  4 987 2,09  1 293 0,45

Total value added  238 154 100,00  288 335 100,00

Distributed as follows:
Employees:
Salaries, wages and benefits  155 893 65,46  151 374 52,50
Providers of capital
Financing cost  34 317 14,41  34 454 11,95
Government 
Taxation – current  30 240 12,70  26 022 9,03

Total value distributed:  220 450 92,57  211 850 73,48
Dividend declared  12 904 5,42  9 678 3,35

Portion of value reinvested to sustain and expand the 
business  4 800 2,02  66 807 23,17
Retained earnings  (1 437)  55 620 
Non‑controlling shareholders  (1 176)  (2 566)
Deferred tax  (6 043)  1 567
Depreciation and amortisation  13 456  12 186 

Total value distributed and reinvested  238 154 100,00  288 335 100,00

It should be noted that the statement and percentages are distorted by the discontinued operations of Silica and 
impairments.

VALUE ADDED 
STATEMENT

Value added 2017 (%)

65,46

2,02
5,42

14,41

12,70

■  Employees
■  Providers of capital
■  Government
■  Dividend declared
■  Retained for reinvestment

Value added 2016 (%)

52,50

23,17

3,35

11,95

■  Employees
■  Providers of capital
■  Government
■  Dividend declared
■  Retained for reinvestment

9,03
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The board consists of nine directors, of which two are 
executives. There are four independent directors and three 
non‑executive directors. 

DIRECTORATE

Seapei Mafoyane

Function:
Lead independent director; 
independent non-executive 
director

Qualifications:
MBA (Wits Business School), 
BSc (University of Natal)

Appointed 26 August 
2012

Seapei is the CEO at 
Shanduka Black 
Umbrellas. She brings 
together CEO and COO 
expertise and the world 
of sustainable SME 
incubation. Seapei 
joined Discovery Health 
Limited and worked in 
the Vitality team 
eventually becoming 
the functional head of 
Vitality. She then joined 
Standard Bank of South 
Africa as head of 
customer and strategy.

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Strategic leadership, 
corporate social 
investment, mentoring, 
innovation and skills 
development.

Andile Dyasi

Function:
Independent non-executive 
director 

Qualifications:
PhD MS (Chemistry), BSc 
(Hons), BSc (Chemistry and 
Biochemistry)

Appointed 30 June 2014

Andile is a registered 
scientist (chemist). He 
served as the vice-
president of the South 
African Council for 
Natural Scientific 
Professions and chairs 
the Personnel and 
Finance Committee of 
the Council. Andile has 
substantial experience 
in the chemical and 
pharmaceutical 
industries having served 
as a research and 
development chemist 
and over 20 years’ 
senior/executive 
management 
experience gained from 
both the private and 
higher education 
sectors.

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Strategic leadership, 
chemical and 
pharmaceutical, board 
and committee 
experience.

Richard Buttle

Function:
Chief executive officer

Qualification: 
CA(SA)

Appointed as CEO 
16 October 2017

Appointed as acting CFO 
12 May 2017

Richard was previously 
the chief financial officer 
of Metrofile Holdings 
Limited. Prior to that he 
held several financial 
management and 
director positions within 
the group and played 
an active role in the 
turnaround, 
development, financial 
restructuring and capacity 
building. Richard has 
since performed several 
consulting assignments 
and is a partner in 
KwikotSolar.

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Strategic leadership, 
finance, acquisitions, risk 
and corporate marketing.

Andre Broodryk

Function:
Chief financial officer

Qualification: 
CA(SA)

Appointed 6 November 
2017

Andre was previously 
CFO of Interwaste 
Holdings Limited and has 
extensive experience in 
both the industrial and 
financial services sectors 
and has a deep 
understanding of the 
listed environment. He is 
already very familiar with 
the Rolfes group having 
held the position of 
Financial Director of the 
Bragan Foods division 
since July 2017.

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Financial and operational 
leadership, risk and 
corporate finance.

Mike Teke

Function:
Non-executive chairman 

Qualifications: 
BA (Ed) (University of 
Limpopo), BEd (University of 
Limpopo), BA (Hons) RAU, 
MBA (Unisa)

Appointed 8 April 2013

Appointed board chairman 
1 July 2016

Mike has contributed to 
various associations and 
educational bodies. He 
currently serves as 
executive chairman and 
controlling shareholder 
of Masimong Group, 
non-executive chairman 
of Anchor Group and 
Tellumat and deputy 
chairman at the University 
of Johannesburg. He is 
also the non-executive 
director of RBCT. Mike 
is one of the founding 
members and former 
CEO of Optimum Coal 
Holdings. He is the 
founding partner and 
CEO of the Seriti Coal 
consortium. Mike 
previously served in various 
HR roles and served as 
vice-president and later as 
president of the Chamber 
of Mines of South Africa in 
2011 and in 2013.

Skills brought to Rolfes:
Strategic leadership, 
people management, 
board and committee 
experience.
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Mathukana Mokoka

Function:
Independent non-executive 
director

Qualifications:
BCom (Hons) (Accounting) 
(University of Natal), 
Postgraduate Diploma in 
Management (University of 
Cape Town, CA(SA)

Appointed 9 November 
2015

Mathukana has sound 
public and private sector 
experience on boards, 
currently serving as a 
member on the boards 
of CSG Holdings 
Limited, Palabora 
Mining Company and 
Autopax Passenger 
Services (“SOC”) among 
others. She is a member 
of various professional 
bodies, including South 
African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants 
and Institute of 
Directors.

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Financial management, 
strategic leadership, 
corporate finance, skills 
development, board 
and committee 
experience.

Dinga Mncube

Function:
Independent non-executive 
director 

Qualifications: 
MCom (Business 
Management), MSc (Forest 
Products)

Appointed 30 June 2014

Dinga has 20 years’ 
executive experience 
in forestry, timber 
processing, paper and 
pulp business. He 
currently serves on the 
boards of Distribution 
and Warehousing 
Network Limited 
(“Dawn”), York Timber 
Holdings, Siyaqhubeka 
Forests (chairman) and 
Food and Trees for Africa. 
Dinga has previously 
chaired the National 
Forests Advisory Council, 
Forestry South Africa and 
has been a board 
member of Sappi 
Southern Africa. 

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Strategic leadership, 
technical, board and 
committee experience.

Jarred Winer

Function:
Non-executive director

Qualifications: 
BCom (Hons) Investment 
Management, Postgraduate 
Certificate in Advanced 
Corporate/Securities Law 
and MDP

Appointed 30 November 
2015

Jarred is an executive 
director and co-founder 
of Westbrooke 
Alternative Asset 
Management 
(“Westbrooke”). Prior to 
founding Westbrooke, 
Jarred worked in various 
investment banking roles 
at Barclays, Absa Capital 
and Standard Bank 
including corporate 
finance, financial sponsor 
coverage and leveraged 
finance from 2005 to 
2011. He also served as a 
non-executive director on 
Amalgamated Electronics 
Corporation Limited. 

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Strategic leadership, 
capital allocation and 
corporate finance.

Chris Seabrooke

Function:
Non-executive director

Qualifications: 
BCom, BAcc, MBA, FCMA

Appointed 1 April 2017

Chris has been a director 
of over 25 stock 
exchange-listed 
companies. He is 
currently CEO of Sabvest 
Limited. He serves as the 
chairman of Metrofile 
Holdings Limited, 
Transaction Capital 
Limited, Net1 UEPS 
Technologies Inc 
(Nasdaq/JSE) and Torre 
Industries Limited and as 
a director of Datatec 
Limited and Brait S.E. 
(Luxembourg/JSE). He is 
a director of several 
unlisted companies and 
former chairman of the 
South African State 
Theatre and former 
deputy chairman of the 
inaugural National Arts 
Council of South Africa. 

Skills brought to Rolfes: 
Strategic leadership, 
finance, board and 
committee experience.
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Our diversified product range, industry spread and 
geographical positioning continued to provide a risk 
mitigation to negative market factors.

Introduction
It has been a challenging year both in terms of the 
trading environment and company issues specific to 
Rolfes. Since May 2017 I held the role of acting CFO 
during a difficult period for the group, which included 
addressing a number of restatements (see below). 
Notwithstanding these challenges the underlying 
business units, for the most part, performed solidly with 
all key indicators reflecting growth. Our diversified 
product range, industry spread and geographical 
positioning continued to provide a risk mitigation to 
negative market factors. Compared to restated results, 
we posted 9,7% growth in company revenue with 
normalised operating profit from continuing operations 
up 5,2%. Notably we increased the full year dividend by 
33,3% to 8 cents per share. 

Traditionally we have seen a slightly stronger H1 than 
H2 with the difference in FY17 wider than in previous 
years partly due to working capital pressures in the 
second half of the year, drought conditions and the 
impact of impairments. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REPORT

+5,2%
OPERATING PROFIT 
NORMALISED FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

COMPARED TO RESTATED 
RESULTS

+9,7%
GROUP REVENUE FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

COMPARED TO  
RESTATED RESULTS

+33%
FULL YEAR DIVIDEND

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017 page 14

 



Financial results
As a result of the restatement detailed above, all 
references to June 2016 are to the restated results. 
Group revenue increased 8,8% to R1,485 billion (June 
2016: R1,365 billion) with continuing operations revenue 
up 9,7% to R1,437 billion (June 2016: R1,310 billion). 
Revenue was negatively impacted by the poor 
economic environment and drought conditions but 
contributed positively to growth except in the Water 
division due to further delays in tender awards. 
The effect of the Food division since acquisition on 
1 October 2015 continues to be accretive to the 
overall performance of the group. 

Revenue for the discontinued Silica operation declined 
13,5% to R47,6 million (June 2016: R55,0 million) due to 
the depressed mining, fertiliser and water filtration 
industry. 

Gross profit increased by 5,6% to R299,3 million for 
continuing operations (June 2016: R283,4 million) and 
resulted in a margin of 20,8% slightly down on the 2016 
year of 21,6%. The reduction in margin percentage is 
mainly due to the increased weighting of the Food 
division which trades at lower margins compared with 
other divisions. 

Operating profit from continuing operations before 
once-off impairments and non-recurring costs, 
increased by 5,2% to R138,0 million (June 2016: 
R131,2 million) at a margin of 9,9% of revenue 
(June 2016: 10,0%). Once-off impairments and write-
downs impacting continuing operations on an 
operating profit level amounted to R33,8 million. These 
include a R20,0 million once-off write-down and 
impairment for the discontinued low-margin lead 
chrome product lines and R1,8 million for the 

rehabilitation cost of 
the previously 
discontinued 
Alberton Resin 
plant site. Further 
to the above, the 
once-off 
impairment of the 
balance of a loan 
receivable from a 
third party relating 

Restatements
During the finalisation of the full year results, we 
identified certain accounting errors and an 
understatement of impairments relating to the prior 
periods, namely the year ended 30 June 2016 and the 
six months ended 31 December 2016. As these were 
considered to be material, the results for both these 
prior periods have been restated. A summary of some 
of the restatements is set out below:

Botswana water business (70,4% owned)
The financial statements of Rolfes PWM Anticor 
Proprietary Limited for the years ended 30 June 2015 
and 30 June 2016 were finalised after the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 
were issued. The final amounts were different from the 
amounts included in the consolidated financial 
statements for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 
30 June 2016. The differences are detailed below.

The differences mainly result from the following:
• Goodwill impairment due to the loss of business;
• Overstatement of property, plant and equipment;
• Overstatement of inventories;
• Overstatement of trade and other receivables; and
• Adjustment to interest-bearing loans.

Property
The group did not apply the accounting policy of 
revaluing property correctly and consistently in the past. 
The group subsequently decided to measure property 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Management estimates the property value to be 
R75 million higher than cost.

As part of this adjustment properties were also 
reclassified to property, plant and equipment. 

Rehabilitation provisions
The group provided for the cost of rehabilitation on 
a scheduled closure basis as opposed to on an 
unscheduled closure basis. This resulted in an increase 
of the rehabilitation provision. This error has been 
adjusted retrospectively against property, plant and 
equipment and provisions. The related depreciation 
and finance cost was adjusted accordingly. The 
provision as at 30 June 2017 was based on 
management’s best estimate of the expected 
undiscounted cash outflows. 

Other errors impacting earnings
Certain other errors were identified and corrected as 
noted below:
• Trade and other payables understated due a foreign 

exchange error;
• Inventory was overstated due to discontinued lead 

chrome pigment product ranges; 
• Trade and other receivables was overstated by 

due to an imbalance on inter-company loans; 
• Interest-bearing loans were understated; and
• There were various reclassifications on assets 

and liabilities.

Further detail is disclosed in note 32 to the 
annual financial statements on page 102. 

We have strengthened our expertise, systems 
and internal control process to mitigate against 
a recurrence of such errors. A new group 
financial manager was appointed during the 
year and experienced financial managers, all 
with appropriate qualifications and experience, 
have been appointed in the Agriculture, Water 
and Food divisions. 
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to the disposal of Galltec Western Cape of R4,4 million 
previously recoverable over a four-year period from 1 
July 2015 was assessed as being non-recoverable in 
FY17. Other non-recurring group costs of R7,6 million 
negatively affected operating profit. Impairments 
relating to the discontinued Silica operations also 
negatively impacted overall group operating profit 
performance. 

Net finance costs reduced by 11,6% in total and by 
21,0% for continuing operations. The reduction in 
amount is insignificant due to the fact that the 2017 year 
had the Bragan finance costs for 12 months compared 
to nine months in 2016; this has been partially offset by 
the amortising profile of the loan. 

For continuing operations, earnings increased 23,1% to 
R65,0 million (June 2016: R52,8 million), while headline 
earnings were up 7,8% to R 66,2 million (June 2016: 

Discontinued operations
The Silica mining business became unviable due to the 
remaining life of mine and the current economic climate 
resulting in trading losses being incurred. The potential 
of restructuring the business was considered but the 
operating costs compared to the revenue (being a mix 
of volumes and price) remained uneconomical. The 
Silica mining business incurred a loss after tax of 
R6,0 million for the year (2016 restated: profit after tax 
R2,9 million) before the below mentioned items. In 
addition impairments/provisions were made on the 
property, plant and equipment of R16,7 million, 
inventories of R20,0 million and provision for closure 
and rehabilitation costs of R10,8 million which impacted 
the 2017 results.

R60,2 million). Earnings per share for continuing 
operations increased 13,0% to 40,3 cents per share 
(June 2016: 35,7 cents per share) and headline earnings 
per share for continuing operations were up 0,8% to 
41,0 cents per share (June 2016: 40,7 cents per share). 
Earnings and headline earnings were materially 
impacted by the Rolfes Silica discontinued operation.

Normalised headline earnings per share from continuing 
operations provide a meaningful measure for evaluating 
the group’s operational performance and are defined as 
headline earnings from continuing operations excluding 
non-recurring items, once-off transaction costs and 
once-off impairments and adjustments. Normalised 
headline earnings amounted to R81,4 million (June 
2016: R69,1 million) during the year whole normalised 
headline earnings per share increased 8,1% to 
50,5 cents (June 2016: 46,7 cents). 

After the release of the reviewed provisional 
condensed consolidated financial results the net 
realisable value adjustment against inventory was 
increased from R9,0 million to R20,0 million after the 
planned stock off-take agreement, over a 24-month 
period, with a third party was withdrawn. The off-take 
agreement was withdrawn due to a difference in the 
quality of inventory on hand. The revised carrying value 
is based on two offers received to purchase the mine in 
its entirety which if concluded will lead to a fast track 
of the proceeds, removal of cash outflows relating to 
compliance at the mine and opportunity for 
management to focus on the continuing operations 
of the group. Refer to notes 31 and 33 for further 
disclosure.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REPORT continued

Normalised headline earnings per share

Group
Reviewed

as at
30 June

2017
R’000

Continuing
operations
Reviewed

as at
30 June

2017
R’000

Dis-
continuing
operations
Reviewed

as at
30 June

2017
R’000

Group
Restated

as at
30 June

2016
R’000

Continuing
operations

Restated
as at

30 June
2016

R’000

Dis-
continuing
operations

Restated
as at

30 June
2016

R’000

Headline earnings 33 171 66 157 (32 986) 63 070 60 212 2 858

Adjusted for the after-tax 
effect non-recurring 
other costs:
Rehabilitation costs resin 
plant site 1 290 1 290 – –
Impairment of a third-party loan 3 153 3 153 – –
Lead chrome pigment write-off 6 750 6 750 2 763 2 763
Non-recurring Group costs 4 050 4 050 – –
Foreign currency impairment – – 2 042 2 042
Transaction costs – – 4 088 4 088

Normalised headline 
earnings 48 414 81 400 (32 986) 71 963 69 105 2 858

Normalised headline 
earnings per share 30,01 50,46 (20,45) 48,63 46,70 1,93
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Food 
The Food division is an importer and distributor of 
speciality food ingredients used in food, beverage, 
baking, dairy and pharmaceutical products. The key 
growth drivers in this division include volume growth, 
rising food prices, increased staple demand and 
geographic expansion. A focus was placed on 
leveraging existing group infrastructure to expand 
export into southern African countries. This was 
somewhat hampered by reduced trading in Zimbabwe 
due to the poor economy. Commodity pricing and 
exchange rate volatility had a mixed effect on 
performance. Recent registrations in animal feed 
products obtained will allow for expansion of the 
product range into other speciality food ingredients. 
The division’s pricing and sourcing strategies remain 
its distinct competitive advantage. 

Reported revenue increased 50,0% to R700,0 million 
(June 2016: R467,7 million – included for nine months). 
Gross profit margins rose 17,9% (June 2016: 16,1%) 
largely driven by product mix and pricing strategies. Net 
operating profit for the year amounted to R80,2 million 
(June 2016: R56,4 million) and the operating profit 
margin decreased to 11,5% from 12,5% in June 2016. 

Operating cost increases during the year are mainly 
due to geographical expansion and costs included for 
12 months in the current year compared to the nine 
months to June 2016. Operating costs include a 
provision for doubtful debt of R4,1 million in respect a 
Zimbabwean debtor.

Capital expenditure during the year amounted to 
R1,5 million (June 2016: R4 million) and was incurred 
to extend logistics capabilities.

Looking ahead we were recently granted veterinary and 
animal feed product registrations which offer further 
product range expansion, while additional speciality 
food product lines are currently being tested by 
customers. We will continue our efforts to grow market 
share while exploring cross-selling opportunities and 
expanding into the rest of Africa. In South Africa, 
KwaZulu-Natal and the Western and Eastern Cape show 
signs of promising growth opportunities. 

Chemicals
The Chemicals division is a distributor of solvents, water 
and other chemicals to manufacturing and industrials 
and also manufactured leather chemicals for the leather 
tanning industry. Product volume demand decreased 
due to the reduction of local manufacturing demand 
and trading was hampered by the poor product supply 
and the ailing Zimbabwean economy being a major 
export market for the division. Global product shortages 
in key solvents further impacted trading. In addition, 
exchange rate and commodity pricing pressure 
continued with competition from new players in the 
local market driving prices down. 

Revenue decreased by 8,5% to R322,7 million (June 
2016: R352,0 million), while gross profit margins reduced 
to 18,3% (June 2016: 20,1%). Operating costs remained 
well controlled and include a once-off rehabilitation cost 
for the discontinued Alberton Resin plant site of 
R1,8 million. Net operating profit amounted to 
R30,5 million (June 2016: R35,0 million) with operating 
profit margins down to 9,5% (June 2016: 9,9%). 

Capital expenditure of R3,8 million (June 2016: 
R3,0 million) included the continued improvement of 
quality management systems, investment into testing/
laboratory facilities and transport fleet upgrades. 

The net effect of the discontinued operation for the 
2017 financial year is a loss after tax of R53,5 million 
equating to a loss of 33,2 cents per share for earnings 
per share and 20,5 cents per share for headline loss 
per share.

Cash flow
Cash generated from operations amounted to 
R124,3 million (June 2016: R147,4 million). Net 
working capital decreased by R8,3 million and is 
represented by a decrease in inventory of R41,9 million, 
a decrease in trade and other receivables of R25,8 
million and a decrease of accounts and other payables 
of R76,0 million. The management of working capital 
remains a key focus area with opportunity for 
improvement. Net finance costs paid increased 
slightly to R28,4 million while tax paid amounted to 
R32,5 million. Dividends paid amounting to R16,2 million 
represents the 6 cents per share paid as a final dividend 
for 2016 and the 4 cents per share paid as an interim 
dividend for 2017. Cash utilised in investing activities 
comprised investment in product development 
amounting to R14,9 million and additions to property, 
plant and equipment amounted to R9,8 million. The net 
movement in loans was marginal and reflects an inflow 
of R1,0 million.

Operational review 
Agricultural 
The division’s strength remains its product positioning 
providing a natural defence against drought conditions 
as long as irrigation areas remain functional. This is 
further boosted by its geographic spread. Foliar feeds, 
soil health, adjuvant and nutritional products for fruit, 
nuts and vegetable production account for 71% with 
the balance of 29% being herbicide and pesticides 
for maize and wheat production. 

The division’s performance is highly dependent on 
favourable rainfall patterns and the prolonged drought 
during the year and in particular in the Western Cape 
and certain African export markets negatively impacted 
results. Product demand was down due to the negative 
impact of the drought on irrigation area water levels and 
quality as well as farmers’ credit. Revenue was up 4,3% 
to R280,2 million (June 2016: R268,5 million). Gross profit 
margins decreased to 28,2% (June 2016: 30,2%) due to 
drought product mix sold during the last six months of 
the financial year. 

Operating profit was impacted by the once-off 
impairment of a third-party loan relating to the disposal 
of a subsidiary, effective 1 July 2015, of R4,4 million. The 
loan was recoverable over a four-year period but due to 
unexpected changes, the recoverability thereof became 
doubtful. Operating costs increased due to an 
investment in technical resources and capabilities to 
improve field support. Net operating profit excluding 
the once-off loan impairment decreased to R30,7 million 
(June 2016: R37,3 million). The operating profit margin 
excluding the once-off impairment amounted to 10,9% 
(June 2016: 13,9%). 
 
Capital expenditure of R6,8 million (June 2016: 
R7,0 million) comprises mainly product development 
costs incurred during the current reporting period. 

We continue to undertake new product development 
and obtain product registrations both locally and 
internationally. The development of distribution 
channels for foliar feeds in the rest of Africa and Europe 
is ongoing. Formal trials and testing of the green PGPR 
(bacterial) products continue to progress well.
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Looking ahead the division will continue to focus on 
adding new product lines and driving local and export 
volumes into southern Africa, including building scale 
in Zambia. Target areas are construction chemicals, 
speciality, adhesives and catalysts. The growth potential 
for leather chemicals into Africa and Brazil is also 
promising. 

Colour
The continuing operations of the Colour division 
provide dispersions for inks and coatings and traded 
pigment and pigment-related products.

The performance was adversely influenced by material 
restatements and accounting errors relating to the 
liquidation of the final remaining manufactured lead 
chrome pigment stock following the closure of the lead 
chrome pigment plant in March 2016 which traded until 
December 2016. Revenue decreased 42,8 % to 
R85,6 million (June 2016: R149,8 million) and gross 
profit margins fell to 9,7% (June 2016: 10,9%), with the 
discontinued product lines and obsolete stock 
provisions contributing to the margin decline. Operating 
loss of R7,3 million (June 2016: R8,2 million) included 
write-offs of R6,7 million (June 2016: R2,8 million) on the 
discontinued product lines and related foreign 
exchange losses written off. 

Looking ahead with new management on board, we 
look forward to turnaround the Colour division. 

Water 
South Africa
The Water division was negatively impacted by the 
drought and the depressed mining industry and mine 
closures. During the year, the business was rebranded 
to Rolfes Water and a new managing director and 
management team are in place, positioning the 
business to capitalise on the mining, industrial, 
automotive and petrochemical industries to ensure 
sustainable growth. 

Revenue decreased by 19,5% to R42,1 million (June 
2016: R52,3 million) and gross profit margins increased 
to 64,1% (June 2016: 59,5%), mostly attributable to a 
shift in the business focus to larger industrial, mining 
and petrochemical contracts. Operating profit increased 
slightly to R4,2 million (June 2016: R4,1 million) while 
operating margins improved to 10,0% (June 2016: 7,8%).

Capital expenditure amounted to R2,8 million (June 
2016: R4,0 million) mostly comprising the upgrade of the 
Jet Park site to accommodate the Water business’s 
move to group-owned premises. 

Botswana
Revenue decreased to R6,8 million (June 2016: 
R20,1 million) and gross profit margins declined to 
17,9% (June 2016: 39,3%), mostly attributable to the 
completion of the infrastructural development contract 
during the 2016 financial year. Sales during the 2017 
financial year mostly comprised water chemical sales. 

Operating profit totalled R1,7 million (June 2016: loss of 
R10,0 million including impairments on goodwill of 
R10,3 million). 

The business operated at an operating loss due to the 
lower-margin trading during the financial year. Material 
once-off restatements in the Botswana business, which 
are detailed in the annual financial statements, 
impacted the division negatively.

The Botswana Water business’s performance and 
prospects will remain under strategic review.

Looking ahead the Water division will continue to focus 
on large and heavy industrial sectors with growth drivers 
expected to be water scarcity, population and industrial 
growth including water recycling needs and organic 
water treatment products. Awards on tenders submitted 
are gaining momentum and a solid pipeline is in place. 

Prospects
We expect the economic environment across southern 
Africa to remain challenging which will influence 
demand for industrial chemicals. In more favourable 
weather conditions the Agriculture division is well 
positioned for growth. New product ranges added 
to the portfolio and geographic expansion plans 
completed during the last financial year will continue 
to benefit growth in the Food division. Prospects in 
the Water division have improved with a good tender 
pipeline with dependence on industrial spending on 
water-related projects and favourable weather 
conditions. 

We will seek to continue balancing and strengthening 
our current businesses locally as well as internationally. 
A focus will be on achieving the full potential of 
operational restructuring initiatives, which should offer 
further opportunities for growth. 

Since being appointed as CEO post-year-end, I have 
undertaken an engagement programme with all 
managing directors. The managing directors 
acknowledge their obligation for solidly steering their 
respective businesses during a challenging period for 
the group, through no fault of their own. Having 
engaged with them I believe the businesses all offer 
sound and exciting prospects and I look forward to 
working together with the respective teams to realise 
these opportunities. 

I am positive of the road ahead and committed to 
rebuilding the culture within the group and helping to 
take Rolfes to the next level for the benefit of all our 
stakeholders. While there are challenges, I look forward 
to confronting and overcoming these in the year ahead 
and setting a solid foundation for Rolfes’ future. 

Richard Buttle
Chief executive officer

15 December 2017

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REPORT continued
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HR strategic management is aligned to the mission, 
goals and objectives of the company by conducting 
analyses and investing in human capital programmes. 
Our greatest emphasis is on talent management and 
we educate, mentor and coach across the group. The 
company derives a lot of economic value by constantly 
improving the skills and knowledge of its human asset.

The group HR manager is responsible for employee 
relations and reports directly to the CEO. 

We are committed to fostering equal opportunity and 
any form of discrimination is not tolerated. Policies 
and procedures in this regard are in place and 
communicated to employees on a regular basis. The 
group strives to offer employees a work environment 
that is free from all forms of discrimination. Every 
subsidiary is tasked with ensuring that there is no 
discrimination in the workplace. HR management 
respects employee rights and labour regulations, 
and underlines the importance of both by taking 
appropriate disciplinary action against offenders. 

No incidents of discrimination were reported for the 
period under review.

In addition the group rejects child and forced labour 
practices. It respects national cultures, local laws and 
traditions. As a responsible employer it undertakes to 
comply with regulatory requirements and rules 
prohibiting any form of child, forced or compulsory 
labour. We will immediately terminate agreements and 
relationships with contractors or suppliers (both local 
and foreign) that contravene the constitution or the 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights. None of the 
operations practise child, forced or compulsory labour.

Employment equity
Targets and initiatives are in place to help drive the 
group’s employment equity plan. The employment 
equity policy is actively implemented particularly when 
promoting or employing new employees. Focus is also 
being placed on individuals with disabilities and skills 
development opportunities for designated candidates. 

OUR
PEOPLE

Our employment equity is set out in the table below:

Occupational levels 
as at 30 June 2017 Male Female

Foreign 
nationals 

working local

International 
(Europe, 

Botswana, 
Zambia)

A C I W A C I W Male Female Male Female Total
Top management 3 0 0 3 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 9
Senior management 0 0 2 8 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 13
Professionals 5 0 2 26 0 0 0 7 2 0 1 2 45
Skilled 41 3 7 31 14 3 3 20 2 0 2 2 128
Semi-skilled 42 1 0 1 17 3 5 23 0 0 5 4 101
Unskilled 104 7 0 3 44 1 1 2 0 0 0 1 163
Total permanent 195 11 11 72 77 7 9 53 5 0 10 9 459
Temporary employees 24 0 0 1 7 1 1 1 7 0 0 0 42
Grand total 219 11 11 73 84 8 10 54 12 0 10 9 501
% of total 44 2 2 15 17 2 2 11 2 0 2 2 100

A – African  C – Coloured  I – Indian  W – White

WE ARE COMMITTED TO 

PROVIDING EMPLOYEES 

WITH THE OPPORTUNITY 

TO DEVELOP FURTHER.

TARGETS AND INITIATIVES 

ARE IN PLACE TO HELP 

DRIVE THE GROUP’S 

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY 

PLAN.

DURING THE MONTH OF 

APRIL, SHAREHOLDERS 

GAVE THEIR APPROVAL 

FOR AN EMPLOYEE 

CONDITIONAL SHARE PLAN 

TO BE IMPLEMENTED.

Our people are an integral part of the group’s sustainability 
and as such we are committed to providing a workplace 
conducive to achieving our strategic objectives. We focus on 
retaining our skills and offer optimal working conditions as well 
as opportunities for further development wherever possible.

page 19 Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017

 



We respect the right of each employee to be a member of a union and membership is set out below:

At 30 June 2017

Company
Total 

employees
Union 
name

Union 
members

% 
of total

Absolute Science 13 Ceppawu 1 8
AgChem 132 Ceppawu 54 41
Assets 10 Giwusa 9 90
Botswana 10 None 0 0
Bragan 37 None 0 0
Bragan temps 27
Chemicals 101 Sacwu 30 30
Europe 5 None 0 0
Holdings 16 None 0 0
Colour 52 Giwusa 23 44
Rolfes Water 39 None 0 0
Silica 57 Num 38 67
Zambia 5 None 0 0

504 155 31

Skills development and training
We are committed to providing employees with the 
opportunity to develop further. In this light a skills and 
development plan is in place and workplace skills and 
training reports are submitted to the Chemical 
Industries Education and Training Authority (“CHIETA”). 
Employees receive regular training to improve 
competence levels, which includes courses on health 
and safety, equipment operation and Hazchem 
requirements. In addition, qualified members of staff 
and management also facilitate in-house training. 

Total spend on training during the year was over 
R1,2 million with R820 000 of that spent on trainees. 

The group also provides adult education and training 
to help develop low-skill category employees within 
the subsidiaries. AET training took place at Rolfes Silica 
in Brits with total spend amounting to R160 000. 

Trainee contracts (young graduates)
Skills development for skilled individuals entails 
employees being given study assistance as per 
group study policy guidelines. We recognise the need 
to contribute to addressing social ills, such as 
unemployment, and therefore recruit young graduates 
for trainee contracts which range from six months to 

12 months. These contracts are an opportunity for 
young individuals to become fully acquainted with the 
work environment and in so doing refine their skills and 
ultimately make a valuable contribution to the company 
and the country’s economic growth. Six of the 
13 trainees whose contracts ended during the year were 
absorbed into the group. The main goal of this initiative 
is to develop and retain young talent, which will form 
part of the company’s future. Through this strategy, the 
company maintains its goals of being compliant with 
employment equity legislation and boasting a diverse 
workforce. 

New conditional share plan
During the month of April, shareholders gave their 
approval for an employee conditional share plan to be 
implemented. The plan aims to provide an incentive to 
the executive directors as well as other employees in 
key management positions across the group to deliver 
on the group’s long-term strategy. The awards in terms 
of the plan have vesting conditions which include 
employment as well as, in the case of performance 
shares, predetermined performance targets over a 
three-year period. Any awards made under the plan 
are at the absolute discretion of the remuneration 
committee. 

No shares had been awarded at 30 June 2017.

OUR 
PEOPLE continued
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Rolfes is committed to being a good corporate citizen and ensuring a sustainable business is a strategic imperative by integrating sustainability
into everyday business practices. In doing so, the board acknowledges that, in addition to being responsible for corporate performance, it holds 
a responsibility for triple bottom-line reporting (see ethical leadership on page 25).

We seek to operate transparently and responsibly at all times and are focused on the economic, social and environmental elements of all 
our activities to ensure we deliver long-term value to all stakeholders. At present our sustainability reporting is not independently assured.
However, the board is satisfied that the sustainability information contained in this report is reliable and does not contradict the financial aspect 
of the integrated annual report.

OUR
IMPACTS

STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT
The group is committed to conducting stakeholder engagement in an 
open, transparent and timeous manner. 

This stakeholder engagement is viewed as integral to our sustainability and informs our discussions on strategy. Stakeholder 
engagements vary in intensity and complexity as appropriate for the particular issue or project. In all engagements all stakeholders are 
to be addressed with dignity and respect. 

The group has identified the following as key stakeholders:  
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HEALTH AND 
SAFETY

We are committed to maintaining the health and safety 
of our employees as well as the communities in which 
we operate. A formal health and safety policy is in place 
which is enforced across the group. 

We remain fatality free. Rolfes Chemicals was 16 months 
injury free at year-end. Food had 78 injury-free days.

Rolfes is mindful of health and safety risks and therefore 
prioritises training on a continuous basis to ensure risks 
are managed proactively. Monthly health and safety 
training covers issues such as industrial hygiene and 
codes of practice, and safe operating procedures, while 
in-house safety training forms part of the induction 
programme for new employees.

Proper storage facilities are in place for raw materials 
and finished goods to ensure the safety of employees 
and the environment. Appropriate precautions are taken 
to avoid potential explosions associated with flammable 
materials or dust clouds. Underground storage tanks are 
monitored for leaks and compliance to applicable 
legislation.

Health
Surveillance programmes are in place at all sites with 
workers monitored for the potential health effects of 
products to which they are exposed. Employees are 
issued with required protective clothing and equipment 
and trained on prevention strategies to mitigate 
potentially harmful exposure risks, as well as emergency 
treatment of accidental exposure. Medical testing is 
regularly undertaken to screen for occupational 
diseases.

Many of our sites have dedicated clinics for our 
employees. Healthcare promotion in the group 
concentrates on implementing preventive and 
corrective mitigation measures to reduce and eliminate 
underlying causes of HIV/Aids, other serious diseases 
and identifiable health hazards. The group promotes 
voluntary testing, non-discrimination and awareness 
regarding the prevention of the spread of disease and 
mitigating its effects. 

Various sites are implementing ISO 18001, which is a 
health and safety standard. Rolfes Agri and Rolfes Water 
have OHSAS 18001 in place.

Product responsibility
Rolfes publishes all material safety and technical data 
sheets for our products on our website. These are 
updated continuously to ensure they meet customers’ 
health, safety and designated use.

The following legal entities within the group are 
accredited with ISO quality management assurance 
standards:

ISO 1401:2015
 • Rolfes Agri
 • Rolfes Water

ISO 2009:2008
 • Rolfes Water
 • Rolfes Colour Pigments

ISO 9001:2015
 • Rolfes Agri 
 • Rolfes Chemicals
 • Rolfes Water

We are working towards having all companies compliant 
with ISO 9001 with Food expecting certification by end 
of 2017.

Customer health and safety and the development of 
alternatives for potentially harmful products are 
continuously assessed to ensure products are improved 
in terms of health and safety. 

Product services and product labelling practices are 
regularly reviewed and revised to ensure proper 
responsible labelling in accordance with relevant 
legislation. 

SURVEILLANCE 

PROGRAMMES ARE IN 

PLACE AT ALL SITES WITH 

WORKERS MONITORED FOR 

THE POTENTIAL HEALTH 

EFFECTS OF PRODUCTS TO 

WHICH THEY ARE EXPOSED. 

ROLFES IS MINDFUL OF 

HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RISKS AND THEREFORE 

PRIORITISES TRAINING 

ON A CONTINUOUS BASIS 

TO ENSURE RISKS ARE 

MANAGED PROACTIVELY. 

ROLFES PUBLISHES ALL 

MATERIAL SAFETY AND 

TECHNICAL DATA SHEETS 

FOR OUR PRODUCTS ON 

OUR WEBSITES. 
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ENVIRONMENT

At Rolfes we are committed to minimising our 
environmental impact and contributing to conserving 
our natural capital. In doing so we are cognisant of our 
impact on living and non-living natural systems, 
including land, air, water and ecosystems. We are 
committed to meeting the needs of our employees and 
clients in an environmentally sound and sustainable 
manner, through continuous improvement in the 
environmental performance of all our activities in 
accordance with the Environmental Conservation Act. 

Our approach to sustainability includes our commitment 
to contributing to evolving a green economy in South 
Africa and Africa. In doing so we are committed to 
continuously developing more environmentally friendly 
products and expanding our organic products range. 
Over the years our product innovations have included 
replacing lead chromates with traded lead-free organic 
pigments, chrome-free tanning in our leather division, 
manufacturing green solvents from agricultural crops 
and disposing of packaging in an environmentally 
responsible manner. Without compromising on quality, 
we also refurbish drums and pallets to minimise our 
negative impact on the environment. Rolfes Agri has 
also developed packaging from material that is 
biodegradable.

A comprehensive environmental management 
programme is in place which sets out our aims and 
objectives in controlling and managing any undesirable 
or superfluous byproducts, emissions and residue 
caused by any of our processes or activities. We aim to 
provide adequate means for all waste types to be 
properly stored, contained and disposed of. In addition, 
we seek to ensure that employees, visitors, contractors 
or the public are protected from exposure to any 
hazardous waste that Rolfes may accumulate or handle. 

Rolfes Water, Rolfes Agri and Rolfes Chemicals are 
ISO 14001 certified and we are in the process of 
implementing this international environmental 
standard at all our sites. 

Emissions, effluent and waste
We continually monitor our emissions and effluent 
treatment plants. This includes monitoring dust levels 
as well as water quality and discharges. Preventive 
measures are in place and upgrades are under way to 
ensure that storm water pollution does not take place. 
Safe disposal of waste is done through registered and 
accredited institutions, certifying that waste is properly 
and legally disposed of. Harmful discharges from factory 
emissions are limited through preventive measures to 
assist with the improvement of our carbon footprint.

During the year we spent R3 million on safely disposing 
lead contaminated sludge from the dams at Jet Park. 
The removal was completed in July 2017 and there is no 
more sludge remaining. 

We have a rehabilitation plan in place for the Germiston 
site and are reviewing the Jet Park site.

Energy 
During the year we appointed an independent third 
party to conduct a base line of our energy  
consumption. Going forward we intend  
reporting on this in our integrated 
annual report. 

Transport
Proactive logistic planning ensures less  
travel and a reduction in greenhouse gas  
emissions from motor vehicles. No chemical  
spills were reported for the year under review,  
and the group has been proactive in meeting  
Hazchem transportation requirements. Many of our 
transport vehicles are equipped with chemical spill kits. 
In the unfortunate event of a spill risks to life and 
property can be managed and minimised. 

Compliance
There were no significant fines or monetary sanctions 
brought against Rolfes or any of its subsidiaries for 
non-compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations. 
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BBBEE
We are cognisant of the importance of BBBEE 
compliance in order to assist the sustainable growth 
of our operations. We further acknowledge the social 
importance of BBBEE, which seeks to achieve increased 
participation in the South African economy and the 
transformation thereof, as well as a greater distribution 
of wealth in the country. The group therefore upholds 
the spirit of BBBEE and continues to review its strategy 
throughout all subsidiaries in this regard. 

A number of initiatives have been developed to ensure 
that significant progress can be made on all categories 
of the scorecard. Progress is regularly monitored and 
updates are given at subsidiary board meetings where 
BBBEE is a standing agenda item. In the past, entities 
have been rated individually which will continue. 
Additionally, the group will be rated as a whole in the 
near future.

BBBEE ratings per entity 

Entity BBBEE rating Area of focus

Rolfes Holdings Limited Non-compliant Under review
Rolfes Agri Proprietary Limited Level 5 Under review
Absolute Science Proprietary Limited Level 4 Under review
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited Non-compliant Under review
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited Level 7 Working closely with suppliers
Bragan Chemicals Proprietary Limited Level 7 Working closely with suppliers
Rolfes Water Proprietary Limited Level 4 Working closely with suppliers

Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited Level 2 Discontinued

Supplier and enterprise development
Supplier and enterprise development is a focus area 
going forward and we recognise that we need to 
enhance this area. Going forward, the social and ethics 
committee is responsible for this focus area.

Our communities
Rolfes ascribes to the growing global focus on the role 
of business in protecting and respecting human rights 
and improving the social environment in which 
organisations operate. We therefore take our social 
responsibility seriously and seek to uphold the human 

rights of every employee and each individual in our 
broader value chain.

The Rolfes CSI policy sets out the group’s commitment 
that financial contributions focus on areas of health, 
education, job creation and the environment. Over the 
past year, donations were made to various organisations 
addressing the needs for health, education and skills 
development. In future, all subsidiaries will be 
encouraged to be more cognisant of this policy in their 
contributions in order to ensure that all the company’s 
focus areas are addressed. 

TRANSFORMATION

The group spent over R1 million on CSI during the year. Some of our CSI beneficiaries, which are all over 75% black 
beneficiaries included:

CEO SleepOut The CEO SleepOut challenges the business community to experience, just for one night, the 
discomfort of sleeping on the street.

People Upliftment 
Programme (“POPUP”)

POPUP helps underprivileged communities through a holistic approach by addressing their 
physical, emotional, mental and spiritual needs. 

Refilwe Community 
Project

This project serves disadvantaged communities in Lanseria, north of Johannesburg, through 
child care and sustainable community development. 

Breadline Africa This charity is aimed at breaking the cycle of poverty by helping communities help 
themselves by setting up soup kitchens, classrooms, crèches, skills workshops, ablution blocks 
and health clinics. 

Blind SA Blind SA is an organisation for the blind, and its core business is the production as well as 
teaching of Braille. 

Shumbashaba – Horses 
Helping People

Shumbashaba helps people with disabilities and learning difficulties from previously 
disadvantaged communities through therapeutic riding programmes. 

Oliver’s House Oliver’s House is an early childhood development centre that also runs soup kitchen, 
educational learning centre and community vegetable garden. 

Adopt-A-School The key objective of the Adopt-a-School Foundation is to implement whole school 
development – a holistic model aimed at improving the academic, infrastructural and social 
environment in schools.

Out-of-the-Box This is a skills development centre for the disadvantaged, unskilled and uneducated South 
Africans living in underprivileged communities in the Germiston area. 

Urban Grown Projects This is a young team of urban farmers dedicated to growing the best fresh produce in the city 
using hydroponics.

Buhle Farmer’s Academy Buhle Farmers’ Academy is a non-profit organisation that trains and mentors aspiring farmers.
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We regard sound corporate governance as imperative 
to ensuring a sustainable business and Rolfes is 
committed to the highest standards of ethical conduct 
in its dealings with all stakeholders. Bribery and 
corruption are not tolerated at any level and employees 
are encouraged to conduct their activities objectively 
and in a manner that complies with all the requirements 
of the Anti-fraud and Corruption Act and the Protected 
Disclosures Act. The core of the commitment is to apply 
the highest standard of ethical conduct in dealings with 
all stakeholders.

Ultimately the board is responsible for ensuring the 
ethical behaviour of the group and as such directors 
are required to prescribe to the five moral duties of 
conscience, care, competence, commitment and 
courage. The ethical corporate culture of the group 
holds that all directors follow ethical standards; that 
the interests of all stakeholders should be taken into 
account in making decisions; that the conduct of 
individuals needs to improve moral values; that business 
activities should be conducted with integrity, fairness 
and vision; that fair competition practices are followed 
in all aspects of the business’s activity; and that poor 
performance is never blamed on the exercise of good 
ethical standards.

Rolfes applies the principles and the recommended 
practices of King IV and its application is set out on 
page 29. 

Code of ethics
A formal code of ethics is in place which requires all 
directors and employees to be committed to fair 
dealing, honesty and integrity in the conduct of its 
business and also outlines the group’s position on gifts 
and entertainment. The code of ethics has been actively 
endorsed by the board and distributed to all 
employees. The code is designed to raise ethical 
awareness, act as a guide in day-to-day decisions 

and to assure customers and other stakeholders of 
the group’s commitment to ethical behaviour.

The code of ethics is communicated in the induction 
process for all new employees outlining the group’s core 
values and its compliance procedures. Compliance by 
all employees with the high moral, ethical and legal 
standards of the code is mandatory, and if employees 
become aware of, or suspect, a contravention of the 
code, they must promptly and confidentially report it 
in the prescribed manner.

During the year employees at all sites were trained/
reinducted on the code of ethics and re-signed as 
commitment to the code. This was performed at all 
operations in the group.

Appropriate action has been taken in respect of all 
reported instances of non-compliance with the code 
by employees.

Whistleblowing
Rolfes has an established whistleblowing policy and has 
an anonymous reporting facility, enabling employees 
and other stakeholders to report fraudulent, corrupt or 
unethical behaviour related to any of the group’s 
activities, without fear of victimisation and retribution. 
Anonymity is guaranteed and the facility is managed 
in compliance with the Protected Disclosures Act, 
No 26 of 2000.

All whistleblowing matters are reported to the audit 
and risk committee. There were no significant matters 
reported during the year under review.

We are focusing on raising awareness among are 
employees of the whistleblowing process and 
transparent reporting procedures.

ETHICAL
LEADERSHIP
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GOVERNANCE

Governance structure
Board

Mike Teke (chairman)
Richard Buttle (chief executive officer)
Andre Broodryk (chief financial officer)
Andile Dyasi
Seapei Mafoyane (lead independent director)
Mathukana Mokoka
Dinga Mncube
Chris Seabrooke
Jarred Winer

Responsibilities
 • Approve corporate strategy, including business plans and budgets and bring independent, informed and effective 

judgement and leadership to bear on the material decisions of the company;
 • Monitor management’s implementation of the approved strategies;
 • Approve major acquisitions and disposals;
 • Oversight of the systems of internal control, governance, including that of information technology and risk 

management;
 • Guiding the group’s values, including principles of ethical business practice and the requirements of being a 

responsible corporate citizen;
 • Appointment of the chairman and chief executive officer, nomination of directors and review of directors’ and senior 

management’s remuneration, appointments and succession plan;
 • Approval of the authorities assigned to the board, its committees and management;
 • Ensure disputes are resolved as effectively, efficiently and expeditiously as possible; and
 • Monitoring the relationship between management and stakeholders of the company.

Audit and risk committee 
(see full report page 41)

Remuneration and nominations committee
(see full report pages 34 and 37)

Social and ethics committee report
(see full report page 36)

Mathukana Mokoka (chairman)
Seapei Mafoyane
Andile Dyasi
Dinga Mncube

Andile Dyasi (chairman of remuneration)
Seapei Mafoyane
Dinga Mncube
Mike Teke (chairman of nominations)

Seapei Mafoyane (chairman)
Andile Dyasi

Responsibilities
 • Assessment of the 

independence of the external 
auditors and recommendation 
to the board for appointment 
of the external auditors;

 • Oversee the integrated 
reporting process;

 • Oversee and evaluate the 
governance of risk and related 
internal control environment;

 • Monitor and assess all internal 
and external assurance 
providers;

 • Obtain assurance from 
management on the 
effectiveness of internal 
controls;

 • Assess the expertise and 
experience of the group 
financial director and the 
resources within the financial 
function; and

 • Recommend the financial 
statements and integrated 
annual report for approval 
by the board.

Responsibilities
 • Appraising and assessing the performance 

and remuneration of the executive directors 
and senior management annually;

 • Ensuring appropriate, transparent disclosure 
of remuneration;

 • Proposing level of remuneration of 
non-executive directors for approval at 
the annual general meeting;

 • Ensuring the mix of fixed and variable pay, 
in cash and other elements, meets the 
company’s needs and strategic objectives;

 • Setting performance targets and monitoring 
achievements;

 • Overseeing the preparation of the 
remuneration report;

 • Assist board in developing and reviewing 
nomination policies and practices;

 • Identifying eligible directors and ensuring 
the selection is transparent; 

 • Annually review the board and committees’ 
structure, composition and size;

 • Annually consider the positions of chairman 
and lead independent director;

 • Assist in reviewing the independence of 
non-executive directors; and

 • Ensuring development and implementation 
of formal succession plans.

Responsibilities
 • Monitor corporate social 

investments;
 • Monitor the group’s 

achievements against its social 
and ethics plan;

 • Review the code of ethics;
 • Review significant cases of 

employee conflicts of interest, 
misconduct or fraud, or any 
other unethical activity by 
employees or the company;

 • Ensure the company’s ethics 
performance is assessed, 
monitored, reported and 
disclosed; and

 • Review whistleblowing 
activities.

Independent 4/4 Independent 3/4 Independent 2/3
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The board
At year-end, the board comprised nine directors, two 
executive directors and seven non-executive directors 
of whom four are independent non-executives. As the 
chairman is not independent, Seapei Mafoyane serves 
as the lead independent director. 

Independent non-executive

4

2

3

■  Independent non-executive 
■  Non-executive
■  Executive

Gender diversity

2

7

■  Female
■  Male

At board level there is a clear division of responsibilities 
to ensure an appropriate balance of power and 
authority, such that no one individual has unfettered 
powers of decision making. The roles of the non-
executive chairman and the chief executive officer are 
separate, as described in the board charter. The 
appointment and performance of the chairman is 
reviewed annually.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration is not linked to 
the group’s financial performance. In order to improve 
the board’s effectiveness, evaluations of the board, 
individual directors, board committees and the 
chairman are carried out annually. Appropriate measures 
are taken to address any weaknesses highlighted 
through the evaluation process. The results are 
conveyed to the committees and the board and the 
chairman reports on the results and areas for 
improvement.

In accordance with the company’s memorandum of 
incorporation, non-executive directors are subject to 
retirement by rotation at intervals of three years and 
may be re-elected at the annual general meeting at 
which they retire. Newly appointed directors hold office 
until the next annual general meeting at which they 
must retire. Accordingly the directors retiring at the 
upcoming annual general meeting and standing for 
re-election are Seapei Mafoyane, Jarred Winer, 
Mathukana Mokoka while Chris Seabrooke, 
Richard Buttle and Andre Broodryk stand for election. 

The appointment and removal of directors, as well as 
changes to the composition of the board, are based 
on the recommendation of the nominations committee. 
Non-executive directors are chosen for their business 
skills and expertise appropriate to the strategic 
direction of the company. There are no term contracts of 
service between any of the directors and the company 
or any of its subsidiaries. 

The board has delegated, through formal terms of 
reference, specific matters to a number of committees 
whose members and chairmen are appointed by the 
board. There is full disclosure of matters handled by 
the committees to the board. The committees play 
an important role in enhancing high standards of 
governance and achieving increased effectiveness 
within the group. The board has an audit and risk 
committee, a remuneration and nominations committee 
and a social and ethics committee.
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GOVERNANCE continued

Appointments and succession 
planning
Appointments to the board of directors follow a formal 
and transparent process. The nominations committee 
assists the board in this regard. The board ensures that 
it has the right balance of skills, experience, 
background, independence and business knowledge to 
discharge its responsibilities. Newly appointed directors 
are introduced to the group via a formal induction 
programme which includes a document pack with board 
calendars, charters and terms of reference, company 
policies, minutes of prior meetings and divisional site 
meetings, introductory meetings with the chief 
executive officer and group financial director as well 
as key contacts depending on the designation of the 
incoming director. Training on the roles and 
responsibilities of a director is also provided during 
induction. 

In respect of the chairman, the lead independent 
director has been identified. In terms of executive 
management, the chief executive officer and group 
financial director work together to ensure a smooth 
transition to maintain the confidence of investors, 
business partners, customer and employees, and 
provide any incoming executive with a solid platform 
from which to move the group forward. 

The five divisional pillars of the group are structured in 
such a manner that each MD will be able to lead and 
continue with business as usual should the top structure 
collapse. Potential leaders are identified and developed 
on an ongoing yet informal manner. The senior 
managers of each division have proper support from 
employees to ensure continuity. Key management 
dependencies are discouraged in the group.

Share dealings
No director, officer or employee may deal either directly 
or indirectly in the company’s shares on the basis of 
unpublished price-sensitive information regarding the 
company’s business or affairs. In addition, no director, 
officer or employee in possession of price-sensitive 
information may trade in the company’s shares during 
closed periods. Closed periods are from the end of 
the interim and annual reporting periods to the 
announcement of financial and operating results for 
the respective periods, and while the company is 
under a cautionary announcement.

Reminders are emailed on 30 June and 31 December to 
the board and senior management. The email notifies 
them that the company is entering a closed period and 
that they and their brokers are not allowed to trade in 
Rolfes shares. Further, the board is regularly informed of 
the process when trading in Rolfes shares, which is that 
permission must be sought from the chairman and CEO 
prior to trading. This acts as an additional precautionary 
measure to prevent trading during closed periods.

Gender diversity
The company supports the principles of gender diversity 
at board level and has approved a board gender 
diversity policy. The board has set a voluntary target 
whereby women board members should comprise at 
least 30% of the board. As at financial year-end, the 
board achieved its target.

Company secretary
The board is satisfied that the company secretary is 
appropriately qualified, competent and experienced 
for the position in a listed company. The individual 
company secretary is a qualified attorney with over 
10 years of experience in the company secretarial field. 
The chairman and the chief executive officer conduct 
an annual assessment in this regard to satisfy the board. 
The company secretary is recused from the meeting, 
planned annually, and performance is discussed.

Board and committee meeting attendance

Directors Board

Audit and
 risk 

committee

Remuneration 
and 

nominations 
committee

Social and 
ethics 

committee
Strategy 

session

MS Teke 4(4) 1(1) 1(1)

SS Mafoyane 4(4) 3(3) 2(2) 1(1)

MM Dyasi 4(4) 3(3) 1(1) 2(2) 1(1)

DM Mncube 3(4) 2(3) 1(1)

JR Winer 2(4) 1(1) 1(1)

CS Seabrooke 1(1) N/A

MG Mokoka 4(4) 3(3) 1(1)

L Lynch 4(4) 3(3) 1(1) 2(2) 1(1)

RM Buttle 1(1) 1(1) N/A

JJT Ferreira 3(3) 2(2) 1(1)

E van der Merwe 3(3) 1(1)

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017 page 28

 



The company secretary plays a pivotal role in the 
continuing effectiveness of the board, ensuring that all 
directors have full and timely access to information that 
helps them to perform their duties and obligations, and 
enables the board to function effectively. Further, the 
company secretary provides guidance and advice to 
the board and the group on governance matters and 
changes in legislation.

The company secretary’s key duties with regard to the 
directors include, but are not limited to, the following:
 • collating and distributing relevant information, such 

as board meeting agenda items, and board/
committee meeting papers, corporate 
announcements, investor communications and any 
other developments affecting the group;

 • providing guidance to the directors on their individual 
and collective powers and duties;

 • inducting new directors. This includes a briefing of 
their fiduciary and statutory duties and 
responsibilities, including those arising from the JSE 
Listings Requirements;

 • providing regular updates on changes to laws 
and regulations affecting the group; and

 • the functions specified in section 88 of the 
Companies Act. All meetings of shareholders, 
directors and board committees are properly 
recorded as per the requirements of the Act.

The company secretary is not a director of the company, 
nor is she related to or connected with any of the 
directors which could result in a conflict of interest. 
The company secretary is a juristic firm and the board 
assessed and considered the firm as a whole and 
the individual assigned to Rolfes. Accordingly, it is 
concluded that an arm’s length relationship with the 
board and its directors is maintained. The company 
secretary reports to the chief executive officer and 
the chief financial officer and has a direct channel 
of communication to the chairman. The removal of 
the company secretary would be a matter for the board 
as a whole. All directors and board committees have 
full access to the company secretary. 

Application of King Code on Corporate Governance (“King IV”)

PRINCIPLE PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION COMMENTS

Leadership, ethics and corporate citizenship

1 The governing body should lead 
ethically and effectively

The board is the custodian of values and ethics for the group 
and is assisted in this regard by the social and ethics 
committee (“SEC”).

The SEC’s responsibility is to monitor cases reported on the 
tip-off line, review any statements on ethical standards, 
review significant cases of employee conflict of interest, 
misconduct or fraud and any other area where unethical 
activity by employees of company is alleged. 

2 The governing body should govern 
the ethics of the organisation in a 
way that supports the 
establishment of an ethical culture

The group has a code of ethics in place to which all members 
of the board, management and employees are required to 
adhere to. The code promotes and enforces ethical business 
practices.

3 The governing body should ensure 
that the organisation is and is seen 
to be a responsible corporate 
citizen

The SEC which was appointed by the board, oversees Rolfes’ 
commitment to responsible corporate citizenship. 

The terms of reference of the committee as it relates to 
corporate citizenship requires that the committee should 
monitor: 
• promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, 

reduction of corruption; and 
• contribution to development of the communities via our 

CSI projects.

Corporate social investment is a vital part of Rolfes’ identity 
and we seek to positively influence the lives of stakeholders. 

Strategy, performance and reporting

4 The governing body should 
appreciate that the organisation’s 
core purpose, its risks and 
opportunities, strategy, business 
model, performance and 
sustainable development are all 
inseparable elements of the value 
creation process

The Rolfes board has ensured the implementation of risk and 
sustainability frameworks. Strategy sessions are held annually 
which are approved by the board.
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GOVERNANCE continued

PRINCIPLE PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION COMMENTS

Strategy, performance and reporting continued

5 The governing body should ensure 
that reports issued by the 
organisation enable stakeholders 
to make informed assessments of 
the organisation’s performance, 
and its short, medium and 
long-term prospects

Rolfes strives to communicate content that is useful and 
relevant in an open and balanced manner. The integrated 
annual report therefore comprises an honest, measured 
account of the group’s approach to sustainability that takes 
account of all resources employed in its business activities 
and all resources and groups on which Rolfes has an impact. 
This should enable stakeholders to accurately evaluate the 
group’s ability to create and sustain value over the short, 
medium and long term.

Governing structures and delegation

6 The governing body should serve 
as the focal point and custodian of 
the corporate governance in the 
organisation

The board charter specifies the role of the board, the 
chairman, the CEO and the individual members of the board. 
The board is further supported by four subcommittees that 
have delegated responsibility to assist the board in specific 
matters. The subcommittees report to the board at every 
board meeting.

7 The governing body should 
comprise the appropriate balance 
of knowledge, skills, experience, 
diversity and independence for it 
to discharge its governance role 
and responsibilities objectively 
and effectively

Appointments to the board of directors follow a formal and 
transparent process. The nomination committee assists the 
board in this regard. The board ensures that it has the right 
balance of skills, experience, background, independence and 
business knowledge to discharge its responsibilities. Newly 
appointed directors are introduced to the group via a formal 
induction programme.

8 The governing body should ensure 
that its arrangements for 
delegation within its own 
structures promote independent 
judgement, and assist with balance 
of power and the effective 
discharge of its duties

At board level there is a clear division of responsibilities to 
ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority, such 
that no one individual has unfettered powers of decision 
making. The roles of MS Teke as a non-executive chairman 
and RM Buttle as the CEO are separate, as described in the 
board charter.

9 The governing body should ensure 
that the evaluation of its own 
performance and that of its 
committees, its chair and its 
individual members, support 
continued improvement in its 
performance and effectiveness

In order to improve the board’s effectiveness, evaluations of 
the board, individual directors, board committees and the 
chairman are carried out annually. Appropriate measures are 
taken to address any weaknesses highlighted through the 
evaluation process.

The appraisal process of the board and committees is 
conducted annually. The results of such evaluation are 
considered and action plans are implemented where 
required. In addition, the directors perform an annual 
self-evaluation that is reviewed and commented on by 
the chairman.

10 The governing body should ensure 
that the appointment of, and 
delegation to, management 
contribute to role clarity and 
effective exercise of authority and 
responsibilities

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the group and place considerable importance 
on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the 
directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of 
directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an 
acceptable level of risk.
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PRINCIPLE PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION COMMENTS

Governance functional areas

11 The governing body should govern 
risk in a way that supports the 
organisation in setting and 
achieving its strategic objectives

The governance of risk within the group is the board’s 
responsibility. The audit and risk committee reviews the 
group’s risk assessment and satisfied itself of the adequacy 
of responses, mitigations and plans for enhancement.

The board’s responsibility for risk governance is expressed in 
the board charter. A policy and plan for a system and process 
of risk management has been developed and the levels of 
risk tolerance are being defined.

The board has established the audit and risk committee to 
assist in carrying out its risk responsibilities. This is included 
in the audit and risk committee’s terms of reference approved 
by the board.

The board of directors retains ultimate responsibility for 
the entirety of processes for risk management. The CFO is 
accountable to the board for the management of risks facing 
Rolfes and is supported by management for the mitigation 
of these risks.

Risk assessments are embedded in the daily business 
activities of the company. An update is provided on a 
quarterly basis to the audit and risk committee.

All risks are identified and steps to mitigate these are 
outlined, including reasonably unpredictable risks.

The audit and risk committee ensures that the executive 
directors have appropriate responses to perceived risks 
in place.

Risk management is an integral part of business 
management. One aspect of the risk management 
methodology and process includes continuous monitoring.  
Risk management is embedded in the day‐to‐day functions.

Regular reports are provided to the audit and risk committee 
and the CFO performs reviews of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal controls and risk management. The board 
receives these reports on a quarterly basis.

The group’s integrated annual report provides a 
comprehensive outline to stakeholders of the risk 
management process.

12 The governing body should govern 
technology and information in a 
way that supports the organisation 
setting and achieving its strategic 
objectives

The board is comfortable that an effective governance 
structure is in place through executive management, whose 
mandate it is to improve the overall status of IT governance 
in the group, while ensuring that future platforms will meet 
strategic needs and remain competitive.

13 The governing body should govern 
compliance with applicable laws 
and adopt non-binding rules, 
codes and standards in a way that 
it supports the organisation being 
ethical and a good corporate 
citizen

In the context of the overall obligations of the board, the 
duties of the directors are to ensure that the group complies 
with relevant legislation, regulation, codes and standards.
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GOVERNANCE continued

PRINCIPLE PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION COMMENTS

Governance functional areas continued

14 The governing body should ensure 
that the organisation remunerates 
fairly, responsibly and transparently 
so as to promote the achievement 
of strategic objectives and positive 
outcomes in the short, medium 
and long term

The remuneration committee is a regulatory committee with 
a majority of independent non-executive members whose 
duties are delegated to it by the board of directors. The 
committee is chaired by an independent non-executive 
director of the board, who is not the chairman of the board. 
The committee is required to have a minimum of one 
meeting a year to fulfil its responsibilities.

The proper alignment to King IV of the remuneration policy 
and implementation report is receiving attention. The board 
is aware that an implementation plan is not included in this 
report and not tabled for a non-binding advisory vote at the 
AGM. This will be remedied early in 2018.

15 The governing body should ensure 
that assurance services and 
functions enable an effective 
control environment, and that 
these support the integrity of 
information for internal decision 
making and of the organisation’s 
external reports

The audit and risk committee along with executive 
management are responsible to review the adequacy and 
effectiveness of assurance functions. Areas of improvement 
have been noted and enhancements are in progress which 
will be monitored and reviewed by the committee.

Stakeholder relationships

16 In the execution of its governance 
roles and responsibilities, the 
governing body should adopt a 
stakeholder-inclusive approach 
that balances the needs, interests 
and expectations of material 
stakeholders in the best interests 
of the organisation over time

Rolfes’ stakeholders are defined as any group or individual 
that can affect the company’s operations, or be affected by 
the company’s operations. These stakeholders include but 
are not limited to customers, employees, shareholders, 
investors, analysts, government and regulatory bodies. The 
values bind the brands together and ensure consistency in 
interactions with all stakeholders. Stakeholders are treated 
fairly and Rolfes strives to enhance and develop services 
and communication channels to meet their expectations. 
The group keeps up to date of all developments in markets 
and legislation, improves and updates the knowledge 
and understanding of its industries on an ongoing basis, 
and applies its unique entrepreneurial skills and industry 
knowledge to grow and be successful.

17 The governing body of an 
institutional investor organisation 
should ensure that responsible 
investment is practiced by the 
organisation to promote the good 
governance and the creation of 
value by the companies in which 
it invests

Not applicable.
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RISK
MANAGEMENT

The board has the overall accountability for risk 
management and has delegated the responsibility to 
the audit and risk committee. The core responsibilities 
are:
• setting the company’s risk appetite and overall risk 

management strategy;
• developing appropriate risk management and 

governance systems; and
• establishing and maintaining effective monitoring 

of internal control systems.

The chief executive officer, through the subsidiary 
boards, is accountable for the implementation and 
maintenance of sound risk management. A top-down 
approach to risk management was adopted to enable 
the board to focus on the controls addressing the most 
significant risks. Risk mitigation is integrated into the 
day-to-day operations and activities in all subsidiaries 
with subsidiary directors held accountable for the 
communication of all risks to the chief executive officer. 
Risk registers are drafted and kept updated for the key 
areas of the business, including a strategic risk register 
covering the group. 

The risk management process needs to be enhanced to 
include quantified levels of risk tolerance and limits in 
terms of risk appetite. Currently no formal scoring 
mechanism is in place to formally assess the probability 
and severity of a risk occurring giving a resultant 
inherent risk; therefore ranking is not calculated but 
rather an assessment of high, medium or low. The 
effectiveness of controls to mitigate each risk is 
evaluated using judgement. In instances where the 
perceived residual risk exceeds the risk appetite, a risk 
mitigation plan is agreed and documented, champions 
assigned to execute the actions and implementation 
dates set. The results, including action plans to mitigate 
risks which exceed the risk appetite, are reported to the 
audit and risk committee. 

Non-compliance risks are reviewed by the audit and 
risk committee. No judgement, damages, penalties or 
fines were recorded and/or levied against any group 
company, directors or employees during the period 
under review for non-compliance with legislation.
Financial, forex and interest rate risks are noted in 
note 28 of the annual financial statements and 
managed by executive directors.

The key risks are set out below:

Financial controls
Lack of financial controls and management override is 
a known risk as weaknesses in this area impacted the 

financial results and necessitated restatement of prior 
year results. The most critical areas of risk have been 
addressed through enhancement of financial oversight 
and review of report figures. This remains an area for 
improvement and these will be focused on by ensuring 
appropriate disciplines and controls are driven down to 
all layers in the organisation. 

Working capital
The group’s business is working capital intensive; this 
is particularly relevant for the Food and Agricultural 
divisions during high season. Working capital is utilised 
to finance inventories and accounts receivable. The 
availability of these facilities to particularly Bragan, and 
any material changes thereto, will affect the business’s 
ability to fund its working capital requirements. 
Management of working capital through inventory 
control and effective accounts receivable management 
is also crucial for the business and is a key focus of 
management.

Systems continuity
The risk of unexpected failures to the IT systems, 
infrastructure, data security and disaster recovery as well 
as power supply could cause severe interruptions to the 
business. The current systems in place have weaknesses 
which have been identified and proposals to address 
the areas of concern are currently being reviewed and 
will be actioned accordingly.

Environmental and safety
The risk of chemical incidents pose a threat to the 
environment, health and safety of employees and in turn 
business continuity. Robust systems and processes are 
in place on the various sites to mitigate this risk. In 
addition the group has appropriate business 
interruption insurance cover.

Product liability claims
In several of the business units there is an inherent risk 
of product liability claims; the risk is mitigated by strong 
controls over the transport and storage environment 
and by appropriate product liability insurance cover. 

Reputational risk
There is an inherent risk of both corporate and 
operating reputational damage due to, among other 
things, accounting misstatements, unethical practices 
and defective products or services which could cause 
financial loss to stakeholders. The prior year 
restatements required have had a reputational impact 
at a corporate level and appropriate measures have 
been taken to recover from the damage caused. 
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REMUNERATION
REPORT

The remuneration and nominations committee assists 
the board in ensuring that group remuneration and 
recruitment is aligned with overall strategy.
 
The committee is a regulatory committee with a majority 
of independent non-executive members whose duties 
are delegated to it by the board of directors. The 
committee is chaired by an independent non-executive 
director who is not the chairman of the board. The 
committee consists of four members, three are 
independent non-executive directors, namely MM Dyasi 
(chairman), SS Mafoyane and DM Mncube and one 
non-executive, MS Teke. The committee is required to 
have a minimum of one meeting a year to fulfil its 
responsibilities. The chief executive officer, the group 
financial director and non-executive directors attend 
the committee meetings by invitation and assist the 
committee in its deliberation, except when issues 
relating to their own compensation are discussed. 
Meeting attendance is set out on page 28. 

The committee’s terms of reference prescribe that the 
effectiveness of the committee, its chairperson and 
individual members is assessed annually. 

Remuneration policy
The group’s remuneration strategy is to ensure that 
remuneration matches individual contribution to group 
performance, within the framework of market forces, 
while protecting shareholders’ interests and the group’s 
financial health over the short and long term.

The remuneration policy adheres to the principles of 
King IV and the requirements of the Companies Act. It 
determines both executive and non-executive packages 
and is set and reviewed annually. 

The policy is informed by the principle of total cost to 
company for executives and senior employees which 
is benchmarked against the industry skills and current 
market information. 

Remuneration comprises:
 • basic pay which is aligned to Rolfes’ performance-

orientated philosophy; and
 • short-term incentives which is a performance 

based-bonus at the company’s discretion and 
designed to reward high-performing employees. 

All full-time salaried employees are appraised annually 
and an annual total cost-to-company increase review is 
conducted. Recommendations are forward to the 
remuneration and nominations committee for approval. 

Executive remuneration
Executive directors’ remuneration is determined by 
a process of benchmarking, utilising current market 
information as well as remuneration and reward 
practices of the group. Financial targets are approved 
by the board annually, taking cognisance of operational 
budges. Minimum, expected and maximum targets are 
defined for adjusted diluted HEPS growth rate, 
operating profit, return on capital employed and cash 
flow. The board annually appraises the executive 
directors, which is taken into consideration in 
determining remuneration. 

The extent of managerial responsibility, together with 
actual workplace location, determine cost-to-company 
and short-term incentives of executive directors. 

The short-term incentives for executive directors are 
cash-based annual performance rewards determined by 
job level, business unit and individual performance. 
Group targets are set for the chief executive officer and 
group finance director. Divisional targets are set for the 
reminder if the executives although all executives are 
measured against the HEPS target.

Details of the remuneration of all executive directors are 
set out below. The full remuneration details of all 
executive directors (including past executive directors) 
are set out in note 24 to the annual financial statements.

Basic 
remuneration/

fees Bonus
Car/travel 
allowance Severance

Total 
2017

Total 
2016

Executive
L Lynch# (resigned 
16 October 2017) 2 628 873 1 558 059  255 795 – 4 442 727 3 020 160 
RM Buttle (appointed 
15 May 2017) 300 887 –  20 725 – 321 612  – 
JT Ferreira (resigned 
12 May 2017) 1 760 055 908 893 – 546 888 3 215 836 1 000 000 
SA Sergel (resigned 
30 Nov 2015) – – – –  – 901 250
E van der Merwe 
(resigned 1 April 2017) – – – –  – 950 000

4 689 815 2 466 952  276 520  546 888 7 980 175 5 871 410 
#  Subsequent to the release of the reviewed results, a severance package amounting to R1 863 583,36 was paid.
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Non-executive directors’ fees
Non-executive directors are appointed to the board 
based on their ability to contribute competence, insight 
and experience appropriate to assisting the group to 
set and achieve its objectives. Non-executive directors 
receive fees for their services as directors and for 
services provided as members of board committees. 
They do not receive short-term incentives, nor do they 
participate in long-term incentive schemes.

Board fees comprise only a retainer fee and not an 
attendance fee. The level of fees paid to non-executive 
directors is based on current market practice and similar 
comparators. The total remuneration payable to 
non-executive directors requires approval of 
shareholders at the annual general meeting. The last 
approval by shareholders was obtained at the annual 
general meeting of shareholders on 25 November 2016. 
Non-executive directors’ fees for the ensuing financial 
year as proposed are listed in the notice of annual 
general meeting on pages 110 to 116.

Total emoluments to directors for the past financial year were as follows:

Non-executive  2017  2016 

MM Dyasi 220 000 200 004 
SS Mafoyane 220 000 200 004 
DM Mncube 165 000 150 000 
BT Ngcuka (resigned 30 June 2016) – 250 000 
KT Nondumo (resigned 9 November 2015) – 72 057 
MS Teke 300 000 150 000 
E van der Merwe (resigned 1 April 2017) 123 750 87 500 
MG Mokoka 270 000 128 979 
JR Winer 165 000 87 500 
CS Seabrooke (appointed 1 April 2017) 41 250 – 

1 505 000 1 326 044 

Full details appear in note 24 of the annual financial 
statements on page 85.

Share plan
In line with local and global best practice, the group 
adopted a conditional share plan effective 10 April 2017 
to incentivise, motivate and retain the right calibre of 
employees through the award of performance and 
retention shares, respectively. This plan was approved 
by shareholders. No share grants had been issued as at 
30 June 2017. On 5 December 2017 RM Buttle was 
awarded 1 177 240 performance shares and AP Broodryk 
was awarded 706 344 performance shares. No retention 
shares were granted. In addition, performance shares 
were allocated to various subsidiary management in line 
with the rules of the conditional share plan.

Interests of directors in share capital
The aggregate holdings of directors of the company 
and their immediate families in the issued ordinary 
shares of the company are detailed in the table at the 
bottom of this page.

Directors’ loans
Directors have no loans with the company.

Interest of directors in contracts
The directors have certified that they had no material 
interest in any transaction of any significance with the 
company or any of its subsidiaries. 

Dr MM Dyasi
Chairman of the remuneration committee

15 December 2017

30 June 2017 30 June 2016

Direct 
beneficial

Indirect 
beneficial Total

Direct 
beneficial

Indirect 
beneficial Total

MS Teke 52 479 000 52 479 000 – 52 479 000 52 479 000
DM Mncube – 3 333 333 3 333 333 – 3 333 333 3 333 333
CS Seabrooke – 6 000 000 6 000 000 – – –
SS Mafoyane – – 350 – – –
MG Mokoka 20 173 80 994 101 167 – – –
L Lynch – 21 700 21 700 21 700 – 21 700

Mr Jarred Winer, a non-executive director on the Board is employed by Westbrooke Capital Management. This 
Westbrooke Capital Management Special Opportunities En Commandite Partnership, associated with Westbrooke 
Capital Management, holds 17 908 062 shares in Rolfes Holdings Limited.

See page 40 for disclosure in changes of directors’ interest between 30 June 2017 and the date of this report.
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SOCIAL AND
ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT

The social and ethics committee consists of two 
independent non-executive directors, SS Mafoyane 
(chairman) and MM Dyasi and one executive director, 
being RM Buttle (formerly L Lynch). The committee is 
chaired by an independent non-executive director. 

The committee met twice this year and attendance is set 
out on page 28. The chief financial officer and senior 
management attend the committee meetings by 
invitation and assist the committee in its deliberations. 

The committee’s terms of reference prescribe that the 
effectiveness of the committee, its chairman and 
individual members is assessed annually. 

Roles and responsibilities
The committee is satisfied that it has executed its 
responsibilities in keeping with the requirements of the 
Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
recommendations of King IV, as well as its additional 
requirements prescribed by its terms of reference which 
have been endorsed by the board of directors. Its key 
areas of responsibilities are to:
 • execute its statutory duties in terms of the 

requirements of the Companies Act and King IV;
 • monitor the group’s corporate social investment 

(“CSI”);
 • monitor the group’s achievements against its social 

and ethics plan;

 • review any statements on ethical standards or 
requirements for the company and the procedures or 
review system implemented to promote and enforce 
compliance;

 • review the company’s code of ethics;
 • review and recommend any corporate citizenship 

policies to the board for approval;
 • review significant cases of employee conflicts of 

interest, misconduct or fraud, or any other unethical 
activity by employees or the company;

 • ensure that the company’s ethics performance is 
assessed, monitored, reported and disclosed;

 • be informed of sustainability risks; and
 • review and attend to whistleblowing activities.

The committee is aware that its function will continue 
to evolve as it addresses all its responsibilities within its 
mandate. Economic and social sustainability is 
important to the group and more detail on the group’s 
human resources, environmental, CSI and other 
significant matters relating to the group’s obligations 
to all stakeholder is set on pages 21 to 24 of this 
integrated annual report.

SS Mafoyane
Chairman of the social and ethics committee

15 December 2017
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The company’s nominations committee (“the 
committee”) meets annually. The chair of the board 
chairs the committee. The committee’s duties and 
objectives, as mandated by the board, allow it to 
discharge its board-delegated duties in keeping with 
its terms of reference. These duties are briefly set out 
in this report. The committee’s key roles include the 
identification and evaluation of suitable candidates 
for appointment to the board as well as succession 
planning. 

Composition, meetings and 
assessment
The committee consists of four non-executive directors 
as members, of which three are independent, namely 
SS Mafoyane, MM Dyasi and DM Mncube and chaired 
by non-independent, namely MS Teke.

The term of the committee is one year and its 
composition and membership are reviewed annually 
by the board. 

Attendance at one meeting is set out on page 28.

The effectiveness of the committee, its chair and 
individual members is assessed annually.

Roles and responsibilities
The committee is satisfied that it has executed its 
responsibilities in keeping with the requirements of the 
Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
recommendations of the King Code, as well as its 
additional requirements prescribed by its terms of 
reference which have been endorsed by the board of 
directors. Its key areas of responsibilities are to:
 • assist the board in its responsibility for developing, 

setting, monitoring, reviewing, approving, 
implementing and administering nomination policies 
and practices, in line with the company’s strategy;

 • identify eligible directors to be elected as members 
of the board and committees and recommend these 
individuals to the board for appointment when 
vacancies arise;

 • establish procedures to ensure that the selection of 
individuals for such recommendation is transparent; 

 • ensure compliance in the rotation of directors and 
make appropriate recommendations to the board in 
regard to the eligibility of retiring directors of the 
company for re-election;

 • annually review the board and board committees’ 
structure, composition and size and the balance 
between executive and non-executive directors, the 
required mix of skills and experience of the directors 
and make recommendations to the board regarding 
any adjustments deemed necessary to enhance the 
effectiveness of the board and committees;

 • annually consider the positions of the chair of the 
board and the lead independent director and make 
recommendations thereon to the board; 

 • assist the board and the chair of the board in 
reviewing the independence of non-executive 
directors and make recommendations to the board 
thereon on an annual basis; and

 • ensure formal succession plans for the board, chief 
executive officer and senior management are 
developed and implemented.

The committee is satisfied that it has met the 
requirements of its terms of reference.

MS Teke 
Chair of the board and nominations committee

15 December 2017

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE 
REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2017
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY
REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017.

Nature of business
Rolfes Holdings Limited (“Rolfes” or “the company” or “the group”) is a holding company listed on the JSE under the category Basic 
Materials: Chemicals. The group provides a wide range of market-leading products to customers through dedicated teams of industry 
specialists in the Agricultural, Chemicals, Colour, Food Ingredients and Water divisions. The Chemicals and Colour divisions were 
previously reported together as “Industrials” but changed to separate reporting segments due to the change in the management 
structure during the year under review. 

Financial results
The results of the year’s operations are set out on pages 47 to 50 and incorporate the consolidated results of the company and its
subsidiaries.

Restated results
During the finalisation of the results for the year ended 30 June 2017, certain accounting errors and understatement of impairments 
relating to the prior periods, namely the year ended 30 June 2016 and the six months ended 31 December 2016, were identified and 
considered material. Accordingly, the results for both these prior periods have been restated. These errors are disclosed under note 32. 

Accounting policies
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with those applied 
in the previous consolidated financial statements, except for the carrying amount and disclosure in respect of property. The accounting 
policy to revalue property every three years was not applied consistently. This error is summarised under note 32b.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 4 cents per share was declared on 20 February 2017 and in addition, on 29 September 2017 the directors declared 
a final gross ordinary dividend of 4 cents per share, payable on 23 October 2017 to ordinary shareholders recorded in the share register of 
the company at the close of business on 20 October 2017. Accordingly, a full year dividend was declared for the year ended 30 June 2017 
of 8 cents per share (2016: 6 cents per share).

Share capital
Authorised
During the year, the company’s authorised share capital remained unchanged. The authorised and issued share capital of the company at 
30 June 2017 is set out in note 7 (page 74) to the annual financial statements. Details of beneficial shareholders holding more than 5% of 
the share capital of the company are set out in the shareholders’ information section of the integrated annual report.

Issued
No shares were issued during the year under review. 

Share buyback
The board has authorised a share buyback programme in accordance with the general authority which may be implemented by 
management within set parameters. 

Acquisitions and disposals
There were no acquisitions or disposals during the year under review. 

Discontinued operations
The Silica mining business became unviable due to the remaining life of mine and the current economic climate resulting in trading losses 
being incurred. The potential of restructuring the business was considered but the operating costs compared to the revenue (being a mix 
of volumes and price) remained uneconomical. The Silica mining business incurred a loss after tax of R53,5 million for the year 
(2016 restated: profit after tax of R2,9 million). Impairments/provisions were made on the property, plant and equipment of R19,6 million, 
inventories of R20,0 million and provision for closure and rehabilitation costs of R11 million, which impacted the 2017 results. After the 
release of the reviewed provisional condensed consolidated financial results the net realisable value adjustment against inventory was 
increased from R9,0 million to R20,0 million after the planned stock off-take agreement with a third party was withdrawn. This off-take 
agreement would have been done over 24 months. This off-take agreement was withdrawn due to a difference in the quality of inventory 
on hand. The revised carrying value is based on two offers received to purchase the mine in its entirety which, if one of these offers is 
concluded, will lead to a fast track of the proceeds, removal of cash outflows relating to compliance at the mine and opportunity for 
management to focus on the continuing operations of the group. Refer to notes 31, 33 and 35 for further disclosure.

Subsidiary companies
The principal subsidiaries of the group are reflected in note 29 of the group financial statements. The subsidiaries adopted special 
resolutions relating to financial assistance in terms of sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act.

Directors
The names of the directors at the date of this report are detailed on pages 12 and 13. Brief curricula vitae of the directors are listed on the 
company’s website. Details of directors’ remuneration are reflected in note 24 of the group financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY
REPORT continued

Changes to the board during the year under review were as follows:
Mr E van der Merwe resigned as a non-executive director on 1 April 2017. Mr CS Seabrooke was appointed as a non-executive director on 
1 April 2017. 

Mr JJT Ferreira resigned, with immediate effect, as group financial director on 12 May 2017 and Mr RM Buttle was appointed as acting 
group financial director on the same date. On 16 October 2017, Ms L Lynch resigned with immediate effect and Mr RM Buttle was 
appointed as CEO.

Mr AP Broodryk was appointed as CFO on 6 November 2017.

Directors’ and prescribed officers’ shareholdings
At 30 June 2017, the directors of the company beneficially held a total of 61 935 550 ordinary par value shares, equivalent to 38,3% in the 
company (2016: 55 834 033 ordinary par value shares, equivalent to 34,5%, were held by directors). Details of the directors’ shareholdings 
and interests in the company are set out in the remuneration committee report on page 34. Subsequent to year-end, Mike Teke, through 
Masimong Chemicals Proprietary Limited and Chris Seabrooke, through Sabvest Finance and Guarantee Corporation Proprietary Limited 
purchased 500 000 and 5 000 000 ordinary shares respectively on market.

Directors’ interests in contracts
No material or non-material interests in contracts involving directors were entered into during the year under review.

Special resolutions
At the AGM held on 25 November 2016, the following special resolutions were approved:
• Special resolution 1: Remuneration for non-executive directors
• Special resolution 2: General authority to issue shares for cash
• Special resolution 3: General authority to repurchase shares of the company; and
• Special resolution 4: General authority to provide financial assistance to related or inter-related entities.

At the next AGM to be held on 25 January 2018, shareholders will be asked to renew the above four approvals as set out in the notice to 
shareholders (refer to pages 110 to 120).

At a special meeting of shareholders on 10 April 2017, shareholders approved the adoption of a conditional share plan.

Holding company
Rolfes Holdings Limited has no holding company.

Auditors
The audit and risk committee has nominated for election at the AGM, KPMG Inc and Mr H Opperman as designated auditor to continue 
in office in accordance with section 94(7) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008.

Company secretary
The company secretary of Rolfes Holdings Limited is CorpStat Governance Services Proprietary Limited. The business and 
postal address of the company secretary is Hurlingham Office Park, Block C, 59 Woodlands Avenue, Sandton, 2196 and postal is 
PO Box 724 Melville, 2109.

Events after the reporting period
Other than the adjustment to the net realisable value of the Silica inventory noted under discontinued operations, there are no significant 
events that arose between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which requires adjustment of the results presented for 
the reporting period.

Going concern
The board has formally considered the going concern assumption for Rolfes and its subsidiaries. The board has no reason to believe that 
the company and group will not operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The board minuted the facts and assumptions used 
in the assessment of the going concern status of the company and group as at 30 June 2017.

Operating environment and prospects
The economic environment across southern Africa is expected to remain challenging and will influence demand for industrial chemicals. 
The Agriculture division was negatively affected in 2017 by the prolonged drought conditions and the division is well positioned for 
growth in more favourable weather conditions. New product ranges added to the portfolio and geographic expansion plans completed 
during the last financial year will continue to benefit growth in the Food division. Prospects in the Water division have improved with a 
good tender pipeline with dependence on industrial spending on water-related projects and favourable weather conditions. Smaller 
divisions that are not providing a satisfactory return on capital are currently under strategic review.

Any forward-looking statements in this announcement have not been reviewed and reported on by the company’s auditors. 

Approval
The annual financial statements of the group set out on pages 47 to 104 have been approved by the board.  

Signed on behalf of the board of directors by: MS Teke and RM Buttle.
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AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT

The audit and risk committee (“the committee”) presents its report for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. The committee is a formal 
committee in terms of the Companies Act. The committee functions within its approved terms of reference and complies with relevant 
legislation, regulation and governance codes. This report is presented to shareholders in compliance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act and the King Code of Governance Principles (“King IV”).

Composition, meetings and assessment
The committee consists of four independent non-executive directors, MG Mokoka (chairman), SS Mafoyane, MM Dyasi and
DM Mncube. These members are suitably skilled directors having recent and relevant financial experience.

The term of the committee is one year and its composition and membership are reviewed annually by the board. The members of 
the committee were recommended by the board to shareholders and were formally appointed at the AGM on 25 November 2016. 
The members have been nominated for election at the AGM to be held on 25 January 2018.

Closed sessions are arranged with key relevant parties and private sessions of members are held from time to time to ensure confidential 
assessments and discussions can occur.

Three meetings were held during the financial year and attendance of current members was as follows:

MG Mokoka (chairman) 3(3)
MM Dyasi 3(3)
SS Mafoyane 3(3)
DM Mncube 3(3)

The chairman of the board and executive directors attend meetings by invitation of the committee, together with the external auditor.

The committee’s terms of reference prescribe that the effectiveness of the committee, its chairman and individual members is assessed 
annually.

Roles and responsibilities
The committee is satisfied that it has executed its responsibilities in keeping with the requirements of the Companies Act, the JSE
Listings Requirements and the recommendations of King IV, as well as its additional requirements prescribed by its terms of reference 
which have been endorsed by the board of directors. Its key areas of responsibilities are to:
• perform its statutory duties as prescribed by the Companies Act, including the assessment of the independence of the external 

auditors and recommendation to the board for appointment of the external auditors;
• oversee the integrated reporting process and assess disclosures made to all stakeholders, which included the financial statements for 

the year under review and recommended it to the board for approval;
• oversee and evaluate the governance of risk and related internal control environment, and considered the recommendation of 

management in respect of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls;
• monitor and assess all internal and external assurance providers;
• obtain assurance from management on the effectiveness of internal controls;
• assess the expertise and experience of the group financial director and the resources within the financial function; and
• recommend the financial statements and integrated annual report for approval by the board.

In order to execute her responsibilities, the chairman of the committee met separately during the course of the year with management, 
the company secretary and the external auditors.

External auditor appointment and independence
The committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor of the group is independent. The requisite assurance was sought and provided 
by the auditor that internal governance processes within the audit firm support and demonstrate its claim to independence.

The committee, in consultation with executive management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted audit fees 
for the year under review. There is a formal procedure and policy that governs the process whereby the auditor is considered for 
non-audit services.

for the year ended 30 June 2017
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The committee has nominated, for election at the AGM, KPMG Inc as the external audit firm and H Opperman, as the designated auditor, 
for the 2018 financial year. The committee has satisfied itself that the audit firm and designated auditor are accredited as such on the JSE 
Limited list of auditors and advisers.

Financial statements and accounting policies
The committee has assessed the group’s accounting policies and the consolidated financial statements as well as the integrated annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2017 and is satisfied that they are appropriate and comply in all respects with IFRS. The committee 
supports the opinion of the board and the external auditor with regard to the annual financial statements which have been approved by 
the board and will be presented to shareholders at the AGM to be held on 25 January 2018.

Based on the information and explanations given by management and the external auditors, the committee is of the opinion that the 
accounting and internal controls, including the internal financial controls, are adequate and that the financial records may be relied upon 
for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS and maintaining accountability for the group’s assets and liabilities.

Integrated annual report
The committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the integrated reporting process. Accordingly, the committee:
• has considered the integrated annual report and has assessed the consistency with operational, financial and other information known 

to the committee members, and for consistency with the annual financial statements;
• is satisfied that the integrated annual report is materially accurate, complete and reliable and consistent with the annual financial 

statements; and
• recommended on 14 December 2017 the integrated annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017 for approval by the board.

Governance of risk
The committee is responsible for overseeing the governance of risk across the group. The risk management framework has been revised 
and adopted by the board based on the committee’s recommendations, and its continued implementation will be managed.

The requirement to restate the 2016 financial statements indicates that there was a breakdown in the functioning of internal controls; the 
controls have been reviewed and remedies put in place by new management. No further material items have come to the attention of the 
committee to indicate any continuing breakdown in the functioning of internal controls resulting in material loss to the group between 
the reporting date and the date of this report.

Internal audit
During the 2017 financial year, the executive directors and management provided assurance of strategic, operational and financial risk 
mitigation and reliability of internal controls in the group. An internal audit function has been established during 2017 financial year and 
appropriate long-term plans are being determined to enhance the role of the internal audit team.

Evaluation of the expertise and experience of the CFO
The committee is satisfied that the expertise and experience of the newly appointed CFO are appropriate to meet the responsibilities of 
the position. The evaluation was also valid with regard to the new CEO, who was the acting CFO at the time of reporting. This is based on 
the qualifications, experience, continuing professional education and the board’s assessment of the financial knowledge of the officers.

Going concern
Based on the results of management’s assessment of the solvency and liquidity and the applicability of the going concern assertion as to 
the affairs of the group, the committee concluded to the board that the company shall be a going concern for the foreseeable future.

The committee is satisfied that it has met the requirements of its terms of reference.

MG Mokoka
Chair of the audit and risk committee

15 December 2017

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT continued
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL

COMPANY SECRETARY
COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation and integrity of the annual financial statements of Rolfes Holdings Limited (“the 
company” and “the group”), which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, under the supervision of the CEO (formerly acting CFO), Mr RM Buttle CA(SA).

In preparing the annual financial statements, the company and the group have used appropriate accounting policies, supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgement and estimates, and have complied with all applicable accounting standards. The directors are of the 
opinion that the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the company and the group at 30 June 2017, the results 
of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended. The directors have considered the group’s past results, including restatements, 
expected future performance and reasonable changes thereto, and access to its funding, material and other resources, and are of the 
opinion that the company and the group will continue as a going concern.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the group and 
place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the 
board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards 
include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk.

These controls are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 
the group’s business is conducted in a manner that, in all reasonable circumstances, is above reproach. The focus of risk management in 
the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviours 
are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. The audit and risk committee performs an oversight role in 
matters related to financial and internal controls.

The directors are of the opinion that, based on the information and explanations given by management, the system of internal control 
provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group and company’s cash flow forecast for the subsequent year and, in light of this review and the 
current financial position, they are satisfied that the group and company have access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the board of directors 
on 15 December 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

MS Teke RM Buttle
Chairman CEO

I certify, that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property
Commission (“CIPC”) all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act in respect of the year ended 
30 June 2017 and that all such returns appear to be true, correct and up to date.

K Waldeck
CorpStat Governance Services Proprietary Limited
Company secretary

15 December 2017
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Rolfes Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rolfes Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“the group”) set out on pages 47 
to 104, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Rolfes 
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors (“IRBA Code”) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in 
South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 
requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Part A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Restatements due to prior year errors, change in accounting policy and reclassifications 
Refer to note 32 of the financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

During the period under review, the directors made a number of 
adjustments to the comparative corresponding amounts as at 
and for the year ended 30 June 2016 for the reasons disclosed in 
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. The significant 
adjustments related to the following matters:
• The financial statements of a subsidiary, Rolfes PWM Anticor 

Proprietary Limited, for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 
30 June 2016 were finalised after the consolidated financial 
statements of the group for the year ended 30 June 2016 
were issued. Certain amounts presented in the issued 
financial statements of the subsidiary for the stated years 
were materially different from the amounts included in the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2016. The differences are pervasive to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

• The group did not provide for all items requiring future 
rehabilitation on an unscheduled closure basis, resulting in 
the decommissioning and rehabilitation provision being 
understated in prior years. 

• The group changed and clarified its accounting policy for the 
measurement of property from the revaluation method to 
carrying property at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. The change in accounting policy was applied 
retrospectively in line with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Due to the nature and magnitude of the restatements made, 
significant audit effort was required in respect of the prior period 
errors, change in accounting policy and reclassifications and 
accordingly considered to be a key audit matter.

Our procedures related to the prior period errors, change in 
accounting policy and reclassifications included, among others:
• Obtaining an understanding of the factors giving rise to the 

restatements through discussions with management and 
inspecting information obtained by the previous auditor of 
the group. We corroborated our enquiries by:

 –  critically evaluating judgements made by management in  
respect of each adjustment;

 –  reviewing and evaluating for appropriateness all relevant  
available documentation supporting the material 
adjustments made; and 

 – challenging management in respect of other areas which 
could be impacted by similar factors. 

• Specifically with regard to the restatement relating to the 
decommissioning and rehabilitation provision, we physically 
inspected the areas and structures which require future 
rehabilitation and critically evaluated the reasonableness of the 
assumptions used by the directors in determining the cost of 
closure and rehabilitation requiring to be recognised. This was 
performed based on our knowledge of the industry, past 
experience and consultation with internal KPMG specialists. 

• Assessed the appropriateness of the presentation and 
disclosure of the restatements for compliance with 
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors.
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Discontinued operation of the Silica mining operation  
Refer to accounting policies 1.6 and 1.8 and notes 4, 31 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

On 9 June 2017, the directors resolved to discontinue the Silica 
mining business due to trading losses incurred by the 
Silica mining business as a result of the short remaining life 
of mine and the current economic climate. 

The Silica mining business was separately presented as a 
discontinued operation. The directors performed an impairment 
assessment of the property, plant and equipment and the 
inventory of the discontinued operation which resulted in an 
impairment of R19,6 million being recognised in respect of 
property, plant and equipment and a net realisable value 
impairment of R20,0 million being recognised in respect 
of inventory.

These impairment assessments include estimates and judgements 
made by management which are inherently uncertain. The key 
judgements applied are set out in notes 4 and 33 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Given the estimation uncertainty with regard to determining 
the recoverable amounts in respect of the property, plant and 
equipment and inventory within the Silica mining business, the 
discontinued operation was accordingly considered to be a key 
audit matter.

Our procedures relating to the discontinued operation included 
the following:
• We evaluated management’s approach in determining the 

recoverable amount of property plant and equipment. This 
included evaluating assumptions and estimates applied in 
determining the recoverable amounts particularly with 
reference to the estimated selling price that could be obtained 
in the market for items of property, plant and equipment.

• We evaluated management’s assumptions in determining the 
net realisable value of the inventory based on recent selling 
prices of the inventory.

• We also evaluated the recoverable amount of the remaining 
net assets of the Silica mining business with reference to the 
offers received by management from external buyers to 
acquire the Silica mining business. 

• We assessed the appropriateness and adequacy of the 
disclosures of the Silica mining business as a discontinued 
operation in terms of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for sale 
and Discontinued Operations.

Other matter relating to comparative information 
The consolidated financial statements of Rolfes Holdings Limited as at and for the year ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015, excluding 
the restatements described in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, were audited by another auditor who expressed an 
unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 30 September 2016.

As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 30 June 2017, we audited the restatements 
described in note 32 that were applied to restate the comparative information presented as at and for the year ended 30 June 2016 and 
the statement of financial position as at 1 July 2015. 

We were not engaged to audit, review or apply any procedures to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 
and the statement of financial position as at 1 July 2015, other than with respect to the restatements described in note 32 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on those respective financial 
statements taken as a whole. However, in our opinion, the restatements described in note 32 are appropriate and have been properly 
applied.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ statutory report, Audit and Risk 
committee report and Company secretary compliance statement as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, and the Directors’ 
statement of responsibility and approval, and all other information included in the Integrated annual report 2017. Other information does 
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT continued

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that KPMG Inc has been 
the auditor of Rolfes Holdings Limited for one year.

KPMG Inc
Per Henning Opperman
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director

15 December 2017

85 Empire Road
Parktown
2193
Gauteng
South Africa 
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as at 30 June

Notes
2017

R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

Restated
2015

R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets  393 725 394 640  277 115 
Property, plant and equipment 2  104 307  121 594  115 740 
Intangible assets and goodwill 3  269 172  261 793  150 376 
Deferred tax asset 12 20 246 11 253  10 999 
Current assets 591 402 666 977  516 255 
Inventories 4 275 582  336 628  213 533 
Trade and other receivables 5  237 817  269 388  183 523 
Short-term loans 6 –  4 883  6 642 
Assets classified as held for sale  –  –  95 732 
Cash and cash equivalents 15  71 970 50 253  11 487 

Current tax asset  6 033  5 825  5 338 

Total assets 985 127 1 061 617  793 370 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves   
Stated capital 7  208 588  208 588  50 888 
Treasury shares 8  (868)  (868)  (868)
Retained earnings 281 778  288 736  234 214
Reserves 9  (697)  (2 057) 215
Owners of the parent 488 801 494 399  284 449 
Non-controlling interest  (3 169)  (2 502)  57 789

Total equity 485 632 491 897 342 238

Non-current liabilities  262 900 258 912  78 381 
Interest-bearing liabilities 10 221 652  223 360  43 049 
Deferred tax liability 12 27 526 28 004  32 496 
Provisions 13  13 722  7 548  2 836 

Current liabilities 236 595  310 808  372 751 
Trade and other payables 14  208 883  280 603  168 613 
Short-term loans 6 –  25  27 433 
Derivative liability 16  780  3 509  15 
Interest-bearing liabilities (current) 10  24 040  23 351  23 831 
Vendor loan  –  –  17 935 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale  –  –  60 179 
Bank overdraft 15  – 1 854  71 324 
Current tax liability  2 892  1 466  3 421 

Total equity and liabilities 985 127 1 061 617  793 370

The notes on pages 51 to 104 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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for the year ended 30 June 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes
2017

R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

Continuing operations
Revenue    17, 31  1 437 409  1 310 387 
Cost of sales  (1 138 140)  (1 026 946)

Gross profit  299 269  283 441 

Other income  13 675  12 311 
Distribution expenses  (8 974)  (9 718)
Marketing expenses  (2 529)  (3 362)
Administration expenses  (16 747)  (16 002)
Impairments 33  (5 996)  (10 324)
Other expenses  (163 516)  (147 852)

Operating profit before interest 18  115 182  108 494 

Finance income 21  4 914  1 258 
Finance cost 20  (30 772)  (33 970)

Profit before taxation  89 324  75 782 

Income tax 22  (25 533)  (25 586)

Profit from continuing operations  63 791  50 196 

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations, net of tax 31 (53 500)  2 858 

Profit 10 291  53 054 

Other comprehensive income, net of taxation (continuing operations)*
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating of foreign operations 9  1 360  (2 272)

Total comprehensive income (continuing operations)*  65 151  47 924 

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent 11 467  55 620 
Non-controlling interest  (1 176)  (2 566)

10 291  53 054 

Other comprehensive income attributable to (continuing operations):

Owners of parent 66 327 50 490
Non-controlling interest (1 176) (2 566)

65 151 47 924

Earnings and headline earnings per share:
Group:
– Earnings (basic and diluted) (cents) 23 7,11  37,59 

– Headline earnings (basic and diluted) (cents) 23 20,56  42,62 

Continuing operations:
– Earnings (basic and diluted) (cents) 23  40,28  35,66 

– Headline earnings (basic and diluted) (cents) 23  41,01  40,69 

Discontinued operations:
– (Loss)/earnings (basic and diluted) (cents) 23 (33,17)  1,93 

– (Loss)/headline earnings (basic and diluted) (cents) 23 (20,45)  1,93 

*  Note that the discontinued operations did not have any transactions that affected the other comprehensive income section, therefore the results 
are only presented for the continuing operations.

The notes on pages 51 to 104 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Stated capital Reserves

Share 
capital
R’000

Share
 premium

R’000

Retained
 earnings

R’000

Treasury 
shares 
R’000

Foreign
 currency 

translation 
reserve

R’000

Revaluation
 surplus

R’000

Non-
 controlling

 interest   
R’000

Total 
equity
R’000

Balance at 1 July 2015 
(previously stated) 1 086 49 802 253 677 (868) (141) 5 488 63 260 372 304
Restatements – – (19 463) – 356 (5 488) (5 471) (30 066)

Balance at 1 July 2015 
(restated)  1 086  49 802  234 214  (868)  215  –  57 789  342 238 

Issue of shares  533  157 167  –  –  –  –  –  157 700 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year 
(restated)  –  –  55 620  –  (2 272)  –  (2 567)  50 781 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year 
(as previously stated)  –  –  78 477  –  (685)  –  1 561  79 353 
Restatements  –  –  (22 857)  –  (1 587)  –  (4 128)  (28 572)

Acquisition of non-
controlling interest  –  – (1 098)  –  –  –  (57 724)  (58 822)

Balance at 30 June 
2016 (restated) 1 619 206 969 288 736  (868)  (2 057)  –  (2 502)  491 897 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year  –  – 11 467  –  1 360  –  (1 176)  11 651 
Dividends  –  –  (16 192)  –  –  –  –  (16 192)
Acquisition of non-
controlling interest  –  –  (2 233)  –  –  –  509  (1 724)

Balance at 30 June 
2017  1 619  206 969 281 778  (868)  (697)  –  (3 169)  485 632 

More information is 
disclosed in notes: 7 7 32 8 9, 32 9, 32 32
The notes on pages 51 to 104 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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for the year ended 30 June 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

Notes
2017

R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

Cash generated from operating activities  47 214 84 215
Cash received from customers  1 524 556  1 383 627 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (1 400 304)  (1 236 258)

Cash generated from operations 28.1  124 252 147 369
Finance income received  4 987  1 293 
Finance cost paid  (33 383)  (34 084)
Dividends paid  (16 192) –
Tax paid 28.2  (32 450)  (30 363)
Cash utilised in investing activities  (22 816)  (220 643)
Additions to plant and equipment  (9 812)  (18 714)
Additions to intangible assets  (14 885)  (8 732)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1 378 5 263
Decrease in short-term loans advanced  503  1 759 
Cost of acquisition of companies 28.3 –  (200 219)
Cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities  (2 768)  260 645 
Proceeds from issue of shares –  160 000 
Share issue costs –  (2 300)
Increase in interest-bearing liabilities  18 981  193 177 
Purchase of non-controlling interest (1 724)  (29 889)
Repayment of interest-bearing liabilities  (20 000) (15 000)
Decrease in short-term loans received  (25)  (27 408)
Decrease in acquisition vendor –  (17 935)

Cash movement for the year 21 630 124 217
Effects of exchange rate fluctuation on translation of foreign operations 1 941 (3 245)
Cash obtained through acquisition – (12 736)
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of the year 15  48 399  (59 837)

Cash and cash equivalents – end of the year 15  71 970 48 3989

Refer to note 31 for the cash flow information relating to the discontinued operations.
The notes on pages 51 to 104 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
1.1 Reporting entity

Rolfes Holdings Limited (“Rolfes” or “the company” or “the group”) is a limited company incorporated in 
the Republic of South Africa. It is furthermore the ultimate parent of the group as well as the listed entity 
in terms of the JSE main board listing for the Rolfes group. The registered address is First Floor, The Oval 
West, Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo, 2196.

The principal activities of the company and its subsidiaries are disclosed in note 29.

Authorisation of the financial statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 
15 December 2017.

1.2 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 
comply with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the 
JSE Listings Requirements, and are prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in rand, which is the company’s functional currency. 
All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement 
of financial assets and financial liabilities, which are measured according to the policies set out in note 
1.5 and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.

The accounting policies applied conform to IFRS and are consistent with those followed in the preparation 
of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016, except for the carrying amount and 
disclosure in respect of property. The accounting policy to revalue property every three years was not 
previously applied consistently. The company changed and clarified its policy to the historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment model. The adjustment is summarised under note 32b.

Measurement principles
Below follows a summary of key measurement principles:

Statement  
of financial 
position caption

Measurement principle Statement  
of financial 
position caption

Measurement principle

ASSETS LIABILITIES
Property, plant and 
equipment

Historical cost, less 
accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

Borrowings Amortised cost

Intangible assets Historical cost, less 
accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses

Deferred tax liabilities Undiscounted amount 
measured at the tax rates that 
have been substantively 
enacted and are expected to 
apply to the period when the 
liability is realised

Goodwill Historical cost, less 
impairment losses

Provisions Present value of settlement 
amount

Loans receivable Amortised cost less 
impairment losses

page 51 Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017

 



for the year ended 30 June 2017

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.2 Basis of preparation continued

Statement  
of financial 
position caption

Measurement principle Statement  
of financial 
position caption

Measurement principle

Deferred tax assets Undiscounted amount 
measured at the tax rates 
that have been substantively 
enacted and are expected 
to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised

Trade and other 
payables

Amortised cost

Non-current assets 
held for sale

Lower of carrying amount 
and fair value, less costs 
to sell

Current tax liabilities Amount expected to be paid 
to tax authorities, using tax 
rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date

Inventories Lower of cost or net 
realisable value

Trade receivables Amortised cost, less 
impairments

Derivative liabilities Fair value through profit/(loss)

Prepayments Cost

Sundry debtors and 
advances

Amortised cost Bank overdraft Amortised cost

Current tax asset Amount expected to be 
recovered from tax 
authorities, using tax rates 
that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the 
reporting date

Vendor loan Amortised cost

Derivative assets Fair value through profit/(loss)

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Amortised cost

1.3 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities 
controlled by the company (“its subsidiaries”). Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group 
controls an investee when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvements 
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Power is 
achieved through existing rights that give rise to the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are included in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date control is obtained up to the date when 
control cease.

Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the company and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with those used by other members of the group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.3 Basis of consolidation continued

Subsidiaries continued
Changes in the group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the group’s 
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in 
the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
owners of the company.

When the group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between:
• the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; 

and
• the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any 

non-controlling interest

The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an equity-accounted investee.

Business combinations
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The cost of the business 
combination is the fair values at the date of exchange of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, 
and equity instruments issued by the group, in exchange for control of the acquiree. Costs directly 
attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which 
are amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any 
non-controlling interest.

Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the business combination at the fair value determined 
at the date of acquisition. Subsequent changes to the assets, liabilities or equity which arise as a result of 
the contingent consideration are not effected against goodwill, unless they are valid measurement period 
adjustments. The interest of non-controlling shareholders may be measured either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. When a business 
combination is achieved in stages, the group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are 
re-measured to fair value on the date the group attains control and the resulting gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss.

Where the previously held interest was classified as an available-for-sale financial asset, the cumulative fair 
value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are recognised in 
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. At the acquisition date, the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill in accordance with the group’s accounting policy for 
goodwill. The acquisition date is the date on which the group effectively obtains control of the acquiree. 
The excess of the fair value of the net identifiable assets and contingent liabilities of the entity acquired 
over the cost of acquisition results in a bargain purchase which is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

page 53 Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017

 



for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.3 Basis of consolidation continued

Business combinations continued
If the initial accounting for business combinations has been determined provisionally, then these 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period to reflect new information obtained 
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the date of acquisition that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts initially recognised. The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the 
date the group obtains complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date, subject to a maximum of one year.

Purchase of non-controlling interest in subsidiary
The cost of the purchase of shares is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of assets given at the 
date of exchange, liabilities incurred or assumed and the fair value of the equity instruments issued by the 
group in exchange for shares purchased in a controlled entity with the excess of the cost of the purchase 
of shares recognised in equity. 

1.4 Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. Costs include costs incurred initially to 
acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to or replace 
a part. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. Finance income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All 
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Property represents land and buildings which are owner occupied from a group perspective. Plant and 
equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Property is 
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Land is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment, excluding land, are depreciated on the straight-line basis at rates 
considered appropriate to reduce carrying amounts to estimated residual values over their estimated 
useful lives. Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation 
to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated separately. Depreciation ceases when residual value 
equals or exceeds the carrying amount of the specific item of property, plant and equipment.

The useful lives, depreciation method and residual values of the individual items of property, plant and 
equipment are reviewed on an annual basis and any revision to these are accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate in terms of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The estimated average useful lives for the current and comparative years of the classes of assets are as 
follows:
Furniture and fittings 6 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Rehabilitation asset Aligned to directly attributable asset
Vehicles 5 years
Plant and equipment 5 to 15 years
Plant buildings (included in plant and equipment) 30 to 50 years
Land Land is not depreciated
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.4 Property, plant and equipment continued

Property is not depreciated when the residual value of the properties exceed the carrying value. All 
properties owned by group entities are significantly owner occupied and therefore all cumulative fair 
value adjustments recognised in the standalone entities are eliminated on a group basis in line with the 
group’s accounting policy to measure property at cost less accumulated depreciation. Valuations are 
performed periodically to ensure that there is no indicators of impairment and to reassess the residual 
values of the buildings on an annual basis.

Derecognition
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be derecognised:
(a) on disposal; or
(b) when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
profit or loss when the item is derecognised. Gains are not included with revenue, but in other income.

Decommissioning and rehabilitation cost
Decommissioning and rehabilitation costs are recognised when a present legal obligation arises to 
restore the environment to its previous status or according to stipulated requirements in the mining 
licence. A decommissioning and rehabilitation provision is recognised at the present value of the 
estimated obligation and is increased annually with finance charges calculated at market-related 
discount rates and the unwinding of the provision is recognised in profit or loss.

An asset is recognised at the present value of the estimated rehabilitation obligation and is depreciated in 
accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of property, plant and equipment.

The estimated obligation will be evaluated annually. The effect of any changes to the existing obligation is 
added to or deducted from the cost of the related asset and depreciated progressively over the remaining 
useful life of the asset, ie treated as a change in estimate. The effects of discounting are recognised in 
profit or loss.

1.5 Financial instruments
Initial recognition
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument in another entity.

The group and company recognise a financial asset or a financial liability in their statement of financial 
position when the group and company become party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
The group and company’s financial instruments consist primarily of the following instruments and their 
measurement principles:

Class of instrument Initial measurement Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables
Fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs

Amortised cost using the effective 
interest method

Financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss

Fair value Fair value

Other financial liabilities 
Fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs

Amortised cost using the effective 
interest method
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.5 Financial instruments continued

Fair value
Where financial instruments are recognised at fair value, the instruments are measured at the price that 
should be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants on measurement date.

Fair values have been determined as follows:
• Where market prices are available, these have been used; and
• Where market prices are not available, fair values have been determined using valuation techniques 

incorporating observable market inputs or discounting expected cash flows at market rates.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend 
or interest earned on the financial asset.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and 
financial liability and of allocating finance income/cost over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all 
fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction cost 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or where appropriate, 
a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than 
those financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Impairment of non-derivative financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of 
impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the 
estimated future cash flows of the asset have been impacted.

For financial assets, measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, the following 
objective evidence is considered in determining when an impairment loss has been incurred:
• A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments; and
• It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation (such as 

business rescue).

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly 
for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance for credit losses account.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously impaired are credited against the allowance account. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. With the 
exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses are included in profit or loss, except to 
the extent they reverse gains previously recognised in other comprehensive income.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.5 Financial instruments continued

Derecognition of financial assets
The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise 
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group, comprising ordinary shares, are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of taxation, from the proceeds.

Treasury shares
Where the company or its subsidiaries purchase the company’s equity share capital, the shares are treated 
as treasury shares. The shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of 
shares and the amount paid, including any directly attributable incremental external costs net of income 
taxes relating to the shares, is deducted from share capital in the statement of financial position on 
consolidation. Dividends received on treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation. When treasury 
shares are subsequently reissued or sold, the amount received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is recognised as an increase in equity.

Reserves
The foreign currency translation reserve may be reclassified to profit or loss when the underlying subsidiary 
is derecognised or sold.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire.

1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The group assesses at the reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. If there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill) continued

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of a unit is less than 
the carrying amount of collective units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of 
the assets of the unit on the following basis:
Impairment losses are first recognised against goodwill and any surplus is recognised against other assets.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation 
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit and loss. Impairment losses on goodwill are not 
reversed.

1.7 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are recognised on business combinations if they are separable from the acquired entity 
or give rise to other contractual/legal rights. The amounts ascribed to such intangibles are arrived at by 
using appropriate valuation techniques.

1.7.1 Goodwill
Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset with any impairment being recognised in profit or loss.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset.

Goodwill is tested annually at the reporting date for impairment and measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Goodwill is 
allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to 
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the business combination in which the goodwill arose identified according to operating segment.

1.7.2 Other intangible assets
Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised in profit or 
loss when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) is recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;
• there is an ability to use or sell it;
• it will generate probable future economic benefits;
• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 

use or sell the asset; and
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The residual value, amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are 
reviewed annually.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and not yet in use are tested for impairment 
on an annual basis.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.7 Intangible assets continued

1.7.2 Other intangible assets continued
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not in use are tested for 
impairment on an annual basis.

The significant intangible assets recognised by the group along with its useful economic life, is as follows:
Intellectual property 15 – 30 years
Computer software 3 years
Development cost 10 – 15 years
Product registration 15 years

1.8 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs comprise direct materials and, where 
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in 
marketing, selling and distribution.

The inventory impairment allowance is calculated if there is any indication that the net realisable value of stock 
items is lower than their original cost price. Provisions are also raised for obsolete and slow moving stock if there 
is any uncertainty whether the value will not be fully recovered through the subsequent sale of the stock item.

1.9 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly 
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs of disposal. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the 
remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to financial assets, deferred tax 
assets, employee benefit assets, investment property or biological assets, which continue to be measured in 
accordance with the group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale 
and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement, are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or 
depreciated.

1.10 Leases
At inception of an arrangement, the group determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease. At 
inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the group separates payments and other 
consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of 
their relative fair values. If the group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the 
payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the 
underlying asset; subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the 
liability is recognised using the group’s incremental borrowing rate.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. The land and buildings elements of property leases are considered separately for the purposes of 
lease classification.

The group does not have any finance leases assets.

Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments is recognised as an 
operating lease asset or liability. Any contingent rent is expensed in the period it is incurred.

Lease income from operating leases shall be recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term with an accompanying operating lease asset or liability.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.11 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

Decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations
The directors estimate annually any decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations which might exist at 
the reporting date.

The estimate is made after taking into account the extent of the obligation and any requirements relating 
to the obligation.

This obligation arose out of the Silica mining segment, now discontinued, and the requirements in the 
mining licence as well as the Chemicals segment for the underground storage tanks. Refer to note 13.

Loans and receivables
Allowance for impairment of financial assets
An estimate is made for credit losses based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the reporting date, 
taking into account the difference between the carrying amount of assets and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. Credit 
losses are recognised directly in profit or loss in the year in which they are identified. Refer to note 5.

The directors assess the loans and receivables for impairment at each reporting date. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recognised in profit or loss, the directors make judgements as to 
whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from 
the financial asset.

The impairment of loans and receivables is based on the amounts outstanding, which management 
assesses as irrecoverable.

The estimate is based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the reporting date. Where possible, the 
impairment is estimated per debtor. Refer to note 5. 

Useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment
Useful lives, depreciation methods, and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed annually. For residual values, the estimates are made after taking into account the condition and 
age of the item if it were at the end of its useful life.

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the estimate of income tax due to the complexity of legislation. 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax recognised in the period in which such 
determination is made.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.11 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions continued

The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of 
deferred tax assets requires the group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable 
income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application 
of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly 
from estimates, the ability of the group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the 
reporting period could be impacted.

Estimated tax loss
The group determines the tax expenses and deferred tax calculation on the estimated tax loss of the individual 
subsidiaries. The estimated tax loss is calculated as per the South African Revenue Service (“SARS”) stipulations, 
indicated in the Income Tax Act, No 71 of 2008. Once SARS has assessed the company and agrees with the 
calculation of the estimated assessed loss, SARS grants the company an assessed loss. Should the situation occur 
that SARS does not agree with the estimated assessed loss, it will be rectified in the first tax expense calculation 
being performed with clear indication of such an event.

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 
calculations and fair values less cost to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is 
reasonably possible that the assumptions may change which may then impact estimates and may then require a 
material adjustment to the carrying value of assets.

The group tests annually whether goodwill has been impaired, in accordance with the accounting policy stated 
in note 1.7.1 for goodwill. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on 
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. 

1.12 Taxation
Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, 
except to the extent that the tax arises from:
• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or 
• a business combination. 

Current tax and deferred taxes are recognised directly in equity if the tax relates to items that are recognised, in 
the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any 
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or 
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty 
related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already 
paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised 
as an asset.

Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid 
to/(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.12 Taxation continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the 
consolidated statement of financial position differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on:
• the initial recognition of goodwill;
• the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time 

of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit; and
• investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the group is able to control the timing of the 

reversal of the difference and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on business plans for individual subsidiaries in 
the group and the reversal of temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are 
settled/(recovered).

Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in 
which case the deferred tax is recognised in equity.

Dividend withholding tax
Dividend withholding tax replaced secondary taxation on companies (“STC”) effective 1 April 2012. It is a 
tax levied on the beneficial owner of the shares when dividends are declared or paid. The tax is withheld 
by the group and paid over to SARS on behalf of the shareholder. 

1.13 Provisions
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past 
transactions and are discounted at a pre-tax rate reflecting current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provisions, due to passage of time, is 
recognised as finance costs in profit or loss.

1.14 Revenue
Sale of goods
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts 
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, 
volume rebates and value added tax.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:
• The group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• The group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the group; and
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Other revenue earned by the group is recognised on the following basis:

Rendering of services
Revenue from the rendering of services will be recognised when the outcome of the transaction involving 
the service can be estimated reliably.

Monthly services rendered will be recognised on a monthly basis after the service has been performed.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.15 Other income

Rental income from leasing of property (operating lease)
Rental income is recognised on the accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 
agreement.

Finance income
Finance income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

1.16 Dividends
Dividend distribution to the group’s shareholders is recognised in the statement of changes in equity upon 
authorisation of a dividend by the board in adherence to the memorandum of incorporation.

1.17 Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions entered into by group entities in a currency other than the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which they operate (their functional currency) are recorded at the rates ruling when the 
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at 
the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of unsettled monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition, are translated into rand at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The income and expenses 
of foreign operations are translated into rand at the average exchange rate for the period in which they 
arise. Foreign currency differences relating to the translation of the assets and liabilities, and the income 
and expenses of foreign operations are recognised in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, 
except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

1.18 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and bonuses) is recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and 
is not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense in profit or loss as the 
employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, 
when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense in profit or loss when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance. Bonuses remain at the 
discretion of the remuneration committee.

Defined contribution plans
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
when incurred.

1.19 Earnings per share
The company presents basic and diluted earnings per share for its ordinary shares. Basic and diluted 
earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. In instances 
when the company does not have any potential ordinary shares, basic and diluted earnings per share 
would be equal.

1.20 Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per ordinary share are calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue during the period and are based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after 
excluding those items as required by the latest circular issued by the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (“SAICA”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.21 Events after the reporting period

Should events after the reporting date but prior to authorisation of the financial statements be confirmation of 
circumstances existing prior to the reporting date, the financial statements will be accordingly adjusted to 
include the effects of the events. However, should such events not have any bearing on circumstances that 
existed prior to the reporting date, such events will be disclosed separately in the notes to the financial 
statements. Such disclosure includes the nature of the event and its estimated financial effects.

1.22 Contingent liabilities
A description of contingent liabilities is disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of the 
outflow of economic benefits is remote. Assessment of the likelihood of the economic outflows taking 
place is reviewed on a continual basis.

The contingent liabilities are disclosed by providing an estimate of the financial effect as well as any 
uncertainties in relation to the financial effects and the timing of the economic outflow and/or inflow that 
may take place.

1.23 Discontinued operation
A discontinued operation is a component of the group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which 
can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the group and which:
• represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations;
• is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area 

of operations; or
• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal, when the operation meets the 
criteria to be classified as held-for-sale or when it is decided to abandon a component.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or loss 
and OCI is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2017
The following accounting policies are standards which have been issued with effective dates subsequent 
to the financial period under review and which have not been early adopted:

Standard Details of amendment

Date effective 
for annual 
periods 
beginning 
on or after

IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
with Customers

The FASB and IASB issued their standard on revenue recognition 
on 29 May 2014. It is a single, comprehensive revenue 
recognition model for all contracts with customers to achieve 
greater consistency in the recognition and presentation of 
revenue. Revenue is recognised based on the satisfaction 
of performance obligations, which occurs when control of 
goods or services transfers to a customer.

Impact: The most significant impact is expected on the revenue 
recognition and disclosure of the Water division entities. The 
revenue generated in those entities is over a fixed-term contract 
and also incorporate a solution type sale which has a labour as 
well as product component. However, the price charged is fixed 
irrespective of the mix of those components. The long-term 
contracts will have to be assessed as the requirements of IFRS 15 
will have an impact on the timing of profit recognition on long-
term contracts within the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

1 January 2018
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2017 continued

Standard Details of amendment

Date effective 
for annual 
periods 
beginning 
on or after

Amendment to 
IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
with Customers

The IASB has amended IFRS 15 to clarify the guidance, but there 
were no major changes to the standard itself. The amendments 
comprise clarifications of the guidance on identifying performance 
obligations, accounting for licences of intellectual property and the 
principal versus agent assessment (gross versus net revenue 
presentation). New and amended illustrative examples have been 
added for each of these areas of guidance. The IASB has also 
included additional practical expedients related to the transition to 
the new revenue standard.

Impact: Reassessment of revenue and interest recognition specifically 
relating to long-term contracts. Impacts timing of profit recognition 
on long-term contracts within the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments (2009 
and 2010)
• Financial 

liabilities
• Derecognition 

of financial 
instruments

• Financial assets
• General hedge 

accounting

This IFRS is part of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 
addresses classification and measurement of financial assets and 
replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 
39 with a single model that has only two classification categories: 
amortised cost and fair value. The IASB has updated IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments to include guidance on financial liabilities and 
derecognition of financial instruments. The accounting and 
presentation for financial liabilities and for derecognising financial 
instruments has been relocated from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, without change, except for financial 
liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Impact: The group holds financial assets and liabilities to earn and 
settle contractual cash flows, hence it is expected that these assets 
and liabilities will continue to be recognised at amortised cost. 
Derivative instruments held to cover liquidity risk are immaterial and 
expected to continue to be recognised at fair value. The group is still 
currently quantifying the impact of the change from the “incurred 
loss” model as required by IAS 39 to the “expected credit loss” 
model as required by IFRS 9. It is, however, expected that the 
allowance for credit losses will be recognised earlier. Management is, 
however, still assessing the difference.

1 January 2018

Amendment to 
IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments, on 
general hedge 
accounting

The IASB has amended IFRS 9 to align hedge accounting more 
closely with an entity’s risk management. The revised standard also 
establishes a more principles-based approach to hedge accounting 
and addresses inconsistencies and weaknesses in the current model 
in IAS 39.

Impact: No impact expected.

1 January 2018
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2017 continued

Standard Details of amendment

Date effective 
for annual 
periods 
beginning 
on or after

Amendments to 
IFRS 10 
Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements and 
IAS 28 
Investments in 
Associates and 
Joint Ventures on 
sale or 
contribution of 
assets

The postponement applies to changes introduced by the IASB 
in 2014 through narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures. Those changes affect how an entity should determine any 
gain or loss it recognises when assets are sold or contributed 
between the entity and an associate or joint venture in which it 
invests. The changes do not affect other aspects of how entities 
account for their investments in associates and joint ventures. The 
reason for making the decision to postpone the effective date is that 
the IASB is planning a broader review that may result in the 
simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects 
of accounting for associates and joint ventures.

Impact: The impact of the proposed amendment will be evaluated 
once the IASBIS broader review is completed.

Effective date 
postponed

Amendments to 
IFRS 2 Share-
Based Payments

This amendment clarifies the measurement basis for cash settled, 
share-based payments and the accounting for modifications that 
change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. It also 
introduces an exception to the principles in IFRS 2 that will 
require an award to be treated as if it was wholly equity-settled, 
where an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the 
employee’s tax obligation associated with a share-based payment 
and pay that amount to the tax authority.

Impact: No impact as the group does not have share-based 
payment currently.

1 January 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign 
Currency 
Transactions and 
Advance 
Consideration

This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 
transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or 
priced in a foreign currency. The interpretation provides guidance 
for when a single payment/receipt is made, as well as for 
situations where multiple payment/receipts are made. The 
guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. 

Impact: No significant impact expected because the group does 
not have material foreign operations.

1 January 2018

Amendment to 
IAS12 Income Tax

The amendments were issued to clarify the requirements for 
recognising deferred tax assets on unrealised losses. The 
amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax where an 
asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is below the 
asset’s tax base. They also clarify certain other aspects of 
accounting for deferred tax assets. 

Impact: The amendments clarify the existing guidance under 
IAS 12. They do not change the underlying principles for the 
recognition of deferred tax assets.

1 January 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2017 continued

Standard Details of amendment

Date effective 
for annual 
periods 
beginning 
on or after

Amendment to 
IAS 7 Cash Flow 
Statements

In January 2016, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 7 
introducing an additional disclosure that will enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities. The amendment responds to requests from 
investors for information that helps them better understand 
changes in an entity’s debt. The amendment will affect every 
entity preparing IFRS financial statements. However, the 
information required should be readily available. Preparers should 
consider how best to present the additional information to 
explain the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

Impact: Additional disclosures relating to the cash flow statement.

1 January 2017

IFRS 16 Leases This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 and is a far 
reaching change in accounting by lessees in particular.

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction 
between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating 
lease (off balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to 
recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a 
“right-of-use asset” for virtually all lease contracts. The IASB has 
included an optional exemption for certain short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets; however, this exemption can only be 
applied by lessees.

For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as 
the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition of a lease 
(as well as the guidance on the combination and separation of 
contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new standard.

At the very least, the new accounting model for lessees is 
expected to impact negotiations between lessors and lessees. 
Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether 
an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases – 
Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

Impact: The accounting for leases which will result in the 
recognition of the obligation and asset for long-term leases, 
of which the leasing of offices and warehouses is expected 
to be most material. 

1 January 2019
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2017 continued

Standard Details of amendment

Date effective 
for annual 
periods 
beginning 
on or after

Annual 
improvements 
2014 – 2016

These amendments impact three standards:
• IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of IFRS, regarding the deletion of 

short-term exemptions for first-time adopters regarding IFRS 7, 
IAS 19 and IFRS 10.

• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities regarding 
clarification of the scope of the standard. The amendment 
clarified that the disclosure requirement of IFRS 12 is applicable 
to interest in entities classified as held for sale except for 
summarised financial information (paragraph B17 of IFRS 12). 
Previously, it was unclear whether all other IFRS 12 
requirements were applicable for these interests. These 
amendments should be applied retrospectively.

• IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures regarding 
measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value. IAS 28 
allows venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts 
and similar entities to elect measuring their investments in 
associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”). The IASB clarified that this election should be made 
separately for each associate or joint venture at initial 
recognition.

Impact: No significant impact expected in terms of IFRS 1 and 
IAS 28 because the group is not a first-time IFRS reporter and 
does not have any investment in associate. When the group has 
interest in entities classified as held for sale, then the amendment 
to IFRS 12 will be applied.

1 January 2018

1 January 2017

1 January 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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Land and 
buildings

R’000

Furniture 
and 

fittings
R’000

Computer 
equip-

ment
R’000

Vehicles
R’000

Rehab-
ilitation 

asset
R’000

Mining
 licence

R’000

Plant and 
equip-

ment
R’000

Total 
R’000

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT
Group
– Cost  45 378  5 146  7 348  22 504  4 609  1 483  102 472  188 940 
–  Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment  (3 057)  (3 327)  (5 838)  (15 379)  (266)  (69)  (45 264)  (73 200)

Restated carrying amount at 
30 June 2015  42 321  1 819  1 510  7 125  4 343  1 414  57 208  115 740 

Net exchange differences to 
foreign currency translation 
reserve  666 51 8 88  –  – 13  826 
Acquired through business 
combination  –  16  16  1 624  –  –  69  1 725 
Additions  2 325  332  493  3 734  –  623  11 208  18 715 
Disposals  (26)  (89)  (136)  (742)  –  –  (5 043)  (6 036)
Depreciation  (359)  (493)  (765)  (2 820)  (724)  –  (4 215)  (9 376)
– Cost  48 633  5 538  7 675  29 716  4 609  2 106  107 503  205 780 
–  Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment  (3 706)  (3 902)  (6 549)  (20 707)  (990)  (69)  (48 263)  (84 186)

Restated carrying amount at 
30 June 2016  44 927  1 636  1 126  9 009  3 619  2 037  59 240  121 594 

Net exchange differences to 
foreign currency translation 
reserve  (434)  (30)  (1)  (31)  –  –  (10)  (506)
Additions  1 410  520  1 019  1 248  2 722  528  5 087  12 534 
Disposals  –  (1)  (218)  (70)  –  –  (1 814)  (2 103)
Impairment  (3 910)  (23)  (49)  (1 287) (2 895)  (2 565)  (8 832)  (19 561)
Depreciation  (413)  (398)  (567)  (1 654)  (724)  –  (3 895)  (7 651)
– Cost  49 252  5 881  7 088 29 594  7 331  2 634  108 437  210 217 
–  Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment  (7 672)  (4 177)  (5 778)  (22 379)  (4 609)  (2 634)  (58 661)  (105 910)

Carrying amount at 30 June 
2017  41 580  1 704  1 310  7 215  2 722 –  49 776  104 307 

Property, plant and equipment was restated due to errors and reclassifications (refer to note 33).

Included in total plant and equipment are assets with the following carrying amounts which have been 
encumbered as security for repayment of instalment sale liabilities (refer to note 10):
• Vehicles R3,6 million (2016: R4,3 million)
• Plant and equipment R6,1 million (2016: R10,2 million)

The directors performed an impairment test on the assets. Refer to note 33 for details on these impairments 
recognised.

The rehabilitation asset relating to the Silica Mine was fully impaired due to the decision to cease mining 
operations. The rehabilitation asset that remains relates to underground storage tank decommissioning.
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Intellectual
 Property

R’000

Computer
 software

R’000

Develop-
ment
 cost

R’000

Product 
registration

R’000
Goodwill

R’000
Total

R’000

3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
– Cost  26 041  38  29 076 5 009  95 001  155 165 
–  Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (918)  –  (1 624)  (2 247)  –  (4 789)

Restated carrying amount at 30 June 2015  25 123  38  27 452  2 762  95 001  150 376 

Acquisitions  1 200 654 6 262 616  –  8 732 
Acquired through business combinations  –  –  –  –  115 226  115 226 
Derecognition of intangible assets – – (137) –  – (137)
Net exchange differences to foreign currency 
translation reserve  –  –  – 135  16 151
Impairment  –  –  –  –  (9 548)  (9 548)
Amortisation  –  (263)  (2 389)  (355)  –  (3 007)
– Cost  27 239 692 35 033 5 774  210 243  278 981 
–  Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (916)  (263)  (3 845)  (2 616)  (9 548)  (17 188)

Restated carrying amount at 30 June 2016  26 323 429  31 188  3 158  200 695  261 793 

Additions  5 581 83 5 644  3 577  –  14 885 
Derecognition of intangible assets (8) –  –  –  –  (8)
Net exchange differences to foreign currency 
translation reserve  –  –  –  (78)  –  (78)
Impairment  –  –  –  –  (1 616)  (1 616)
Amortisation  (2 940)  (316)  (2 090)  (458)  –  (5 804)
– Cost  32 820  737  40 647  9 275  210 243  293 722 
–  Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (3 864)  (541)  (5 905)  (3 076)  (11 164)  (24 550)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2017  28 956  196  34 742  6 199  199 079  269 172 

Intangible assets and goodwill were restated due to errors and reclassifications (refer to note 32).

Development cost consists of internally developed products within Rolfes Agri. It is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over a period of 15 years.

Amortisation is included in operating profit before interest operating expenses (other) and cost of sales line items, in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (refer to note 18).

The useful lives of the water formulations were reassessed and changed from 15 to 30 years, as based on experience 
water formulas have a long useful life based on their nature.

The directors review the intangible assets annually to identify any impairment losses to be recognised. Refer to note 33 
for impairment loss recognised.
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3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL continued
3.1 Goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following significant individual 
cash-generating units:

Agriculture
R’000

Food
R’000

Chemicals
R’000

Colour
R’000

Water
R’000

Silica (dis-
continued)

R’000
Total

R’000

– Cost 30 967  –  36 949  6 712  18 757  1 616  95 001 
–  Accumulated 

impairment –  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Restated carrying 
amount at 30 June 2015 30 967  –  36 949  6 712  18 757  1 616  95 001 

Acquired through 
business combinations –  115 226  –  –  –  –  115 226 
Net exchange 
differences to foreign 
currency translation 
reserve –  –  –  –  16  –  16 
Impairment –  –  –  –  (9 548)  –  (9 548)
– Cost 30 967  115 226  36 949  6 712  18 773  1 616  210 243 
–  Accumulated 

impairment –  –  –  –  (9 548)  –  (9 548)

Restated carrying 
amount at 30 June 2016 30 967  115 226  36 949  6 712  9 225  1 616  200 695 

Impairment –  –  –  –  –  (1 616)  (1 616)
– Cost 30 967  115 226  36 949  6 712  18 773  1 616  210 243 
–  Accumulated 

impairment –  –  –  –  (9 548)  (1 616)  (11 164)

Carrying amount at 30 
June 2017 30 967  115 226  36 949  6 712  9 225  –  199 079 

Impairment of goodwill
The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. The 
group’s goodwill was tested for impairment at the reporting date based on discounted cash flows of each 
cash-generating unit. Where deemed significant, the assessments were performed in conjunction with valuations 
obtained from an independent, suitably qualified expert.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These 
calculations use discounted cash flow projections based on financial forecasts, approved by management, over a 
five-year period. Key assumptions applied in value-in-use calculations of the cash-generating unit’s revenue, gross 
margin and cost forecasts are based on historical performance or, where not appropriate, management’s views 
and estimates.

Refer to note 33 for the discount rates used per segment. These rates reflects the current market assessments of 
the time value of money and specific risks of the cash-generating unit. The discount rate is arrived at after taking 
into account the following factors:
• the level of risk of the cash-generating unit; and
• the opportunity cost of capital.

The impairment recognised in the 2016 financial period relates to the Botswana Water business due to poor 
financial performance.

The impairment recognised in the 2017 financial period relates to the discontinuance of the Silica mining operations.
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2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

4. INVENTORIES
Finished goods  165 932 245 904
Raw materials  73 820  22 682 
Work in progress  3 898  10 198 
Goods in transit  50 968  57 926 
Consumable stores  1 897  1 670 
Inventory net realisable value adjustment (20 933)  (1 752)

275 582  336 628 

Inventory written off to net realisable value during the year 24 908  7 407 

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period and included in cost 
of sales amounted to  1 090 891  964 293 

During 2017 management made a decision to discontinue the Silica operations. The net realisable value of the 
inventory on hand was determined based on current offers being considered to sell the assets relating to the Silica 
operations. The inventory on hand was therefore written down to the expected net realisable value and a net 
realisable value allowance of R19,97 million was recognised against the inventory. The write-down was recognised in 
cost of sales.

No inventories are expected to be recovered after more than 12 months.

Inventory has also been ceded to Investec Bank Limited as security for debt obtained from the bank (refer to note 10).

2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables  200 395  207 705 
Foreign trade receivables

2017
 ‘000

2016
 ‘000

US dollar (“USD”)  704  639  9 165  9 369 
Euro (“EUR”)  487  112  7 214  1 838 
Zambian kwacha (“ZMK”)  3 205  2 242  4 582  3 375 
Botswana pula (“BWP”)  1 000  –  1 278  – 

Romanian lei (“RON”)  2 856  2 709  9 334  9 764 

Allowance for credit losses  (7 236)  (1 518)
Financial assets 224 732 230 533

Prepaid expenses  902  8 301 
VAT receivable  7 712  16 813 
Deposits  784  903 
Sundry debtors  3 676  12 765 
Salary advance  11  73 

 237 817  269 388 
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2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued
Trade receivables (net of allowances) held by the group amounted to:  224 731  230 533 

Neither past due nor impaired  191 096  196 247 

No interest is charged on trade receivables.

Before accepting any new customers, the group uses credit references, credit 
history, bank codes and credit rating information to assess the potential customer’s 
credit quality, and credit limits are defined per customer.

Past due but not impaired  31 889  34 286 

Included in the group’s trade receivables are past due trade receivables at the 
reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has not been a 
significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered 
recoverable. The historic default rate for debtors that are not past due and not 
impaired is less than 2%. The group holds personal or other surety over some of 
these balances.

Ageing of past due but not impaired:
Past due 1 – 30 days  12 694  16 699 
Past due 30 – 60 days  8 069  7 424 
Past due 60+ days  11 126  10 163 

 31 889  34 286 

Analysis of impaired trade receivables:
Included in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are individually 
impaired trade receivables with a gross value of R8,98 million (2016: R1,52 million). 
The impairment recognised represents the difference between the carrying value 
of these trade receivables and the present value of any expected collections. All 
impairment amounts incurred during the year are charged to the income statement 
and recorded within operating costs.

Gross value of trade receivables that have been individually impaired  8 982  1 518 
Less: Impairment loss against these trade receivables  (7 236)  (1 518)

 1 746 –

Ageing of gross value of trade receivables that have been individually impaired:
Current  1 072  55 
Past due 1 – 30 days  115  65 
Past due 30 – 60 days  316  165 
Past due 60+ days  7 479  1 233 

 8 982  1 518 

Movement in the allowance for credit losses:
Balance at the beginning of the year  1 518 –
Increase due to acquisitions –  3 386 
Movement in allowance  5 718  (1 868)

Balance at the end of the year  7 236  1 518 

Impairment losses recognised on receivables  13 472 –

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the group considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit 
risk is limited due to a large and unrelated customer base. Accordingly, the directors believe that there is no 
further credit allowance required.

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value, due to the short-term nature of the 
receivables.
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2017
R’000

2016
R’000

6. SHORT-TERM LOANS
Current assets
Avison Proprietary Limited  –  4 811 
Sorin Purcharea  –  72 

 –  4 883 

Current liabilities
Sorin Purcharea  –  25 

 –  25 

•  A provision of R4,38 million was raised against the Avison loan in the current financial period. The remaining 
portion was received during the year.

• The carrying amounts of short-term loans is an approximation of their fair values.
• Other loans do not accrue interest and are unsecured.
• All short-term loans were receivable or payable within the 12 months following the reporting date.
• There was no change in these terms from the 2016 reporting period.

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

7. STATED CAPITAL
Authorised
500 000 000 ordinary shares of R0,01 each  5 000  5 000 

Issued
161 942 800 (2016: 161 942 800) ordinary shares of R0,01 each  1 619  1 619 

Unissued ordinary shares of R0,01 each  3 381 3 381

   

7.1 Fully paid ordinary shares

Number 
of 

shares 

Share 
capital 
R’000

Share 
premium 

R’000

Stated
 capital 

R’000

Balance at 30 June 2015  108 609 467  1 086  49 802 50 888

Issue of shares  53 333 333  533  159 467 160 000
Share issue costs  –  –  (2 300) (2 300)

Balance at 30 June 2016  161 942 800  1 619  206 969 208 588

Balance at 30 June 2017  161 942 800  1 619  206 969 208 588

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of R0,01, carry one vote per share and carry the right to 
dividends.

Subject to meeting the relevant requirements of the Companies Act of 2008, the JSE Listings Requirements and 
obtaining the necessary JSE approval, the board may be given approval to issue authorised shares through either 
a special resolution or an ordinary resolution by shareholders.

A special resolution is required in instances of shares being issued to:
• a director, future director, prescribed officer or future prescribed officer of the company; or
• a person related or inter-related to the company or to a director or prescribed officer of the company; or
• a nominee of any person described above.

Furthermore, a special resolution is required in instances where the proposed share issue will have an impact on 
the voting power of the class of shares being issued, equal to or greater than 30% of the voting power of the 
class of shares prior to the share issue taking place.

All other proposed issuings of a class of shares require an ordinary resolution from shareholders.
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2017
R’000

2016
R’000

8. TREASURY SHARES
Listed
At cost (prior year – at cost) 

Rolfes Holdings Limited  (868)  (868)

Rolfes Asset Holding Proprietary Limited holds 641 332 ordinary shares in the company.

The shareholding adheres to the requirements of the JSE Limited and the memorandum of incorporation of  
the company.

9. RESERVES
Nature and purpose of reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign operations.

Revaluation surplus
The revaluation surplus related to the revaluation of property. This error was corrected through the restatements. 
Refer to note 32 for more details.

Other comprehensive income accumulated in reserves, net of tax Group

 Foreign
 currency

 translation 
reserve* 
 R’000 

 Revaluation 
surplus* 
 R’000 

Restated
 Total* 

 R’000 

Restated carrying value 30 June 2015  215  –  215 

Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences  (2 272)  –  (2 272)

Restated carrying value 30 June 2016  (2 057)  –  (2 057)

Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences  1 360  1 360 

Carrying value 30 June 2017  (697)  –  (697)

* Refer to note 32 for details on the restatement.
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2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

10. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
Secured  245 692 246 711
– Instalment sale agreements 8 796 13 419
– Medium-term bank loans 236 896 233 292

Short-term portion  (24 040) (23 351)

 221 652 223 360

Instalment sale agreements – secured over motor vehicles 3 556 4 443
Instalment sale agreements – secured over plant and equipment 6 141 8 976
Instalment sale agreements bear average interest of 11,65% 10,24%

Carrying 
value 

30 June 
2017

Effective 
interest 

rate 
%

Months 
to repay

Last 
payment

Carrying 
value 

30 June 
2016

A medium-term loan was obtained by Rolfes
Holdings Limited for funding purposes 90 000 11,13 51 13/10/2021  110 000 
A medium-term working capital facility loan 142 673 12,16 51 13/10/2021  118 355 
A bond was registered over the construction 
of a building in Gaborone, Botswana 4 223 8,30 102 30/08/2024  4 937

Total                                   236 896  233 292

The working capital facility’s limit is reset on a monthly basis. The limit available for draw down is based on the 
qualifying debtors and inventory held by Rolfes Agri Proprietary Limited, Bragan Food Ingredients Proprietary 
Limited, Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited and Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited.

The facility available will therefore track the seasonality experienced by these subsidiaries as the demand for 
working capital increases and decreases. This is a long-term facility and is therefore not expected to be repaid in 
full in the next 12 months.

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Total minimum payments
Total payments
– Repayments  270 845  319 621 
– Finance cost  (25 153)  (72 910)

Present value  245 692  246 711 

Payments – up to one year
– Minimum repayments  33 891  35 575 
– Finance cost  (9 851)  (12 224)

Present value  24 040  23 351 

Payments – two years and more
– Minimum repayments  236 954  284 046 
– Finance cost  (15 302)  (60 686)

Present value  221 652  223 360

The fair value of the medium-term loans and instalment sale agreements are approximately equal to their carrying 
value.
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10. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES continued
As security for the funding obtained from Investec Bank Limited, the following has been granted by the group:
• General notarial bond over inventory owned by the group;
• Cession of debtors’ books owned by the group;
• GNB/SNB over plant and equipment (where unencumbered in terms of instalment sales agreement or finance 

leases) owned by the group;
• First covering mortgage bond over properties;
• Cross guarantees from all wholly owned subsidiary companies;
• Cession of shares and claims of all wholly owned subsidiary companies;
• Cession of bank accounts owned by the group;
• Cession of CGIC policies owned by the group;
• Cession of insurance policies owned by the group;
• Negative pledge from all wholly owned subsidiaries and the company; and
• Subordination of all shareholder loans and claims in the group.

2017
 R’000 

2016
 R’000 

11. VENDOR LOAN

The R12 million vendor loan in 2015 related to the purchase consideration payable 
for the acquisition of the remaining 30% shareholding of Tetralon Chemical 
Consultancy Proprietary Limited. This loan was settled during the year.
Opening balance  –  17 935 
Contingent consideration reversed  –  (17 935)

Closing balance  –  –

12. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY/(ASSET)
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences arising on assets and liabilities using a tax rate of 28%. 
Movement on the deferred tax account is indicated below:

2017
R’000

Restated 
2016

R’000

Opening balance  16 752 21 497
Per the income statement  (9 472)  (5 925) 
Foreign currency adjustment   –  (10)
Change through acquisition   –  (1 129)
Change through disposal   –  2 319 

Closing balance  7 280  16 752 

Movement on deferred tax was recognised as follows:
– In profit or loss  (9 472)  (5 925) 

 (9 472)  (5 925) 
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12. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY/(ASSET) continued

2017
R’000

Restated 
2016

R’000

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability
Property, plant and equipment  22 862  19 131 
Estimated tax loss  (14 038)  (4 691)
Capital loss  (39)  (39)
Intangible assets  2 966  4 871 
Leave pay provision  (848)  (726)
Operating lease smoothing  (17)  (16)
Other  55  (201)
Provisions  (2 434)  (753)
Rehabilitation provision –  (825)
Impairment of loan  (1 227)   – 

Closing balance  7 280  16 751 

The closing balance can be broken down as follows:
– Deferred tax liability  27 526 28 004
– Deferred tax asset  (20 246) (11 253)

7 280 16 751

There are no time limits on the utilisation of unused tax losses.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which to utilise the deferred 
tax asset.

The tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income, consist of the 
following gross amounts in the individual companies:

Recognised:
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited 16 963 13 575
Rolfes Holdings Limited 28 569 2 643
Rolfes Water Proprietary Limited 2 131   – 
Gallus Technologia Ventersdorp Proprietary Limited 2 474 536

50 136 16 754

Unrecognised:
Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited 45 961 –

45 961 –

The recognised estimated tax losses arose from trading losses and will be utilised in future periods against 
taxable profit. The unrecognised tax loss relating to Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited does not expire, but is not 
expected to be utilised due to the discontinuing of the operations.
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2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

13. PROVISIONS
Decommissioning and rehabilitation provision
Opening balance  7 548  2 836 
Restatements  –  4 342 
Provisions raised during the current year  5 240  – 
National finance charges (Silica – discontinued operations)  934  370 

Closing balance  13 722  7 548 

Due after more than a year 13 722  7 548 

Total provisions  13 722  7 548 

Split of the provision between Silica and Chemicals
2017

R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

– Rolfes Silica  11 000  7 548 
– Rolfes Chemicals  2 722  – 

Upon the closure of the Silica mining operations there will be an expected outflow of economic benefits in the 
form of the rehabilitation of the site where the mining operations took place. The expected timing and amount of 
the outflows are uncertain at this stage. The long-term target inflation rate of 6% and RSA R187 bond rate of 
8,7% was used in the calculation of the provisions.

2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables     119 421 165 805
Foreign trade payables

2017
 ‘000

2016
 ‘000

US dollar (“USD”)  4 812  6 350  62 819  93 171 

Euro (“EUR”)  257  296  3 839  4 849 

Financial liabilities 186 079 263 825

Accruals  13 130  3 569 
Leave pay accrual  5 010  3 706 
Bonus accrual  403  1 449 
Credit cards  94  22 
VAT payable  2 187  5 643 
Sundry creditors 1 980 2 389

Total trade and other payables  208 883 280 603

The carrying value of trade and other payables approximates its fair value, due to the short-term nature of the 
payables.
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2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Call account  2 851  7 351 
Current bank account  61 258  36 497 

2017
 ‘000

2016
 ‘000

US dollar (“USD”) account  319  159  4 164  2 338 
Euro (“EUR”) account  974  50  1 393  824 
Zambian kwacha (“ZMK”) account  56  1 709  828  2 572 
Botswana pula (“BWP”) account  462 –  590 –
Romanian lei (“RON”) account  246  172  807  619 

Petty cash  79  52 

 71 970 50 253

Bank overdraft  – 1 854

Statement of cash flows  71 970  48 399

2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

16. DERIVATIVE LIABILITY
Foreign exchange contracts – liabilities  780 3 509

 780  3 509

The forward exchange contracts will be settled within 12 months.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding 
forward foreign exchange contracts amounted to:

2017
‘000

2016
‘000

US dollar (“USD”)  3 824  6 685 

Euro (“EUR”)  265  185 

2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

17. REVENUE (continuing operations)
Revenue arises from the following activities:
Sale of goods  1 437 409  1 310 387 

 1 437 409  1 310 387 

Refer to note 31 for the revenue from discontinued operations.
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2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

18. OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE INTEREST FOR  
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Operating profit before interest is arrived at after taking the following items into 
account:
Rental income  9 095  1 950 
Profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment 603  (1 104)

Items in other gains and losses 9 698  846 

Realised foreign currency transaction losses/(gains)  (936)  4 516 

Foreign currency translation (gains)/losses  (936)  4 516 

Depreciation and amortisation included with cost of goods sold 2 694  2 003 
Depreciation and amortisation included with operating expenses 10 760 9 581

Depreciation and amortisation 13 454 11 584

Legal fees  1 704  3 062 
Auditor’s remuneration  1 117  1 004 
Research costs expensed and not capitalised  3 778  78 

6 599 4 144
Impairment of goodwill (note 33)  1 616  10 324 
Impairment of Avison loan (note 33)  4 380  – 

Impairment 5 996  10 324 

Bad debts 12 964 (1 652)
Donations 1 225 766
Insurance 5 911 6 494

Repairs and maintenance 3 422 2 948

Executive directors’ emoluments for services as directors  7 980  5 871 
Non-executive directors’ emoluments for services as directors  1 755  1 327 
Other salaries and wages 92 944  90 568 
Salaries and wages included in cost of sales 23 640 29 731
Contributions to pension and provident funds  5 182 4 884

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in profit or loss for 
the year 8 339  4 558 

At the end of the reporting period, the group had outstanding commitments for 
future minimum lease payments under fixed-term operating leases, which fall due 
as follows:
Within one year  3 225  4 888 
In two to five years  546  21 703 

The material leasing arrangements of the group consist of leasing arrangements 
for plant and equipment. These arrangements include terms of renewal that vary 
between one and five years. There are no options to purchase and escalation 
clauses refer to market rates.

Annually renewable lease costs for the year consist of rentals payable by the 
subsidiaries for selected items of plant and equipment, which are eliminated on 
consolidation.
Premises  6 331  3 180 
Equipment  –  185 

 6 331  3 365

page 81 Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017

 



for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

19. THE GROUP AS A LESSOR
Leasing arrangements
Rental agreements relate to property owned by the group with lease terms of one year, with an option to extend 
for a further one year. All contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option 
to renew. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry period.

2017
R’000

Restated 
2016

R’000

Rental income earned by the group from property which is leased out under 
operating leases amounted to:  9 095 1 950
Total future minimum lease income under non-cancellable operating leases for the 
following periods:
Not later than one year  8 441  7 956 
In two to five years  6 330  19 865

20. FINANCE COST
Finance costs relate to the following items:
Creditors on overdue balances  182  – 
Instalment sale agreements  2 442  5 383 
Current account  1 144  – 
Interest-bearing liabilities  27 004  21 551 
Other finance cost relating to restatements  –  4 876 
Acquisition vendor interest  –  2 160 

 30 772  33 970

21. FINANCE INCOME
Finance income relates to the following items:
Current account 4 758  1 258 
SARS interest 156  – 

4 914  1 258 

Finance income earned on financial assets, categorised as loans and receivables 
(including cash and bank balances) 4 758  1 258

Refer to note 31 for the finance income and cost attributable to the discontinued operations.
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2017
Group
R’000

2017
Continuing 
operations

R’000

2017
Discontinued 

operations
R’000

2016 
Restated

Group
R’000

2016 
Restated

Continuing 
operations

R’000

2016 
Restated

Discontinued
 operations

R’000

22. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/
BENEFIT
Current tax:
– In respect of current year  29 192  30 245  (1 053)  24 101  22 984  1 117 
– In respect of prior year 4 477 4 477  – 988 660  328 

Deferred tax  (9 472)  (9 189)  (283) 2 501  1 942  559 
Amounts recognised in profit 
or loss  24 197  25 533  (1 336)  27 590  25 586  2 004 

% % % % % %

Tax rate reconciliation
Statutory rate 28,0 28,0 (28,0) 28,0 28,0 28,0
• Effect of non-allowable 

expenditure/exempt income 3,4 1,7  – 5,7 6,0  –
• Effect of research and 

development allowance  (2,9)  (1,5)  – (1,0)  (1,1)  –
• Effect of different tax rates 

of subsidiaries operating in 
other jurisdictions  (0,1)  –  – 1,0 1,1  –

• Effect of prior year 
(overstatement)/
understatement 2,3 0,8 0,7 2,4 2,1 6,9

• Effect of deferred tax not 
recognised 22,5  (0,4)  24,2 –  (0,4) 6,3

• Effect of taxable capital gain  –  – – (1,9) (2,0)  –

Effective rate 53,2 28,6 (3,1) 34,2 33,7 41,2
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2017
Group
R’000

2017
Continuing 
operations

R’000

2017
Dis-

continued
 operations

R’000

2016
Group
R’000

2016
Continuing
 operations

R’000

2016
Dis-

continued
 operations

R’000

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Numerator
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable 
to equity holders of the parent 11 467  64 967 (53 500)  55 620  52 762  2 858 

Adjusted for:
(Gain) from sale of fixed assets (net)  (434)  (434)  –  (613)  (613)  – 
(Gain) from sale of fixed assets  
(gross)  (603)  (603)  –  (851)  (851)  – 
(Gain) from sale of fixed assets (tax)  169  169  –  238  238  – 
Loss from sale of fixed assets (net)  962  8  954  795  795  – 
Loss from sale of fixed assets (gross)  1 336  11  1 325  1 104  1 104  – 
Loss from sale of fixed assets (tax)  (374)  (3)  (371)  (309)  (309)  – 
Impairment property, plant and 
equipment (gross)  19 560  –  19 560  –  –  – 
Impairment goodwill (net)  1 616  1 616  –  7 268  7 268  – 
Impairment goodwill (gross)  1 616  1 616  –  10 324  10 324  – 
Impairment goodwill (non-controlling 
interest)  –  –  –  (3 056)  (3 056)  – 

Headline earnings 33 171  66 157 (32 986)  63 070  60 212  2 858 

Denominator
Opening balance (number of 
shares) (’000)  161 943  161 943  161 943 108 609 108 609 108 609
Treasury shares (number of 
shares) (’000)  (641)  (641)  (641) (641) (641) (641)
Issue of shares on 1 October 2015 
(number of shares) (’000)  –  –  – 53 333 53 333 53 333

Weighted average number of shares 
used in basic earnings per share, 
diluted earnings per share, headline 
earnings per share, and diluted 
headline earnings per share (‘000)  161 301  161 301  161 301 147 968 147 968 147 968

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic and diluted 7,11  40,28 (33,17)  37,59  35,66  1,93 
Headline and diluted 20,56  41,01 (20,45)  42,62  40,69  1,93
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Basic
 remun-
eration/

fees
R’000

Bonus
R’000

Car
 allowance

R’000

Other
 allowance 

R’000

Total
 2017
R’000

Total 
2016

R’000

24. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Executive
L Lynch$  2 629  1 558  256 –  4 443  3 020 
JJT Ferreira#  1 760  909  –  546  3 215  1 000 
E van der Merwe*  –  –  –  –  –  950 
SA Sergel^  –  –  –  –  –  901 
RM ButtleL  301  – 21  –  322  – 

Non-executive
MM Dyasi  220  –  –  –  220  200 
SS Mafoyane  220  –  –  –  220  200 
DM Mncube  165  –  –  –  165  150 
BT Ngcuka^^  –  –  –  –  –  250 
KT Nondumo@  –  –  –  –  –  72 
MS Teke  300  –  –  –  300  150 
E van der Merwe**  124 –  –  – 124  88 
MG Mokoka  270  –  –  –  270  129 
JR Winer  165  –  –  –  165  88 
CS Seabrooke***  41  –  –  –  41  – 

 6 195  2 467  277  546  9 485  7 198 

$

#

*
^

L

^^

@

**

***

Resigned 16 October 2017. Subsequent to the release of the reviewed results, a severance package amounting to R1 863 583,36 was 
paid.
Resigned 12 May 2017
Resigned 1 April 2017
Resigned 30 November 2015
Appointed 12 May 2017
Resigned 30 June 2016
Resigned 9 November 2015
Resigned 1 April 2017
Appointed 1 April 2017

The directors did not receive remuneration from subsidiaries.

Employment contracts of the individual executive directors all incorporate the same information and restrictions.

The contracts include a restraint of trade paragraph to ensure the group does not incur losses or loss of business 
due to the resignation of its directors. The contracts do not indicate any term of employment and employment 
will cease with the resignation or dismissal of the director. The contracts do not specify any age or time period to 
indicate retirement of directors.
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25. GROUP RISK
The group is exposed, through its operations, to the following financial risks:
• interest rate risk;
• foreign currency risk;
• liquidity risk; and
• credit risk.

There has not been a significant change to the risk management objectives, policies and procedures in relation to 
the 2017 financial year. Risk management policies recommended by the executive directors are, upon agreement 
thereto, ratified by the board. Certain risks are managed centrally while others are managed locally, following 
guidelines communicated by the board. These risk management policies are described in detail in the following 
paragraphs.

Capital management
Capital is managed through optimising the debt and equity utilisation across the group. This is done to ensure 
that all entities within the group continue to function on a going concern basis while maximising returns to 
stakeholders.

The overall group capital management strategy has remained unchanged from the previous financial year.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt and equity, as follows:
Debt
• medium to long-term borrowings; and
• bank facilities.

Equity
• share capital;
• reserves; and
• retained earnings.

Gearing ratio
The group’s capital structure is reviewed on a bi-annual basis by the board of directors. As part of this review, the 
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The gearing ratio at reporting date was as follows:

2017
R’000

Restated 
2016

R’000

Interest-bearing debt  245 692  248 566 

Positive cash and cash equivalents  71 970  50 253 

Net debt  173 722 198 313

Equity 485 632 491 897

Net debt to equity ratio  0,35  0,40 

Debt is defined as long and short-term interest-bearing borrowings and bank overdraft. Equity includes all capital 
and reserves of the group.

The bank requires the group to adhere to certain covenants in terms of facilities granted. The directors review the 
covenant requirements on an ongoing basis to ensure compliance. The directors of the group have reviewed 
compliance to these covenants for the 2017 reporting period and believes the group to be compliant.
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25. GROUP RISK continued
Below follows details in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability.

Fair value hierarchy
2017

R’000

Restated 
2016

R’000

Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 224 732 230 533
Short-term loans –  4 883 
Cash and cash equivalents  71 970  50 253 

Fair value
Trade and other receivables 224 732 230 533
Short-term loans –  4 883 
Cash and cash equivalents  71 970  50 253 

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 2  221 652  223 360 
Short-term loans –  25 
Derivative liability 2  780  3 509
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities 2  24 040  23 351 
Trade and other payables 186 079 263 825
Bank overdraft –  1 854 

Fair value
Interest-bearing liabilities 2  221 652  223 360 
Short-term loans –  25 
Derivative liability 2  780  3 509 
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities 2  24 040  23 351 
Trade and other payables 186 079 263 825
Bank overdraft –  1 854 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the short-term 
nature of these assets as well as short-term until maturity.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
• For financial instruments with standard terms and conditions that are traded in active liquid markets, fair value 

is determined with reference to quoted market prices; and
• For financial instruments that are not traded in active liquid markets, fair value is determined in accordance with 

generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analyses using prices from observable 
current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk for financial assets. The carrying amount 
of financial instruments as reflected above represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

Financial risk management objectives
The group’s financial department provides services across the group; coordinates access to domestic and 
international financial markets; and monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the 
group. These risks include market risk (including currency risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk.
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25. GROUP RISK continued
Financial risk management objectives continued
The group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to economically 
hedge these risk exposures. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed on a continuous basis. 
Where the group uses derivative financial instruments it is used for specific transactions. The group does not 
enter into or trade financial instruments for speculative purposes, including derivative financial instruments.

Market risk
The group’s activities expose it primarily to currency risk and interest rate fluctuations.

The group enters into foreign exchange contracts to manage its exposure to currency risk, including forward 
foreign exchange contracts to hedge the currency risk arising on the importation of goods from foreign suppliers.

There has been no change in the group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in which it manages and 
measures market risk.

Foreign currency risk management
The group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies as part of its operations.

The resultant exchange rate exposure that arises from these activities is managed within approved policy 
parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
reporting date, are as follows:

2017
‘000

Restated 
2016
‘000

Foreign currency
Assets
US dollar (“USD”)  1 023  798 
Euro (“EUR”)  1 461  162 
Zambian kwacha (“ZMK”)  3 261  3 951 
Botswana pula (“BWP”)  1 462 –
Romanian lei (“RON”)  3 102  2 881 

Liabilities
US dollar (“USD”)  4 812  6 350 

Euro (“EUR”)  257  296 

The group trades in Europe, Asia and Africa in the currencies above. It is group policy to enter into forward 
foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts within 30% to 50% of the 
exposure. These contracts are entered into up to two months in advance. Where orders are placed for the 
purchase of inventory from foreign suppliers, these future exposures are hedged according to these principles for 
terms not exceeding three months.

Furthermore, currency risk is managed by negotiating favourable payment terms with foreign suppliers and by 
actively managing group banking facilities for foreign debt repayments. Where possible, natural hedges are 
maintained where amounts receivable from foreign customers are matched to amounts payable to foreign suppliers.
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25. GROUP RISK continued
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The table below details the group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase against the relevant foreign currencies, if 
assumed that the exposure is uncovered.

The sensitivity analysis is calculated on a net asset/liability exposure basis.

A positive number indicates an increase in profit and other equity for a 10% strengthening in the foreign currency. 
For a 10% weakening in the foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on profit and other 
equity of the group. The same method and assumptions were used in the sensitivity analysis for the prior year.

2017
‘000

Restated 
2016
‘000

Foreign currency
US dollar (“USD”)  (379)  (555)
Euro (“EUR”)  120  (13)
Zambian kwacha (“ZMK”)  326 395
Botswana pula (“BWP”) 146 –
Romanian lei (“RON”) 310 288

Net increase/(decrease) in profit and other equity 523 155

Interest rate risk
Utilisation of long-term interest-bearing liabilities is minimised as far as possible in order to limit the exposure to 
interest rate risk. The group’s long-term interest rate is linked to prime.

Cash requirements are managed and monitored in order to limit unnecessary utilisation of overdraft facilities, 
thereby reducing the group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis has been performed based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and 
non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared 
assuming the liability value at the end of the reporting period was the same during the whole year.

A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management and 
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the group’s profit for 
the year ended 30 June 2017 would decrease by R1,229 million (2016: R1,234 million).

For a 50 basis point strengthening in the interest rate, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the 
group’s profit.
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25. GROUP RISK continued
Credit risk
Financial assets potentially subject to group concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of trade receivables in 
terms of credit sales, which amounted to R229 million (2016 restated: R244 million).

Group policy is to assess credit risk of new customers before entering into sales agreements. Such credit ratings 
take into account local business practices and are factored into a credit risk profile. Credit references, credit 
history, bank codes and credit rating information are utilised in determining the credit rating of a new credit 
customer. The credit risk with regard to trade receivables is limited due to the fact that the customer base is 
spread over a wide variety of small and large receivables. The group does not enter into complex derivatives 
to manage credit risk. The group maintains insurance cover of its international trading activities through Credit 
Guarantee Insurance Company (“CGIC”). Where appropriate, it is group policy to obtain sufficient collateral as 
a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Collateral held consist of sureties signed by selected 
customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

Liquidity risk
The group minimises liquidity risk by ensuring it has adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing capacity 
with high-quality financial institutions or related companies.

Liquidity risk is managed centrally by the group executive directors. Budgets are set and agreed in advance on an 
annual basis by the board. This enables suitable anticipation of cash flow requirements. Where an increase in 
group facilities is required, approval is sought in accordance with authority limits set by the board.

Liquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities; by 
continuously monitoring forecast against actual cash flows; and by matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities.

2017
R’000

Restated 
2016

R’000

Derivative and non-derivative maturity analysis – financial liabilities
Up to 3 months
Forward exchange contracts  780  3 507 
Trade and other payables 186 079  263 825 
Loans and borrowings  7 433  6 789 
3 to 12 months
Loans and borrowings  16 607  16 562 
2 to 5 years
Loans and borrowings  221 652  223 360 

Price risk
The group is exposed to price risk due to the volatility of commodity prices. These risks are limited by monitoring 
the market and competitors to identify risks in advance and executing appropriate pricing actions and 
adjustments in order to mitigate these identified risks.

Derivatives
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield 
curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.
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26. RELATED PARTIES
Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the company, have been 
eliminated on consolidation.

Below is a summary of related party transactions:

Relationship
2017

R’000
2016

R’000

Strategic management fees paid
MCIH Services Proprietary Limited Associated to director 788  563 
Sevenoaks Consulting Proprietary Limited Associated to director  –  583 

Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key 
management during the year was as follows:

Short-term benefits Directors  9 485  7 198 

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 
the performance of individuals and market trends. Refer to note 24 for details of directors’ emoluments.

27. SEGMENT REPORTING

Business segments
The segmental report of the group is based on the information used by the chief operating decision 
makers, being the executive management. The analysis is presented after taking certain inter-company and 
inter-segmental transactions into account.

For management purposes the entity is organised on an international basis in six operating divisions, ie 
Agricultural, Food, Chemicals, Colour, Water and Other. The Silica Mine was previously reported as part of the 
Water divisions, but has been discontinued during the current financial period. It operates in the mining industry  
therefore disclosed separately. These divisions are the basis on which the entity reports its primary information.

The main operating activities of the segments are described below:
Agricultural The Agricultural division manufactures and distributes products that include herbicides, 

insecticides, fungicides, adjustments, foliar feeds, enriched compost pellets, and soluble fertilisers 
promoting general plant, root, foliage and soil health.

Food The Food division imports and distributes chemicals used in the food, beverage, bakery, dairy, 
pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries.

Chemicals The Industrial division distributes alkyd resins, additives, leather chemicals products and solutions, 
solvents, lacquer thinners, surfactants, cleaning solvents, creosotes, waxes and other industrial 
chemicals.

Colour The Industrial division manufactures and distributes various organic and inorganic pigments, 
additives, in-plant and point-of-sale dispersions.

Water The Water activities involve providing specialised water purification solutions and products to the 
industrial, agricultural, mining, home and personal care markets.

Silica 
(discontinued)

The discontinued operation’s activities involved the quarrying and processing of pure beneficiated 
silica for the metallurgical, filtration and construction industries.

Other The Other segments include the letting of property, plant and equipment as well as the head 
office functions.

Geographical segments
The group primarily operates within the five geographical segments of South Africa, the USA, Europe, Asia and 
the rest of Africa. These geographical segments will be identified on a turnover level only.

All inter-group management fees were eliminated in the separate segments to ensure more accurate presentation 
to the stakeholders regarding the various business segments in the current and prior year presented.
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27. SEGMENT REPORTING continued
The following table provides financial information on the aforementioned segments:

Agri-
cultural

2017
R’000

Food
2017

R’000

Chemicals
2017

R’000

Colour
2017

R’000

RSA
2017

R’000

Botswana
2017

R’000

Water
2017

R’000

Dis-
continued

 (Silica)
2017

R’000

Other
2017

R’000

Total
2017

R’000

Total revenue  280 206  700 026  322 675  85 599  42 125  6 782  48 907  47 624  –  1 485 036 
Gross profit/(loss)  79 095  125 040  59 003  8 328  27 007  1 212  28 219  (14 309)  (415) 284 961
Operating profit/
(loss)  26 262  80 217  30 531  (7 291)  4 171  1 662  5 833  (50 645)  (21 089) 63 818
Total assets 273 468  280 051  200 341  110 433 48 716 9 471  58 187 29 313 33 335 985 127
Total liabilities  132 324 91 047  89 226  15 815 35 578 34 305  69 883  51 096 50 104 499 495

Restated:

Agri-
cultural

2016
R’000

Food
2016

R’000

Chemicals
2016

R’000

Colour
2016

R’000

RSA
2016

R’000

Botswana
2016

R’000

Water
2016

R’000

Dis-
continued

 (Silica)
2016

R’000

Other
2016

R’000

Total
2016

R’000

Total revenue  268 455  467 682  352 038  149 767  52 328  20 116  72 444  55 043  –  1 365 429 
Gross profit/(loss)  80 979  75 143  70 855  16 410  31 178  8 876  40 054  14 793  –  298 234 
Operating profit/
(loss)  37 330  56 428  35 042  (8 195)  4 080  (10 024)  (5 944)  5 310  (6 167)  113 804 
Total assets 271 365  265 920 204 317 129 378 42 664 13 038 55 702  71 415 63 520  1 061 617 
Total liabilities 139 659  124 176 116 354 31 018 26 781  38 626 65 407  39 698 53 408  569 720

All non-current assets are domiciled in South Africa, except for certain holdings in Botswana, Zambia and eastern 
Europe.

Information regarding major customers
Revenues from transactions with any single customer do not exceed 10% of revenue per any single reporting 
segment. Inter-segment transactions are eliminated on presentation of the segment report to present a more 
feasible segment. All related-party transactions occur at arm’s length on the same terms and conditions that are 
available commercially.

Information regarding geographical areas
Revenues from transactions from any single geographical area outside of South Africa do not exceed 10% of 
revenue and therefore have not been disclosed separately.
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2017
R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

28. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
28.1 Reconciliation of profit before interest to cash generated from/(utilised in) 

operations 
Operating profit before interest 63 818 113 804
Adjustments for non-cash items: 68 696 35 694
Depreciation and amortisation  13 454 12 383
Movement in allowance for credit losses 5 718  – 
Provision for retrenchment cost  4 000  – 
Provision for obsolete stock 19 181 –
Impairment of loan receivable  4 380 –
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  19 560 –
Impairment of intangibles and goodwill  1 616 9 548
Movement in leave pay accrual  1 304  3 571 
Movement in bonus accrual  (1 046)  1 449 
Loss/(profit) on disposal of asset  732 910
Changes on rehabilitation provision affecting profit/(loss)  2 524 4 343
Movement in FEC liability  (2 727)  3 490 
Change in working capital:  (8 262)  (2 129)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  41 865  (61 836)
Decrease in receivables  25 852 5 873
(Decrease)/increase in payables  (75 979) 53 834

 124 252  147 369 

28.2 Taxation (paid)/received
Opening balance: Receiver of Revenue  4 359  1 917 
Taxation charge for the year  (33 668)  (25 088)
Acquisition of subsidiary – (2 833)
Closing balance: Receiver of Revenue  (3 141)  (4 359)

Taxation (paid)/refunded during the year  (32 450)  (30 363)

28.3 Cost of acquisition of company
Plant and equipment –  1 725 
Inventories –  61 259 
Trade and other receivables –  91 308 
Interest-bearing liabilities –  (1 654)
Trade and other payables –  (53 136)
Value-added tax –  430 
Tax asset –  (2 833)
Deferred tax asset –  627 
Goodwill –  115 229 

Fair value of consideration given –  212 955
Less: Cash and cash equivalents –  (12 736)

Net cash flow from acquisition of investment –  200 219 

Refer to note 31 for the cash flow information relating to the discontinued operations.
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29. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

Name Details of operations

Issued 
share 

capital 
R

Effective 
holding 

2017 
%

Effective 
holding 

2016 
%

Rolfes Colour  
Pigments 
International 
Proprietary Limited

Manufacturing and distribution of resins, dispersions, organic 
and inorganic pigments, pigments pastes, additives, dyes and 
water-based pigments dispersions

 1 000 100 100

Rolfes Chemicals 
Proprietary Limited

Distribution of drum solvents, lacquer thinners, creasotes, 
waxes and other speciality chemicals. Also the importation of 
chemicals and equipment for supply into the water treatment, 
home care and personal care markets

 100 100 100

Bragan Food 
Ingredients 
Proprietary Limited

Import and distribution of chemicals used in food production  100 100 100

Rolfes Silica  
Proprietary Limited

The manufacture and distribution of pure beneficiated silica  200 000 100 100

Rolfes Asset Holding 
Proprietary Limited

Rental of property, plant and equipment  100 100 100

Rolfes Europe Trading 
Proprietary Limited

Dormant  100 100 100

Rolfes Logistics  
Proprietary Limited

Distribution of pigments and industrial chemicals throughout 
the African continent

 100 100 100

New Heights 390 
Proprietary Limited

Property holding company  100 100* 100*

AgChem Property 
Proprietary Limited

Property holding company  100 100 100

Amazon Colours 
Proprietary Limited

Dormant  300 100* 100*

AgChem Holdings 
Proprietary Limited

Investment holding company  100 100 100

Rolfes Agri 
Proprietary Limited

Development and manufacturing of high-quality agricultural 
chemicals

 1 000 100* 100*

Absolute Science 
Proprietary Limited

Accredited laboratory that provides high-quality analytical 
data

 100 100* 100*

Gallus Technologia 
Proprietary Limited

Dormant  100 100* 100*

Gallus Technologia 
Ventersdorp 
Proprietary Limited

Distribution of agricultural chemicals  100 100* 100*

Bungor Trading 
Proprietary Limited

Dormant  100 100* 100*

AgChem Recycling 
Proprietary Limited

Dormant  100 100* 100*

* Indirect
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29. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

Name Details of operations

Issued 
share 

capital 
R

Effective 
holding 

2017 
%

Effective 
holding 

2016 
%

AgroChem Namibia 
Proprietary Limited 
(#incorporated in  
Namibia)

Dormant  100 100* 100*

Tetralon Chemical 
Consultancy  
Proprietary Limited

Dormant  4 000 100 100

Rolfes Water 
Proprietary Limited 

The business of water purification and treatment as well as 
manufacturing chemicals to be used in water treatment 
products and services

 142 70,4 70,4

PWM Professional 
Water Management 
(Cape) Proprietary 
Limited 

The business of water purification and treatment as well as 
manufacturing chemicals to be used in water treatment 
products and services

 4 000 70,4* 70,4*

Rolfes PWM Anticor 
Proprietary Limited 
(#incorporated in 
Botswana)

The business of water treatment and purification  142 70,4 70,4

AgChem Europe SRL 
(#incorporated in 
Romania) 

Development and manufacturing of high-quality agricultural 
chemicals

 10 000 100* 50*

* Indirect

No summarised information is presented for the subsidiaries where there is an outside shareholder portion as 
these subsidiaries are not deemed to be material subsidiaries as they do not contribute significantly or positively 
to the profit after tax for the group.
All companies are incorporated in South Africa, except where indicated with a #.

A significant restriction on the group’s ability to access/use subsidiaries’ assets or settle subsidiaries’ liabilities, is 
the independent non-controlling interest within the group along with the individual sureties on group banking 
facilities. It restricts the ability to readily transfer resources between subsidiaries within the group.

The level of control which the group exercises over subsidiaries is not only attributable to shareholding. Control is 
strengthened through executive management involvement in operational activities and financial management 
activities at subsidiary level.

A loss in control in relation to executive management involvement will lead to a reassessment of the investment, 
its profitability and the possibility of profitable disposal of the investment.
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

30. ACQUISITIONS
2016 reporting period
Acquisition of subsidiary
Effective 1 October 2015, Rolfes Holdings Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital in Bragan Chemicals 
Proprietary Limited.

Bragan Chemicals Proprietary Limited is an importer and distributor of chemicals used in the food, beverage, 
bakery, dairy, pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries. Founded in 2008, Bragan Chemicals Proprietary Limited 
has grown to be a major industry player supplying a customer base in excess of 200 companies, including major 
local and multinational food manufacturers.

The acquisition of Bragan Chemicals forms part of the group’s long-term strategy to offer a complete range of 
chemical products to a wide range of industries. It will allow the group to dramatically increase its exposure to 
these industry segments, which the group believes have strong fundamentals and growth prospects. The 
acquisition will also grow and diversify the group’s earnings base and assist the group in its strategy of growing 
its business into other African countries and other attractive foreign markets.

Since acquisition, Bragan Chemicals Proprietary Limited has contributed revenue of R463 million and operating 
profit of R56 million to the group.

The net assets of Bragan Chemicals Proprietary Limited at the date of acquisition, consideration paid and 
goodwill arising are summarised in the table below:

2016
R’000

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment  1 725 
Deferred tax asset  627 

Current assets
Inventories  61 259 
Trade and other receivables  91 308 
Value added tax  430 

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities  (1 654)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  (53 136)
Current tax liability  (2 833)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities  97 726 
Goodwill on acquisition  115 229 

Net consideration  212 955

The company also purchased the remaining 30% of the share capital of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited 
from the non-controlling shareholder for a total amount of R37,95 million. This transaction was effective 
1 July 2015.

2016
R’000

Consideration given  37 950 
Vendor financed

Net cash flow from increase in investment  37 950 
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31. DISCONTINUED OPERATION
The Silica mining business became unviable due to the remaining life of mine and the current economic climate 
resulting in trading losses being incurred. The potential of restructuring the business was considered but the 
operating costs compared to the revenue (being a mix of volumes and price) remained uneconomical.

As such, on 9 June 2017, the board resolved to discontinue the operation which has resulted in a reclassification 
for both the 2017 and 2016 financial results. The Silica mining business was accordingly separately presented as a 
discontinued operation. 

Results of discontinued operation Notes
2017

R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

Revenue   47 627  55 043 
Cost of sales (61 935)  (40 250)

Gross (loss)/profit (14 308)  14 793 

Other income  (9)  13 
Distribution expenses  (188)  (160)
Marketing expenses  (21)  (24)
Administration expenses  (1 896)  (2 521)
Impairment  (19 560)  – 
Other expenses  (15 382)  (6 791)

Operating (loss)/profit before interest (51 364)  5 310 

Finance income  73  35 
Finance cost  (3 545)  (483)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (54 836)  4 862 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 22  1 336  (2 004)

(Loss)/profit for the year (53 500)  2 858 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (53 500)  2 858 

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent (53 500) 2 858
Non-controlling interest  –  – 

(53 500) 2 858

Earnings and headline earnings per share (cents): 23
– Earnings (basic and diluted) (33,17)  1,93 
– Headline earnings (basic and diluted) (20,45)  1,93 

Refer to note 33 for details regarding the impairments recognised.
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

31. DISCONTINUED OPERATION continued

Balance sheet for discontinued operation
2017

R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets  8 793  30 420 
Property, plant and equipment  8 793  30 420 
Current assets 20 520  40 995 
Inventories 11 000  29 144 
Trade and other receivables  6 534  10 695 
Cash and cash equivalents  1 558  830 
Current tax asset  1 428  326 

Total assets 29 313  71 415 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves (21 783)  31 717 
Stated capital  200  200 
Retained earnings (25 931)  27 569 
Reserves  3 948  3 948 

Non-current liabilities  41 779  34 641 
Interest-bearing liabilities  749  1 733 
Loans from holding company  28 490  23 209 
Deferred tax liability  1 540  2 151 
Provisions  11 000  7 548 

Current liabilities  9 317  5 057 
Trade and other payables  8 795  5 057 
Interest-bearing liabilities (current)  522  – 

Total equity and liabilities 29 313  71 415 

Cash flow statement for discontinued operations
2017

R’000

Restated
2016

R’000

Cash flow (utilised in)/from operating activities  (3 336)  48 
Cash utilised in investing activities  (754)  (870)
Cash flow as a result of financing activities  4 819  1 463 

Cash (shortfall)/surplus for the period  729  641 

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of the period  830  189 

Cash and cash equivalents – end of the period  1 558  830
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32. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO PRIOR YEAR ERRORS; CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 
RECLASSIFICATIONS
During the finalisation of the results for the year ended 30 June 2017, certain accounting errors and understatement 
of impairments relating to the prior periods were identified and considered material. The group also changed and 
clarified its accounting policy relating to properties and accordingly, the results for the prior periods have been 
restated.

Summary table
Statement of financial position items

Notes

Previously 
stated 

30 June 
2016

R’000

Re-
statements 

30 June
 2016
R’000

Restated 
30 June 

2016
R’000

Previously 
stated 

30 June 
2015

R’000

Re-
statements 

30 June 
2015

R’000

Restated
 30 June 

2015
R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets  407 860  (13 220)  394 640  287 227  (10 112)  277 115 
Property, plant and equipment 32a, b, c  133 661  (12 067)  121 594  130 435  (14 695)  115 740 
Intangible assets and goodwill 32a  271 341  (9 548)  261 793  149 681  695  150 376 
Deferred tax asset 32a, d  2 858 8 395 11 253  7 111  3 888  10 999 
Current assets  691 545  (24 568)  666 977  531 024  (14 769)  516 255 
Inventories 32a, d  343 630  (7 002)  336 628  215 125  (1 592)  213 533 
Trade and other receivables 32a, d  288 127  (18 739)  269 388  196 314  (12 791)  183 523 
Short-term loans  4 883  –  4 883  6 642  –  6 642 
Assets classified as held for sale  –  –  –  95 732  –  95 732 
Cash and cash equivalents 32a  50 253  –  50 253  11 873  (386)  11 487 
Current tax asset 32a  4 652  1 173  5 825  5 338  –  5 338 

Total assets  1 099 405  (37 788)  1 061 617  818 251  (24 881)  793 370 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Stated capital  208 588  –  208 588  50 888  –  50 888 
Treasury shares  (868) –  (868)  (868)  –  (868)
Retained earnings 32a, b, c, d  331 056  (42 320)  288 736  253 677  (19 463)  234 214 
Reserves 32a, b  4 662  (6 719)  (2 057)  5 347  (5 132) 215
Owners of the parent  543 438  (49 039) 494 399  309 044  (24 595) 284 449
Non-controlling interest 32a  7 097  (9 599)  (2 502)  63 260  (5 471)  57 789 

Total equity  550 535  (58 638)  491 897  372 304  (30 066)  342 238 

Non-current liabilities  248 668  10 244  258 912  77 606  775  78 381 
Interest-bearing liabilities 32a, d  220 269  3 091  223 360  42 274  775  43 049 
Deferred tax liability 32a, b, d  25 563 2 441 28 004  32 496  –  32 496 
Provisions 32c  2 836  4 712  7 548  2 836  –  2 836 
Current liabilities  300 202 10 606 310 808  368 341 4 410  372 751 
Trade and other payables 32a, d  271 397 9 206  280 603  163 245 5 368  168 613 
Short-term loans  25 –  25  27 433  –  27 433 
Derivative liability  3 509 –  3 509  15  –  15 
Interest-bearing liabilities 
(current) 32a, d  23 295  56  23 351  24 381  (550)  23 831 
Vendor loan  – –  –  17 935  –  17 935 
Liabilities directly associated with 
assets classified as held for sale  – –  –  60 179  –  60 179 
Bank overdraft 32a  310  1 544  1 854  71 586  (262)  71 324 
Current tax liability 32a, d  1 666  (200)  1 466  3 567  (146)  3 421 

Total equity and liabilities  1 099 405  (37 788)  1 061 617  818 251  (24 881)  793 370 
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

32. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO PRIOR YEAR ERRORS; CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 
RECLASSIFICATIONS continued
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income items

Notes

Previously 
stated

30 June
2016

R’000

Restate-
ments

30 June
2016

R’000

Restated*
30 June

2016
R’000

Revenue 32a  1 363 547  1 883  1 365 430 
Cost of sales 32a, d  (1 055 478)  (11 718)  (1 067 196)

Gross profit  308 069  (9 834)  298 235 

Other income 32a  12 398  (75)  12 323 
Distribution expenses  (9 878)  –  (9 878)
Marketing expenses  (3 386)  –  (3 386)
Administration expenses  (18 523)  –  (18 523)
Impairment 32a, 33  –  (10 324)  (10 324)
Other expenses 32a, c, d  (151 552)  (3 091)  (154 643)

Operating profit/(loss) before interest  137 128  (23 324)  113 804 

Finance income 32d  1 293  –  1 293 
Finance cost 32c, d  (29 208)  (5 246)  (34 454)

Profit/(loss) before taxation  109 213  (28 570)  80 643 

Income tax (expense)/benefit 32a, c, d  (29 175)  1 585  (27 590)

Profit/(loss) for the year  80 038  (26 984)  53 054 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit  
or loss:
Exchange differences on translating of foreign operations 32a  (685)  (1 587)  (2 272)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  79 353  (28 572)  50 781 

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent  78 477  (22 857)  55 620 
Non-controlling interest  1 561  (4 127)  (2 566)

 80 038  (26 984)  53 054 

Earnings attributable to the owners of the parent:  78 477  (22 857)  55 620 
Adjusted for the after-tax effect of:
Profit on sale of assets  795  –  795 
Loss on sale of assets  (613)  –  (613)
Goodwill impairment (group) (no tax)  –  10 324  10 324 
Less: Non-controlling interest  –  (3 056)  (3 056)
Headline earnings  78 659  (15 589)  63 070 

Earnings per share (cents)
– Basic and diluted  53,04  (15,45)  37,59 

– Headline and diluted  53,16  (10,54)  42,62

* Amounts include results from continuing and discontinued operations.
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32. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO PRIOR YEAR ERRORS; CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 
RECLASSIFICATIONS continued
32a) Botswana Water business (70,4% owned)
The financial statements of Rolfes PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 
30 June 2016 were finalised after the consolidated financial statements for the group for the year ended 
30 June 2016 were issued. The final amounts were different from the amounts included in the consolidated 
financial statements for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2016. The differences are detailed below.

The differences mainly resulted from the following:
• Goodwill impairment due to the loss of business;
• Overstatement of property, plant and equipment;
• Overstatement of inventories;
• Overstatement of trade and other receivables; and
• Adjustment to interest-bearing loans.

Previously 
stated

30 June
2016

R’000

Restate-
ments

30 June
2016

R’000

Restated
30 June

2016
R’000

Previously 
stated

30 June
2015

R’000

Restate-
ments

30 June
2015

R’000

Restated
30 June

2015
R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets  17 668  (8 920)  8 748  19 862  (2 032)  17 830 
Property, plant and equipment  8 106  642  8 748  11 010  (2 713)  8 297 
Intangible assets and goodwill  9 548  (9 548)  –  8 838  695  9 533 
Deferred tax asset  14  (14)  –  14  (14)  – 
Current assets  17 284  (12 994)  4 290  (4 315)  (14 769)  (19 084)
Inventories  1 592  (1 592)  –  1 592  (1 592)  – 
Trade and other receivables  15 045  (11 928)  3 117  (6 554)  (12 791)  (19 345)
Cash and cash equivalents  647  (647)  –  647  (386)  261 
Current tax asset  –  1 173  1 173  –  –  – 

Total assets  34 952  (21 914)  13 038  15 547  (16 801)  (1 254)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Stated capital  3 507  (177)  3 330  3 330 –  3 330 
Retained earnings  2 550  (22 778)  (20 228)  4 716  (16 957)  (12 241)
Reserves  (126)  (1 460)  (1 586)  –  (198)  (198)
Owners of the parent  5 931  (24 415)  (18 484)  8 046  (17 155)  (9 109)
Non-controlling interest  2 494  (9 599)  (7 105)  –  (3 747)  (3 747)

Total equity  8 425  (34 014)  (25 589)  8 046  (20 902)  (12 856)

Non-current liabilities  24 264  5 908  30 172  4 772  775  5 547 
Interest-bearing liabilities  24 264  5 908  30 172  4 772  775  5 547 
Current liabilities  2 263  6 192  8 455  2 729  3 326  6 055 
Trade and other payables  1 566  5 730  7 296  1 771  4 284  6 055 
Interest-bearing liabilities (current)  –  –  –  550  (550)  – 
Bank overdraft  262  897  1 159  262  (262)  – 
Current tax liability  435  (435)  –  146  (146)  – 

Total equity and liabilities  34 952  (21 914)  13 038  15 547  (16 801)  (1 254)
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

32. RESTATEMENTS DUE TO PRIOR YEAR ERRORS; CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 
RECLASSIFICATIONS continued
32b) Property
The group did not apply the accounting policy of revaluing property correctly and consistently in the past. The 
group decided to change and clarify its accounting policy and measure property at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment during the current year. The group believes it is more reliable to measure its 
properties at cost less accumulated depreciation but no less relevant.

As part of the abovementioned clarification of the accounting policy, properties were also reclassified to property, 
plant and equipment.

The abovementioned resulted in the following:
• The value of property was reduced by R16,3 million to historical cost; and
• The corresponding entry was adjusted against reserves (R5,5 million), deferred tax liability (R3,9 million) and 

retained earnings (R6,9 million).

32c) Rehabilitation provisions
The group provided for the cost of rehabilitation on a scheduled closure basis as opposed to on an unscheduled 
closure basis. This resulted in an increase of the rehabilitation provision. This error has been adjusted 
retrospectively against property, plant and equipment and provisions. The related depreciation and finance cost 
was adjusted accordingly. The provision as at 30 June 2017 was based on management’s best estimate of the 
expected undiscounted cash outflows.

The impact of this error was as follows:
• Rehabilitation provision as at 1 July 2015 and 30 June 2016 increased by R4,3 million and R4,7 million 

respectively;
• Decommissioning asset as at 1 July 2015 and 30 June 2016 increased by R4,3 million and by R3,6 million 

respectively;
• Depreciation for the year ended 30 June 2016 increased by R0,7 million; and
• Finance cost for the year ended 30 June 2016 increased by R0,4 million.

32d) Other errors impacting earnings
Certain other errors were identified and corrected which are detailed below:
• Trade and other payables has been increased by R2,3 million to correct a foreign exchange error and has been 

corrected against operating expenses of 30 June 2016;
• Inventory was overstated by R5,5 million; this related to the previously manufactured lead chrome pigment 

product ranges, which have been disposed of at a negative margin since closure of the plant in March 2016; 
This error has been corrected to cost of sales;

• Trade and other receivables was overstated by R1,2 million due to an imbalance on inter-company loans and 
has been corrected against cost of sales;

• Interest-bearing loans were understated by R2,8 million; the corresponding entry was adjusted to finance cost 
in the 2016 financial year; and

• There were various minor reclassifications on assets and liabilities which were also corrected as part of the 
above restatements.
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33. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
The following impairment losses were recognised during the year due to the financial performance of the 
Botswana Water business (refer to note 32a) and Silica mining business (refer to note 31).

The basis used to determine the impairment loss on goodwill is the value in use and for the impairment 
recognised on property, plant and equipment is the fair value less cost to sell.

Summary tables
Impairments recognised per segment

 30 June
 2017
R’000

 Restated
30 June

 2016
R’000

Segment
Agriculture
– Impairment of loans  4 380 –
Water – Botswana
– Impairment of goodwill –  10 324 
Discontinued – Silica
– Impairment of property, plant and equipment  19 560 –
Group
– Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill (Silica goodwill)  1 616 –

 25 556  10 324

The impairment losses were based on the reported fair value, less cost to sell of the assets or group of assets. 
Further, management has completed its testing of goodwill relating to its cash-generating units, based on the 
following assumptions:

Assumptions applied to cash-generating units

Carrying 
value
R’000

Weighted 
cost of 
capital

%

Growth 
rate

%

Cash-generating unit
Agricultural  30 971  19,1  12 
Food  115 374  18,1  12 
Chemicals  38 062  18,0  10 
Colour  6 872  18,0  8 
Water  7 800  18,7  20 

 199 079 

page 103 Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017

 



for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

33. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS continued
Silica mining operation

Carrying 
value 

before 
impairments

R’000

Impairments/
provision

R’000

Net 
realisable 

value/
recoverable 

amount
R’000 Assumptions

ASSETS
Non-current assets  28 353  19 560  8 793 
Property, plant  
and equipment

 28 353  19 560  8 793 Impaired to expected recoverable 
amount based on managements’ 
estimated selling price in the market 
of the individual assets

Current assets  40 493  19 973  20 520 
Inventories  30 973 19 973  11 000 Net realisable value based on offers 

to sell (refer to note 35)
Trade and other receivables  6 534  –  6 534 
Cash and cash equivalents  1 558  –  1 558 
Current tax asset  1 428  –  1 428 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 38 849 3 452  42 301 
Interest-bearing liabilities  29 761  –  29 761 
Deferred tax liability  1 540  –  1 540 
Provisions 7 548 3 452  11 000 Closure cost, undiscounted 

Current liabilities  4 795  4 000  8 795 
Trade and other payables  4 795  –  4 795 
Retrenchment provision  –  4 000  4 000 Expected retrenchment cost 

Net asset value 25 202 46 985 (21 783)

34.   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
The group is involved in various legal proceedings. In consultation with its legal counsel, management is 
assessing the outcome of these proceedings on an ongoing basis. A particular case relates to a fidelity and 
assignment agreement. In the opinion of the directors and legal counsel the possible liability will not exceed 
R2 million.

35.   EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Declaration of dividend
On 19 September 2017, the directors declared a dividend of 4 cents per share. This amounts to a total 
dividend of R6,1 million. The dividend was paid on 23 October 2017.

After the reporting date of the group, the off-take agreement on which net realisable value adjustment relating 
to the Silica inventory was based, was withdrawn. This off-take agreement was withdrawn due to a difference in 
the quality of the inventory. The group adjusted the net realisable value of the Silica inventory based on two 
other offers received subsequent to the reporting date to purchase the mine in its entirety.
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as at 30 June 2017

ANALYSIS OF
SHAREHOLDING

Shareholder spread

Number 
of 

shareholdings

% of
 total 

shareholdings
Number 

of shares

% of 
issued 
capital

1 – 1 000 1 435 35,84 525 190 0,32
1 001 – 10 000 1 873 46,78 7 660 163 4,73
10 001 – 100 000 612 15,28 17 041 824 10,52
100 001 – 1 000 000 66 1,65 16 783 002 10,36
Over 1 000 000 18 0,45 119 932 621 74,07

Total 4 004 100,00 161 942 800 100,00

Distribution of shareholders

Number 
of 

shareholdings

% of 
total 

shareholdings
Number 

of shares

% of 
issued 
capital

Assurance companies 2 0,05 42 839 0,03
Close corporations 44 1,10 570 540 0,35
Collective investment schemes 10 0,25 10 198 488 6,30
Custodians 4 0,10 3 816 750 2,36
Foundations and charitable funds 5 0,12 38 965 0,02
Hedge funds 4 0,10 22 196 565 13,71
Investment partnerships 28 0,70 506 932 0,31
Managed funds 8 0,20 1 055 737 0,65
Private companies 85 2,12 73 199 945 45,20
Public companies 2 0,05 6 005 000 3,71
Retail shareholders 3 644 91,01 28 890 294 17,84
Retirement benefit funds 3 0,07 177 955 0,11
Scrip lending 1 0,02 30 000 0,02
Stockbrokers and nominees 11 0,27 5 819 477 3,59
Treasury 1 0,02 641 332 0,40
Trusts 152 3,80 8 751 981 5,40

Total 4 004 100,00 161 942 800 100,00
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as at 30 June 2017

Shareholder type

Number 
of 

shareholdings

% of 
total 

shareholdings
Number 

of shares

% of 
issued 
capital

Non-public shareholders 10 0,23 80 484 594 49,71
Directors and associates (excluding strategic holders)  7 0,17  9 456 200 5,84
Strategic holders (> 10%) – Masimong Chemicals 
Proprietary Limited  1 0,02  52 479 000 32,41
Strategic holders (> 10%) – Westbrooke Investments  1 0,02  17 908 062 11,06
Treasury shares  1 0,02  641 332 0,40

Public shareholders 3 994 99,77 81 458 206 50,29

Total 4 004 100,00 161 942 800 100,00

Fund managers with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares

Number 
of 

shares

% of
 issued 
capital

Westbrooke Capital Management 17 908 062 11,06

Total 17 908 062 11,06

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares

Number 
of 

shares

% of
 issued 
capital

Masimong Chemicals Proprietary Limited 52 479 000 32,41
Westbrooke Investments 17 908 062 11,06
Vuwa Industrial Proprietary Limited 12 863 750 7,94
Sabvest Limited 6 000 000 3,71

Total 89 250 812 55,12

Total number of shareholdings 4 004

Total number of shares in issue 161 942 800

Share price performance

Opening price 1 July 2016 R2,99 
Closing price 30 June 2017 R4,69 
Closing high for period R5,89 
Closing low for period R3,00 

Number of shares in issue 161 942 800
Volume traded during period 67 584 634
Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 41,73%
Rand value traded during the period R303 241 956 
Price/earnings ratio as at 30 June 2017 7,480
Earnings yield as at 30 June 2017 13,369
Dividend yield as at 30 June 2017 1,770
Market capitalisation at 30 June 2017 R759 511 732

ANALYSIS OF
SHAREHOLDING continued
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Non-public breakdown

– Directors of the company or any of its subsidiaries 30 June 2017 161 942 800

Beneficial holders >10% Count Holding %

Masimong Chemicals Proprietary Limited 1 52 479 000 32,41
Westbrooke Investments 1 17 908 062 11,06

2 70 387 062 43,47

Treasury Count Holding %

Rolfes Asset Holding Proprietary Limited 1 641 332 0,40

1 641 332 0,40

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

June 2017
Count Direct Indirect

Executive directors
L Lynch 1  21 700  –  
RM Buttle –  –   –  
Non-executive directors
MM Dyasi –  –   –  
SS Mafoyane –  –   –  
DM Mncube 1  –   3 333 333 
MG Mokoka 4  20 173  80 994 
MS Teke (see strategic holders) –  –   –  
CS Seabrooke 1  –   6 000 000 
JR Winer (see strategic holders) –  –   –  

 7  41 873  9 414 327

Total Count Holding %

 10  80 484 594 49,70
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DEFINITIONS

“BBBEE” Broad-based black economic empowerment
“the board” The board of directors of Rolfes Holdings Limited as set out on pages 12 and 13
“CEO” Chief executive officer, Rolfes’ CEO is Richard Buttle
 “the company” or 
“Rolfes” Rolfes Holdings Limited listed on the JSE Limited in the Specialty Chemicals sector 
 “GRI” Global Reporting Initiative, a best practice benchmark in reporting
“the group” Rolfes and its subsidiaries and associates
“JSE” JSE Limited incorporating the JSE Securities Exchange, the main bourse in South Africa
“King IV” King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
 “LTIFR” Lost-time injury frequency rate
 “the previous year” The year ended 30 June 2016
“SENS” Securities Exchange News Service, the regulatory information dissemination platform for the JSE
“SHEQ” Safety, Health, Environment and Quality
“the year” or 
“the year under review” The year ended 30 June 2017

FINANCIAL DEFINITIONS
“EBITDA” Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation
“FY” Financial year, for Rolfes ending 30 June
“HEPS” Headline earnings per share
“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards
“PAT” Profit after tax
“PBT” Profit before tax
“ROI” Return on investment
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

Record date to receive notice of annual general meeting 15 December 2017

Integrated annual report published on website 21 December 2017

Record date to participate and vote at annual general meeting 18 January 2018

Annual general meeting to be held at 08:00 25 January 2018

Results of annual general meeting released on SENS 25 January 2018

Interim results announcement March 2018
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Rolfes Holdings Limited
Registration number: 2000/002715/06

JSE share code: RLF 

ISIN: ZAE000159836 

(“Rolfes” or “the company” or “the Rolfes group”)

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting (“AGM” or “the meeting”) of the company will be held at The Oval West, 

Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo on Thursday, 25 January 2018 at 08:00. 

The shareholders entitled to receive this notice are shareholders as recorded in the company’s register on Friday, 15 December 2017. 

The record date on which shareholders must be recorded in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries of the company for 

purposes of being entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is Thursday, 18 January 2018. Accordingly, the last day to trade is Monday, 

15 January 2018.

Kindly note that meeting participants (shareholders and proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory 
identification before being entitled to attend or participate in the meeting. Forms of identification include valid 
identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

Electronic participation in the AGM
Shareholders or proxies may participate in the AGM by way of a teleconference call. If they wish to do so:
 • must contact the company secretary (by email at kwaldeck@corpstat.co.za) by no later than 08:00 on Tuesday, 23 January 2018 to 

obtain dial-in details for the conference call;
 • will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification prior to the meeting;
 • will be billed by their own telephone service provider for the telephone call to participate in the AGM; and
 • it must be noted that electronic participation in the AGM will not entitle a shareholder to vote. Should a shareholder wish to vote at 

the AGM, he/she may do so by attending the AGM either in person or by proxy.

The purpose of the meeting is to present the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 and to consider, and if deemed 

fit, to pass, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out in this notice. 

The annual financial statements are presented at the AGM in accordance with section 30(3)(d) and section 60(3)(d) of the Companies Act. 

The complete set of annual financial statements are available on www.rolfesza.com.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
The percentage of voting rights required for an ordinary resolution to be adopted is more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights 

exercised on the resolution at a quorate meeting.

1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Re-election and election of directors
  “RESOLVED to individually re-elect or elect the following directors (ordinary resolutions number 1.1 to 1.6). The board recommends 

the election of the appointed directors and the directors who retire by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation 

(“MOI”), and being eligible, thereto make themselves available for re-election.”

 1.1 Ordinary resolution number 1.1: Re-election of SS Mafoyane as a non-executive director

 1.2 Ordinary resolution number 1.2: Re-election of JR Winer as a non-executive director

 1.3 Ordinary resolution number 1.3: Re-election of MG Mokoka as a non-executive director 

 1.4 Ordinary resolution number 1.4: Election of CS Seabrooke as a non-executive director

 1.5 Ordinary resolution number 1.5: Election of RM Buttle as an executive director

 1.6 Ordinary resolution number 1.6: Election of AP Broodryk as an executive director

 Refer to pages 117 and 118 of this notice for a brief profile of the directors.
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  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing ordinary resolutions number 1.1 to 1.3 is that clause 22 of the company’s MOI requires 

that one-third of the directors longest in office retire at each AGM. The reason for proposing resolutions 1.4 to 1.6 is that, in terms 

of clause 20.8 of the MOI, directors having been appointed by the board as directors of the company since the previous AGM hold 

office only until this AGM.

2.  Ordinary resolution number 2: Election of audit and risk committee members
  “RESOLVED to individually elect the following independent non-executive directors (ordinary resolutions number 2.1 to 2.4) of the 

company as members of the audit and risk committee until the conclusion of the next AGM of the company. The board 

recommends the election of these members.”

 2.1 Ordinary resolution number 2.1: Election of MG Mokoka as a member of the audit and risk committee

 2.2 Ordinary resolution number 2.2: Election of MM Dyasi as a member of the audit and risk committee

 2.3 Ordinary resolution number 2.3: Election of DM Mncube as a member of the audit and risk committee

 2.4 Ordinary resolution number 2.4: Election of SS Mafoyane as a member of the audit and risk committee

 Refer to pages 117 and 118 of this notice for a brief profile of each proposed member.

  Explanatory note: Ordinary resolutions number 2.1 to 2.4 are proposed to appoint members of the audit and risk committee in 

accordance with the guidelines of King IV and the Companies Act. In terms of the aforementioned requirements, the audit and risk 

committee should comprise a minimum of three members, all of whom must be independent non-executive directors of the 

company. Membership of the audit and risk committee may not include the Chairman of the board. Furthermore, in terms of the 

Companies Regulations 2011, at least one-third of the members of the audit and risk committee at any time must have academic 

qualifications, or experience, in economics, law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, commerce, industry, public affairs or 

human resource management. Mindful of the aforegoing, the nominations committee recommended to the board that the 

nominated persons be members of the audit and risk committee and the board has approved the recommendation.

3.  Ordinary resolution number 3: Appointment of external auditors
  “RESOLVED THAT KPMG Inc be appointed as the external auditors of the company, it being noted that H Opperman is the 

registered individual who will undertake the audit.” 

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing ordinary resolution number 3 is that the company’s independent auditors must be 

reappointed at each AGM, in compliance with section 90 of the Companies Act. The audit and risk committee and the board 

recommend the appointment of KPMG as the independent auditors of the company.

4.  Ordinary resolution number 4: General authority to allot and issue ordinary shares
  “RESOLVED THAT the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised, as a general authority and approval, to allot and 

issue, for such purposes and on such terms as they may in their discretion determine, ordinary shares in the authorised but 

unissued share capital of the company up to a maximum of 30% of the number of ordinary shares in issue on the date of passing 

this resolution, subject to section 38 of the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and the MOI.”

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing ordinary resolution number 4 is to seek a general authority and approval for the 

directors to allot and issue ordinary shares in the authorised but unissued share capital of the company, up to 30% of the number of 

ordinary shares of the company in issue at the date of passing this resolution, in order to enable the company to take advantage of 

business opportunities which might arise in the future. The board has no current plans to make use of this authority, but wishes to 

ensure, by having it in place, that the company has some flexibility to take advantage of any business opportunity that may arise in 

the future.
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING continued

5.  Ordinary resolution number 5: Authority to implement resolutions
  “RESOLVED to authorise and empower any two directors or the company secretary and any director signing together, to do all 

such things and sign all such documents and take all such actions as they consider necessary, to implement the resolutions set out 

in this notice convening the 2017 AGM of the company.”

6. Non-binding approval of the remuneration policy
  “RESOLVED THAT shareholders endorse, through a non-binding advisory vote to ascertain the shareholders’ view of Rolfes’ 

remuneration policy (excluding the remuneration of non-executive directors) and its implementation.” 

 The complete remuneration policy is available on Rolfes’ website via www.rolfesza.com.

  Explanatory note: In terms of the King Code of Governance Principles, an advisory vote should be obtained from shareholders on 

the company’s annual remuneration policy. The vote allows shareholders to express their view on the remuneration policy adopted 

and its implementation, but will not be binding on the company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
The percentage of voting rights required for a special resolution to be adopted is at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights 

exercised on the resolution at a quorate meeting.

7.  Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration
  “RESOLVED THAT in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, payment of the remuneration for the services as non-executive 

directors of the company is approved from 1 July 2017 as set out in the following table.”

Retainer fee per annum

2016 2017

Chair of the board 300 000 316 455
Lead independent director 220 000 234 541
Audit and risk committee chair 270 000 287 846
Independent director and remuneration committee chair 220 000 234 541
Independent director 165 000 175 906
Non-executive director 165 000 174 050

  The above fee excludes value added tax which will be added by the directors in terms of current value added tax legislation in 

South Africa, if applicable.

  Non-executive directors receive a set fee per annum and are not remunerated for meeting attendance. The fees above includes 

memberships on various committees of the company.

  Explanatory note: This resolution is proposed in order to comply with the requirements of the Companies Act. In terms of section 

65(11)(h) of the Act, read with sections 66(8) and 66(9), remuneration may only be paid to directors for their services as directors in 

accordance with a special resolution approved by the shareholders within the previous two years.
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8.  Special resolution number 2: General authority to issue shares for cash
  “RESOLVED, as a special resolution, and subject to ordinary resolution number 4 being passed, that the directors of the company 

be and they are hereby authorised, in accordance with the Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, to allot and issue for cash, on 

such terms and conditions as they may deem fit, all or any of the ordinary shares in the authorised but unissued share capital of the 

company, which they shall have been authorised to allot and issue in terms of ordinary resolution number 4, subject to the following 

conditions:

 • This authority is valid until the company’s next AGM, provided that it will not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date that 

this authority is given;

 • The ordinary shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, must 

be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into or represent options in respect of a class already in issue;

 • Any such issue will only be made to ‘public shareholders’ as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to related parties, 

unless the JSE otherwise agrees;

 • The number of shares issued for cash will not in aggregate exceed 30% (thirty percent) of the company’s listed ordinary shares 

(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of the notice of AGM, such number being 161 301 468 ordinary shares in the company’s 

issued share capital;

 • Any ordinary shares issued under this authority during the period of its validity must be deducted from the above number of 

ordinary shares and the authority shall be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio on the event of a subdivision 

or consolidation of ordinary shares during the same period;

 • The maximum discount permitted at which ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded 

price on the JSE of those shares over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between 

the company and the party subscribing for the securities; and

 • A paid press announcement giving full details, will be published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within 

1 (one) financial year, 5% (five percent) of the number of shares in issue prior to the issue.”

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing special resolution number 2 is that the directors consider it advantageous to have the 

authority to issue ordinary shares for cash to enable the company to take advantage of any business opportunity which might arise 

in the future. At present, the directors have no specific intention to use this authority, and the authority will thus only be used if 

circumstances are appropriate.

  It should be noted that this authority relates only to those ordinary shares which the directors are authorised to allot and issue in 

terms of ordinary resolution number 4 and is not intended to (nor does it) grant the directors authority to issue ordinary shares for 

cash over and above, and in addition to, the ordinary shares which the directors are authorised to allot and issue in terms of 

ordinary resolution number 4, when ordinary shares are issued for such purposes and on such terms as the directors may deem fit.

  In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a company may only undertake a general issue for cash where, among other things, such 

general issue for cash has been approved by ordinary resolution by a 75% majority of the votes cast thereon. As this is the threshold 

for the passing of the company’s special resolutions (as per clause 18.27 of the company’s MOI), the general issue for cash 

resolution, in this instance special resolution number 2, is instead proposed to be passed as a special resolution and must be 

supported by 75% of the voting rights exercised.
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING continued

9.  Special resolution number 3: General authority to repurchase shares
  “RESOLVED THAT the company and/or any of its subsidiaries are authorised, by way of a general authority as contemplated in 

section 48 of the Act, to repurchase or purchase, as the case may be, shares issued by the company, on such terms and conditions 

and in such numbers as the directors of the company or the subsidiary may from time to time determine, subject to the applicable 

provisions of the company’s MOI, the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements when applicable, and 

subject to the following:

 • the repurchase of securities is implemented through the order book of the JSE’s trading system, without any prior understanding 

or arrangement between the company and the counterparty;

 • the company is so authorised by its MOI;

 • the general authority shall be valid only until the company’s next AGM or 15 months from the date of passing of this special 

resolution, whichever is earlier;

 • in determining the price at which the company’s ordinary shares are acquired by the company and/or subsidiary of the company, 

in terms of this general authority, the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% (ten percent) 

of the weighted average of the market price at which such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE, as determined over the 5 (five) 

days immediately preceding the date of the repurchase of such ordinary shares;

 • the acquisitions by the company of its own ordinary shares in the aggregate in any one financial year do not exceed 20% (twenty 

percent) of the company’s issued ordinary share capital from the beginning of the financial year;

 • the number of shares purchased by the subsidiaries of the company shall not exceed 10% (ten percent) in the aggregate of the 

number of issued shares of the company at the relevant times;

 • the company appoints only one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on its behalf;

 • when the company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three percent) of the initial number of the relevant class of securities, and for 

each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter, an announcement will be made;

 • the company or its subsidiaries will not repurchase securities during a prohibited period as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements 

unless they have in place a repurchase programme where the dates and quantities of the securities to be traded during the 

relevant period are fixed (not subject to any variation) and has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the commencement 

of the prohibited period; and

 • the board resolved that it authorises the repurchase, and that the company and its subsidiary/ies have passed the solvency and 

liquidity test and that since the test was performed there have been no material changes to the financial position of the group.”

 The directors will ensure that, after considering the effect of the maximum repurchases permitted in terms of this resolution, that:

 • the company and the group will be able in the ordinary course of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 (twelve) months after 

the date of the notice of AGM;

 • the assets of the company and the group will be in excess of the liabilities of the company and the group for a period of 12 (twelve) 

months after the date of the notice of the AGM, which assets and liabilities have been valued in accordance with the accounting 

policies used in the audited financial statements of the group for the year ended 30 June 2017;

 • the share capital and reserves of the company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 

12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the AGM; and

 • the working capital of the company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) 

months after the date of the notice of AGM.

  Explanatory note: The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to authorise the company and its subsidiaries to 

acquire the company’s issued ordinary shares on terms and conditions and in amounts to be determined by the directors. 

A repurchase of shares is not contemplated at the date of this notice. However, the board believes it to be in the best interest 

of the company that shareholders grant a general authority to provide the board with optimum flexibility to repurchase shares 

as and when an opportunity that is in the best interest of the company arises.
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10.   Special resolution number 4: General authority to provide financial assistance to related or inter-related 
entities

  “RESOLVED THAT the board of directors of the company be and is hereby authorised, to the extent required by and subject to 

sections 44 and 45 of the Act and the requirements, if applicable of (i) the MOI; and (ii) the JSE Listings Requirements, to cause the 

company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to a related or inter-related company or to a shareholder of a related or 

inter-related company, provided that no such financial assistance may be provided at any time in terms of this authority after the 

expiry of two years from the adoption of this special resolution number 4.”

  Explanatory note: Notwithstanding the title of section 45 of the Act, being “Loans or other financial assistance to director”, on a 

proper interpretation, the body of the section may also apply to financial assistance provided by a company to related or inter-

related companies, including, among others, its subsidiaries, for any purpose. Furthermore, section 44 of the Act may also apply to 

financial assistance so provided by a company to related or inter-related companies, in the event that financial assistance is 

provided for the purposes of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the 

company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the company or a related or inter-related 

company. Both sections 44 and 45 of the Act provide, among others, that the particular financial assistance must be provided only 

pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders, adopted within the previous two years, which approved such assistance 

whether for the specific recipient, or generally for a category of potential recipients, and the specific recipient falls within that 

category and the board of directors must be satisfied that (a) immediately after approving the financial assistance, the company 

would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test; and (b) the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair 

and reasonable to the company.

  In the normal course of business the company is often required to grant financial assistance, including but not limited to loans, 

guarantees in favour of third parties, such as financial institutions, service providers and counterparties (in respect of the provision 

of banking facilities, acquisition transactions and debt capital) for the obligations of the company or a related or inter-related 

company, or to a shareholder of a related or inter-related company, or to a person related to any such company. Special resolution 

number 4 will enable the company to provide such financial assistance to subsidiaries and juristic persons in the Rolfes group or 

other person that is or becomes related or inter-related to the company for any purpose in the normal course of business.

  The directors of the company have no specific intention to effect the provisions of this special resolution, but will, however, 

continually review the company’s position, having regard for the prevailing circumstances and market conditions, in considering 

whether to effect the provisions of this special resolution.

 Further disclosures in terms of section 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements
 The following information listed below has been included in the integrated annual report:

 • major beneficial shareholders;

 • share capital of the company.
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for the year ended 30 June 2017

 Material changes
  Other than the facts and developments reported on in the integrated annual report, there have been no material changes in the 

affairs or financial position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of 

this notice.

 Directors’ responsibility statement
  The directors, whose names appear in the 2017 annual financial statements, collectively and individually, accept full responsibility 

for the accuracy of the information given in this notice and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts 

that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 

facts have been made and that this notice contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

By order of the board

Karen Waldeck-Kruger

Company secretary

CorpStat Governance Services Proprietary Limited

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING continued

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2017 page 116

 



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS TO BE ELECTED
TO THE BOARD OR AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Seapei Mafoyane Lead independent director, independent non-executive director

MBA (Wits Business School), BSc (University of Natal)

Appointed 26 August 2012

Seapei is the CEO at Shanduka Black Umbrellas. She brings together CEO and COO expertise and the world of sustainable SME incubation. Seapei joined 

Discovery Health Limited and worked in the Vitality team eventually becoming the functional head of Vitality. She then joined Standard Bank of South Africa 

as head of customer and strategy.

Strategic leadership, corporate social investment, mentoring, innovation and skills development.

Jarred Winer Non-executive director

BCom (Hons) Investment Management, Postgraduate Certificate in Advanced Corporate/Securities Law and MDP

Appointed 30 November 2015

Jarred is an executive director and co-founder of Westbrooke Alternative Asset Management (“Westbrooke”). Prior to founding Westbrooke, Jarred 

worked in various investment banking roles at Barclays, Absa Capital and Standard Bank including corporate finance, financial sponsor coverage and 

leveraged finance from 2005 to 2011. He also served as a non-executive director on Amalgamated Electronics Corporation Limited. 

Strategic leadership, capital allocation and corporate finance.

Andile Dyasi Independent non-executive director

PhD, MS (Chemistry), BSc (Hons), BSc (Chemistry and Biochemistry)

Appointed 30 June 2014

Andile is a registered scientist (chemist). He served as the vice-president of the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions and chairs the 

Personnel and Finance Committee of the Council. Andile has substantial experience in the chemical and pharmaceutical industries having served 

as a research and development chemist and over 20 years’ senior/executive management experience gained from both the private and higher 

education sectors.

Strategic leadership, chemical and pharmaceutical, board and committee experience.

Dinga Mncube Independent non-executive director

MCom (Business Management), MSc (Forest Products)

Appointed 30 June 2014

Dinga has 20 years’ executive experience in forestry, timber processing, paper and pulp business. He currently serves on the boards of Distribution and 

Warehousing Network Limited (“Dawn”), York Timber Holdings, Siyaqhubeka Forests (chairman) and Food and Trees for Africa. Dinga has previously 

chaired the National Forests Advisory Council, Forestry South Africa and has been a board member of Sappi Southern Africa.

Strategic leadership, technical, board and committee experience.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS TO BE ELECTED
TO THE BOARD OR AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
continued

Mathukana Mokoka Independent non-executive director

BCom (Hons) (Accounting) (University of Natal), CA(SA), Postgraduate Diplomas in Management (Financial Accounting) and Auditing (University of 

Cape Town)

Appointed 9 November 2015

Mathukana has sound public and private sector experience on boards, currently serving as a member on the boards of CSG Holdings Limited, Palabora 

Mining Company and Autopax Passenger Services (“SOC”) among others. She is a member of various professional bodies, including South African 

Institute of Chartered Accountants and Institute of Directors.

Financial management, strategic leadership, corporate finance, skills development, board and committee experience.

Richard Buttle Chief executive officer

CA(SA)

Appointed 16 October 2017

Richard was previously the chief financial officer of Metrofile Holdings Limited. Prior to that he held several financial management and director positions 

within the group and played an active role in the turnaround, development, financial restructuring and capacity building. Richard has since performed 

several consulting assignments and is a partner in KwikotSolar.

Strategic leadership, finance, acquisitions, risk and corporate marketing.

Chris Seabrooke Non-executive director

BCom, BACC, MBA, FCMA

Appointed 1 April 2017

Chris has been a director of over 25 stock exchange-listed companies. He is currently CEO of Sabvest Limited. He serves as the chairman of Metrofile 

Holdings Limited, Transaction Capital Limited, Net1 UEPS Technologies Inc (Nasdaq/JSE) and Torre Industries Limited and as a director of Datatec Limited 

and Brait S.E. (Luxembourg/JSE). He is a director of several unlisted companies and former chairman of the South African State Theatre and former deputy 

chairman of the inaugural National Arts Council of South Africa.

Strategic leadership, finance, board and committee experience.

Andre Broodryk Chief financial officer

CA(SA)

Appointed 6 November 2017

Andre was previously CFO of Interwaste Holdings Limited and has extensive experience in both the industrial and financial services sectors and has a deep 

understanding of the listed environment. He is already very familiar with the Rolfes group having held the position of Financial Director of the Bragan Foods 

division since July 2017.

Financial and operational leadership, risk and corporate finance.
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FORM
OF PROXY

Rolfes Holdings Limited
Registration number: 2000/002715/06
JSE share code: RLF
ISIN: ZAE000159836 
(“Rolfes” or “the company” or “the Rolfes group”)

Only to be completed by certificated and dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration.

If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, 
other than those with “own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must inform their CSDP or broker of their 
intention to attend and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter of representation to attend the annual general 
meeting in person and vote, or, if they do not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person, but wish to be represented thereat, 
provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and 
their CSDP or broker in the manner and cut-off time stipulated therein.

All forms of proxy can be lodged at the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Rosebank 
Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107).

I

being a shareholder of the company holding ordinary shares in the company, do hereby appoint:

1.

2.

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting,

as my proxy to vote on my behalf at the annual general meeting and any adjournment thereof, to be held at First Floor, The Oval West, 
Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo on Thursday, 25 January 2018 for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing 
with or without modifications, the following ordinary and special resolutions to be considered at such meeting:

In favour of Against Abstain
Ordinary resolutions
1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Re-election and election of directors

1.1 Re-election of SS Mafoyane
1.2 Re-election of JR Winer 
1.3 Re-election of MG Mokoka
1.4 Election of CS Seabrooke
1.5 Election of RM Buttle
1.6 Election of AP Broodryk

2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Election of audit and risk committee members
2.1 Election of MG Mokoka as audit and risk committee member
2.2 Election of MM Dyasi as audit and risk committee member
2.3 Election of DM Mncube as audit and risk committee member
2.4 Election of SS Mafoyane as audit and risk committee member

3. Ordinary resolution number 3: Appointment of external auditors
4. Ordinary resolution number 4: General authority to allot and issue ordinary shares
5. Ordinary resolution number 5: Authority to implement resolutions
6. Advisory vote on remuneration policy
Special resolutions
7. Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration
8. Special resolution number 2: General authority to issue shares for cash
9. Special resolution number 3: General authority to repurchase shares
10. Special resolution number 4: General authority to provide financial assistance to 

related or inter-related entities

   
Insert an “X” in the appropriate block. If no indications are given, the proxy will vote as he/she deems fit. Each shareholder entitled to 
attend and vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the company) to attend, speak and 
vote in his/her stead.

Signed at on 2018
Signature
Assisted by (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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NOTES TO THE
FORM OF PROXY

1.  A shareholder may insert the names of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space 
provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by the 
shareholder. The person whose name appears first on this form of proxy and which has not been deleted shall be entitled to act as 
proxy to the exclusion of those names following.

2.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s 
instructions to the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by the shareholder in the 
appropriate box. Failure to comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual 
general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes.

3.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the annual general meeting, notwithstanding the death, 
insanity or other legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in 
respect of which the proxy is given, unless an intimation as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by the 
transfer secretaries or by the chairman of the annual general meeting before the commencement of the annual general meeting.

4.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form of proxy that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to 
abstain from voting, or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may properly 
be put before the annual general meeting, be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

5.  The authority of a person signing a proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless that authority 
has already been recorded with the company’s transfer secretary or waived by the chairman of the annual general meeting.

6.  A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian as applicable, unless the 
relevant documents establishing capacity are produced or have been registered with the transfer secretaries.

7. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:
 • any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and
 • the vote(s) of the senior shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of ordinary 

shareholders appear in the company’s register) who tender a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion 
of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

8.  It is requested that proxies be lodged at or posted to the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107).

9.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy, other than the deletion of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

10.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general 
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

11.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept a form of proxy that is completed, other that in accordance with 
these instructions and notes, provided that the chairman is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

12.  Subject to the restrictions set out in this form of proxy, a proxy may not delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of a 
shareholder to another person.
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CONTACT
DETAILS

Sponsor
Grindrod Bank Limited
4th Floor, Grindrod Tower
8A Protea Place, Sandton, 2196
Telephone: +27 11 459 1860

Registered auditors
KPMG Incorporated
85 Empire Road
Parktown
2193
Telephone: +27 11 647 7000

Bankers
Investec Bank Limited
Nedbank Limited

Investor relations
Singular Systems Proprietary Limited
28 Fort Street, Birnam, 2196
Telephone: +27 10 003 0700

Directors
MS Teke* (chairman)
SS Mafoyane*# (lead independent director)
RM Buttle (chief executive officer)
AP Broodryk (chief financial officer)
MM Dyasi*#, DM Mncube*#

MG Mokoka*#, CS Seabrooke*, JR Winer*
* Non-executive
# Independent

Company secretary
CorpStat Governance Services Proprietary Limited
Hurlingham Office Park, Block C, 59 Woodlands Avenue 
Sandton, 2196
Telephone: +27 11 326 0975

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue 
Rosebank, 2196
Telephone: +27 11 370 5000
 

 



First Floor, The Oval West, 
Wanderers Office Park  
52 Corlett Drive, Illovo, 2196 

PO Box 724, Melville, 2109

Tel: +27 11 268 6100 

www.rolfesza.com
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